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PART |
Iltem 1. Business.

INTRODUCTION

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. was incorpordtethe State of Texas in 1994. Through our subsigls, as of December 1, 2011, we
and/or operate a total of twenttyree adult nightclubs that offer live adult eraértnent, restaurant and bar operations. Eight othulbs operai
under the name "Rick's Cabaret"; four operate utftezname “Club Onyx"upscale venues that welcome all customers but eafecially t
urban professionals, businessmen and professidhbdtes; six operate under the name "XTC Cabamé club operates as “Tootse’
Cabaret”, one operates as “Cabaret North”, one atperas “Downtown Cabaret”, one operates as “Calizast’ and one operates
“Temptations”. Additionally, we own a 40% interést‘The Mansion’nightclub in Austin, Texas. Our nightclubs areHiouston, Austin, Si
Antonio, Dallas and Fort Worth, Texas; Charlotterfti Carolina; Minneapolis, Minnesota; New York, W& ork; Miami Gardens, Florid
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Indianapolis, IndiaWe also own a media division, including the Irgdrade magazine serving the multi-
billion dollar adult nightclubs industry. Included the media division are two industry trade shotms) other industry trade publications
more than 25 industry websites.

We also own and operate premiere adult entertaibnieternet websites. Our online entertainment sitge, CouplesTouch.co
NaughtyBids.com and xxxpassword.com. CouplesTowoah.is a personals site for those in the swingifgstyle. Naughtybids.com is ¢
online adult auction site. It contains consurimétiated auctions for items such as adult videggarel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia and
erotica. There are typically approximately 10,0@fve auctions at this site at any given time. Warge the seller a fee for each succe
auction. The site xxxPassword.com features aduitert licensed through Voice Media, Inc. Most ofr gites use proprietary softwi
platforms written by us to deliver the best expee@to the user without being constrained by offshelf software solutions.

Our website address is www.Ricks.comWe also have an investors’ website — www.rickestor.com. Upon written request, we me
available free of charge our Annual Report on F&¥K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repon Form &, and all amendmer
to those reports as soon as reasonably practiaftelesuch material is electronically filed withetSEC under Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended. Information contained in the websidl abt be construed as part of this Form 10-K.

References to “us,” “Rick’s” or the “Company” am Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. and include ©00%-owned, 85%-owned and 51%-
owned consolidated subsidiaries.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES—NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabaret1883 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclub ness was characterized by st
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were dfignthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance arsdality were not maintained and it was custonfaryperformers to alternate betw:
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and gualitbar service was low and food was not frequeotfered. Music was usually "hard" rc
and roll, played at a loud level by a disc jock®gually, only cash was accepted. Many businesselémricomfortable in such environme
Recognizing a void in the market for a firdasss adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabartdrget the more affluent customer by providi
unique quality entertainment environment. The folltg summarizes our areas of operation that distgtgus:

Female EntertainersOur policy is to maintain high standards for bp#irsonal appearance and personality for the airters an
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performeriktyalio present herself attractively and to talktiwcustomers. We prefer ti
performers who work at our clubs be experiencedreainers. We make a determination as to whettparticular applicant is suitat
based on such factors of appearance, attitudes,dcesnmunication skills and demeanor. At all cluescept for our Minnesc
location, the entertainers are independent comtra.ctVe do not schedule their work hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the toplesdustry, as well as from large restaurant and chdirgs, in the belief th
management with experience in the sector adds rt@loility to grow and attract quality entertaineidanagement with experience
able to train new recruits from outside the industr

Compliance Policies/EmployeesNe have a policy of ensuring that our businessesoperated in conformity with local, state
federal laws. In particular, we have a "no toleeingolicy as to illegal drug use in or around thempises. Posters placed througl
the nightclubs reinforce this policy, as do periodnannounced searches of the entertainers' lodkatsrtainers and waitresses \
arrive for work are not allowed to leave the prasisvithout the permission of management. If anr&iteer does leave the premi
she is not allowed to return to work until the nday. We continually monitor the behavior of erdarérs, waitresses and custome
ensure that proper standards of behavior are obderv




Compliance Policies/Credit CardsWe review all credit card charges made by outarusrs. We have in place a formal po
requiring that all credit card charges must be ayga, in writing, by management before any chaayesaccepted. Managemer
trained to review credit card charges to ensuretlteaonly charges approved for payment are fod foloink and entertainment.

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the success of our mdraetult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaur
operation to compliment our adult entertainment. &ifgloy service managers who recruit and traingegibnal wait staff and ens
that each customer receives prompt and courteawicee We employ chefs with restaurant experier@ar bar managers orc
inventory and schedule bar staff. We believe thatdperation of a first class restaurant is a resggscomponent to the operation
premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of jmemwine, liquor and beer in order to ensure thatd¢ustomer perceives and obt
good value. At most locations, our restaurant dpmra provide business lunch buffets and full luacidl dinner menu service with
and cold appetizers, salads, seafood, steak, astklo An extensive selection of quality winesvaikable at most locations.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls are essetatiiie successful operation of a cash intensightoiub and bar busine
At each location, we have designed and implememtinal procedures and controls to ensure thejiityeof our operational ar
accounting records. Wherever practicable, we sépananagement personnel from all cash handlindhabrhanagement is isola
from and does not handle any cash. We use a cotitiraf accounting and physical inventory contr@ahanisms to maintain a h
level of integrity in our accounting practices.drmhation technology plays a significant role in waimg and analyzing a variety
information to provide management with the inforimatnecessary to efficiently manage and controhedghtclub. Deposits of ca
and credit card receipts are reconciled each daydaily income report. In addition, we review odaily basis (i) cash and credit ¢
summaries which tie together all cash and creditl ¢eansactions occurring at the front door, theskia the club and the cast
station, (i) a summary of the daily bartendersgdatout reports, and (iii) a daily cash requirementalgsis which reconciles t
previous day's cash on hand to the requirementhénext day's operations. These daily compufgorts alert local managemen
any variances from expected financial results basehlistorical norms. We conduct a monthly overvigvour financial condition ar
operating results.

Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faeditand decor. The furniture and furnishings inrilgghtclubs create tl
feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound sygt@vides quality sound at levels at which convéosat can still take place. T
environment is carefully monitored for music seileet entertainer and waitress appearance and pdices of customer service o
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the wguet of the businessmen's market, some of our didigdnclude a VI
room, which is open to individuals who purchase merships. A VIP room provides a higher level ofvézr and luxury.

Advertising and PromotionOur consumer marketing strategy is to position“®ick's Cabaretbrand clubs as premiere entertainn
facilities that provide exceptional topless entarteent in a fun, yet discreet, environment. We aisariety of highly targeted methc
to reach our customers including hotel publicatjdosal radio, cable television, newspapers, bdls, taxicab reader boards, and
Internet, as well as a variety of promotional caigps. These campaigns ensure that the Rick's Catamee is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amoumhedia exposure over the years in national magazneh as Playboy, Penthol
Glamour Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time &age, Time Out New York, and Texas Monthly MagaziSegments abc
Rick's have aired on national and local televigowograms such as “20/20"EXtra" and "Inside Edition", and we have provi
entertainers for Pay-P&fiew features as well. Business stories about Ri€ldbaret have appeared in Forbes, Newsweek, THi
Street Journal, The New York Times, The New YorktPhos Angeles Times, Houston Business Journdl namerous other natiol
and regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name “Ricldbatet”in Houston, San Antonio and Fort Worth, Texas i&inneapolis, Minnesota; Ne
York, New York; Austin, Texas and Indianapolis, iexa. We also operate a similar nightclub underrthme “Tootsie’s Cabareth Miami
Gardens, Florida. We also operate a total of faghtolubs (one in Houston, one in Dallas, one irafBitte, North Carolina and one
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania), as “Club Onyxipscale venues that welcome all customers but cadpecially to urban profession
businessmen and professional athletes. Additionaiyown six nightclubs that operate as “XTC CatjareSan Antonio, Austin, Dallas, Fi
Worth and two in Houston, Texas, one that operase¢Cabaret Eastgne that operates as "Cabaret North" in Fort Warith one that opera
as “Downtown Cabaret” in Minneapolis. We also ocavd0% interest in one club that operates as “Thadida” in Austin. We sold our Ne
Orleans, Louisiana nightclub in March 1999, butahtinues to use the name “Rick’s Cabaret” undereamsing agreement.




RECENT TRANSACTIONS
2009 Acquisition

On September 30, 2009, the Company'’s subsidiay,Hdtertainment (North FW), Inc. (the “Purchasepiirchased 100% of the
outstanding common shares of Cabaret North, Intexas corporation (“CNI”). CNI owns and operaa@sadult entertainment
cabaret known as “Cabaret North” (the “Club”), lemhat 5316 Superior Parkway, Fort Worth, Texa®0861The Company paid the
Sellers total aggregate consideration of $2.3 amil(the “Purchase Price”). The Purchase Pricepagable as follows:

0] $140,000 directly to CNI to be used for the paynmadrdutstanding liabilities
(i) $2 million to the Sellers; ar

(iii) $160,000 to be held in an escrow accdortay any liabilities or obligations of CNI whietere incurred but unpaid
as of Closing and to be held in connection withdbhtcome of certain pending litigatic

Also, at closing, each of the sellers entered infive year Noncompetition Agreement, and CNI obtained a consemhfits landlor:
to the sale of the Shares of CNI by the sellerght purchaser and entered into an addendum toetse lagreement by ¢
between CNI and the landlord of the premises whereClub is located.

2010 Acquisitions

Joy of Austin

On December 18, 2009, our wholly owned subsidi&§) Entertainment (3105 [-35), Inc. (“RCI"gntered into and closed a St
Purchase Agreement (the “RCI Purchase Agreemenith) @piridon Karamalegos (“Karamalegosthe Joy Club of Austin, In
(*JOY”) and North IH-35 Investments, Inc. (“NIII"\whereby RCI acquired 51% of the outstanding stocd@Y and 49% of tt
outstanding stock of NIIl. JOY is the owner anceigior of the adult nightclub business known ay ‘@oAustin” which leases ar
occupies the real property and improvements locate8l105 South IH-35, Round Rock, Texas 78664 (Hveperty”). NIl is the
owner of the Property and leases the Property t6. JOontemporaneously with entry into the RCI Pasth Agreement, RCI a
Karamalegos entered into an Assignment and Assomptgreement (the “Assignment Agreementihereby Karamalegos assig
to RCI his right to acquire the remaining 49% o thutstanding stock of JOY and the remaining 51%hefoutstanding stock of NI
which right Karamalegos obtained pursuant to a lfase Agreement entered into between Karamalegosngelos Polycrat
(“Polycrates”), JOY and NIl (the “Polycrates Puasle Agreement”)Pursuant to the RCI Purchase Agreement and they@ssin
Agreement, RCI acquired and owns 100% of the oodétg stock of JOY and 100% of the outstandinglkstafdNllI.

Pursuant to the terms of the RCI Purchase Agreeramdtthe Assignment Agreement, RCI paid aggregatssideration of $4
million, plus assumption of a promissory note witst State Bank-Taylor (the “Purchase Pricdb), the acquisition of JOY ai
NIll. The Purchase Price was payable as follows:

0] $1.8 million by wire transfer to Karamalegt
(i) $880,000 by wire transfer to Polycrat

(iii) $530,000 evidenced by a five year secured promjissote to Karamalegos, bearing interest at the sgb#e75% per annu
and payable in 60 equal monthly installments afig@gal and interest of $9,941 (the “KaramalegoseNotThe Karamalegc
Note is secured by a third lien in favor of Karaegals against the Property and improvements logdatrdon and a secc
lien on all of the shares of JOY and NI

(iv) $1.3 million evidenced by a five year secured pasoiy note to Polycrates, bearing interest at dte of 4.75% per annt
and payable in 60 equal monthly installments ohgifal and interest of $24,759 (the “PolycrateseNptThe Polycrate
Note is individually guaranteed by Karamalegos tfo first thirty (30) months and is secured by eosel lien in favor ¢
Polycrates against the Property and improvementgéad thereon and a first lien on all of the shafekDY and NIlI; anc




(v) The assumption of a Promissory Note datgut&nber 10, 2004, in the original principal amafr$850,000, executed by
NIIl and payable to First State Be-Taylor, which Promissory Note had a current badaoic$652,489 as of the date of
acquisition, and is secured by the Property andorgiments located thereon. The note bears intateise rate of 7.25%,
payable in monthly installments of principal anteiest of $7,761. The interest rate is subjeeidjostment on September
2014 to the rate of prime plus 2.5%. The noteuis a@nd payable on or before September 10, -

Also pursuant to the agreements described abovenkaegos entered into a four year Noompetition Agreement with RCI, a
Polycrates entered into a three year Non-Competaigreement with RCI.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and ligslat the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Net current asse $ 44
Property and equipment and other as 2,95¢
Non-compete agreeme 20C
Goodwill 2,031
SOB license:! 2,00/
Deferred tax liability (2,030
Net assets acquire $ 5,208

The Company incurred approximately $43,000 in legasts associated with the acquisition, which aveuded in legal ar
professional expense in the accompanying conselidstitement of operations.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offsethe deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the
assets for tax and financial purposes. The goobdsviiot deductible for income tax purposes. Tésutts of operations of this en
are included in the Comparsyconsolidated results of operations since Decer®eP009. This acquisition was made to furthe
Company’s growth objective of acquiring nightclubat will quickly contribute to the Comparsy&éarnings per share. Proforma re:
of operations have not been provided, as the amauerte not deemed material to the consolidated i statements.

This club is currently operated as Rick’s Cabarhiorth Austin.

Fort Worth Gentlemés Club

On June 1, 2010, our wholly owned subsidiary RCieBainment (3315 North Freeway FW), Inc. (the ‘thaser”)completed th
acquisition of certain assets (the “Purchased A¥sef Restaurant Associates, Inc., a Texas cotjpordthe “Seller’)pursuant to ¢
Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreembeetieen Purchaser, Seller, Voldar, LLC, a Texad#tdianliability compan
(“Voldar"), Sherri Mofid (“Mofid"), John Faltynski(“Faltynski”) and James Noryian (“Noryian”)The Purchase Agreement \
executed and closed on June 1, 2010. Seller oanddperated an adult entertainment cabaret knewhkat Worth Gentlemas’
Club” (the “Club”), located at 3315 North Freew#&grt Worth, Texas 76106 (the “Real Property”).

At closing, Purchaser paid Seller $2.2 million céshwiretransfer for the Purchased Assets. Purchaseresitgoed into two lea
agreements, a lease agreement for the Real Propighty/oldar (the “Voldar Lease"and a lease agreement for unimproved pro
adjacent to the Real Property (the “Adjacent Priyfiewith Mofid (the “Mofid Lease”). Each lease agreement has a term of five
with one five year option to extend at the disanetdf Purchaser. Each lease agreement also geantkaser an option to purchase
respective properties from Voldar and Mofid. Pasdr may exercise the options to purchase any dftee the twelfth month b
before the expiration of the lease agreementsu@iey their optional extensions). The option toghase the Real Property and
option to purchase the Adjacent Property must keraised contemporaneously. The purchase price egercise of the option
purchase the Real Property will range from $4.9ionilto $5.2 million during the fivgrear term. The purchase price upon exerci
the option to purchase the Adjacent Property wifige from $500,000 to $575,000 during the five-yeam.

Also pursuant to the agreements described abovédMod Voldar entered into a five-year Non-Comieti Agreement with RCI.




The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and ligslat the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Net current asse $ 42
Property and equipment and other as 1,301
Non-compete agreeme 20C
Goodwill 61:
Net assets acquire $ 2,15¢

The Company incurred approximately $23,000 in legasts associated with the acquisition, which areuded in legal ar
professional expense in the accompanying conselidsttement of operations.

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Compang’ consolidated results of operations since Jun2010. Thi:
acquisition was made to further the Company’s ghoalijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quigkcontribute to the Compary
earnings per share. Proforma results of operatltange not been provided, as the amounts were nemnel@ material to ti
consolidated financial statements.

This club is currently operated as XTC Cabaret—~Wdotth.

Golden Productions JGC Fort Worth, LLC

On July 16, 2010, our wholly owned subsidiary R@tdttainment (Fort Worth), Inc. (the “Purchaserdjnpleted the acquisition of
certain assets (the “Purchased Assets”) of Goldedwetions JGC Fort Worth, LLC, a Texas limitedllay company (“Golden
Productions”) and VCG Holding Corp., a Coloradopmation (“VCGH”) pursuant to an Asset Purchasee®gnent (the “Purchase
Agreement”) between Purchaser, Golden Productinds"& GH. The Purchase Agreement was executedlasddccon July 16,

2010. Golden Productions owned and operated ah extertainment cabaret previously known as “Jaguaold Club Fort

Worth” (the “Club”), located at 12325 Calloway Cetery Road, Fort Worth, Texas, 76040 (the “Premise¥CGH owned the
improvements on the Premises, including the bujdind fixtures (the “Improvements”). The Club ®anoperated as “Cabaret East”.

At closing, Purchaser paid aggregate consideratiddolden Production and/or VCGH for the Purcha&ssets of (1) $1 million ca
by wiretransfer and (2) 467,497 shares of common stoakygae $0.0001, of VCGH. Purchaser also entenéal & ground lea
agreement for the land where the Premises is ldaaith Bryan S. Foster, the current owner of thedl&he “Lease Agreement”)The
Lease Agreement has a term of five years with @ptions to extend the lease for five years, atdiberetion of Purchaser. The ini
monthly rental rate during its term is $20,000 penth. The Lease Agreement also grants Purchasis assigns an option
purchase the land from Mr. Foster, which option rhayexercised any time after the 12th anniversatg df the Lease Agreement .
before the expiration of the Lease Agreement (idiclg its option term) at a purchase price of faarket value, but in no event |
than $3 million.

Also at closing, Purchaser entered a NGompetition Agreement with Mr. Foster, pursuantwioich Mr. Foster agreed (1) not
engage, directly or indirectly, in any adult ergigrinent or any business or enterprise which is#ime as, or substantially the samr
the Club, within a radius of 50 miles of Fort Wqrirexas, excluding Jaguars Gold Club Fort Wortta#@ the club operated in Dall
Texas, doing business as Jaguars Gold Club amb{2) solicit, divert, or hire away, or attemptsalicit, divert, or hire away from t
employment of the Club any person employed by thé ©r any entertainer who has performed at théo Cllhe term of the Non-
Competition Agreement ends on September 17, 2012.
The terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreemerg the result of extensive arm’s length negatregibetween the parties.

This club is currently operated as Cabaret East.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and ligslat the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Property and equipme $ 1,95¢
Non-compete agreement 50
Net assets acquire $ 2,00¢




The Company incurred approximately $22,000 in legasts associated with the acquisition, which areuded in legal ar
professional expense in the accompanying conselidsttement of operations.

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Compang’ consolidated results of operations since July2040. Thi
acquisition was made to further the Company’s ghoslijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quigkcontribute to the Company’
earnings per share. Proforma results of operatltangee not been provided, as the amounts were neinel@ material to ti
consolidated financial statements.

2011 Acquisitions and Openings

RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)

On January 3, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned igidrges, RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)cl(*RCI Dining”) and RC
Holdings, Inc. (“RCI") completed the purchase ofneaw gentlemen’s club adjacent to the south endhef DallasFt. Wortt
International Airport and the purchase of the uhyieg real property, for an aggregate price of $5800. A Purchase Agreem
and Build-toSuit Turnkey Construction Agreement had previolgen entered into in December 2009, which agreeprentded fo
the construction of the new club and the purchddbereal property located at 15000 Airport Freg\idighway 183), Fort Wort|
Texas. This club is currently operated as Rick’b&at.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and ligslat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 3,12¢
Equipment and sigr 28¢
SOB license 1,15(C
Net asset $ 4,56¢

Gold Club of Indy, LLC

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI DiniSgrvices (Indiana), Inc. (“RCI Indiana”) and RCblHings, Inc. (RCI
Holdings”), entered into a Third Amendment to Pash Agreement (the “Amended Purchase Agreemewith) the Gold Club ¢
Indy, LLC (“GCI"), the Estate of Albert Pfeiffer, deceased, and Ldeiffer, personal representative of the Estate et Pfeiffer
deceased, and sole member of GCI. GC| owned aathtgal an adult entertainment cabaret known as Gtld Club,” located ¢
3551 Lafayette Road, Indianapolis, Indiana 462@ZI also owned the real property where The GoldbGéulocated. The Amend
Purchase Agreement transactions closed on Apri2@21, whereby (i) RCI Indiana acquired from Pfiféll assets which are used
the business of The Gold Club for $825,000 andR@) Holdings acquired from GCI the real propertyare The Gold Club is locat:
including the improvements thereon, for $850,0@0, tbtal aggregate consideration of $1,657,000,afietertain accrued prope
taxes. This club is currently operated as Rick’balat.

Also at closing of the Amended Purchase Agreemiemt, Pfeiffer entered into a No@ompetition Agreement with RCI Indiau
pursuant to which she agreed not to compete with Gbld Club within Indianapolis, Indiana or anythé adjacent counties fo
period of five years.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and lisslat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 75C
Equipment and furnitur 90
Noncompete 10C
Goodwill 70€
Net asset $ 1,64¢

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Companyg’ consolidated results of operations since April 2211. Thi
acquisition was made to further the Company’s ghoslijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quigkcontribute to the Company’
earnings per share. Proforma results of operatltane not been provided, as the amounts were neinel@ material to ti
consolidated financial statements.




SchieKs Palace Royale

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Services M#th Street), Inc., a Minnesota corporation (“RMihnesota”),entered into
Asset Purchase Agreement with Classic Affairs,,l@cMinnesota corporation (“Classic’and VCG Holding Corp., a Colora
corporation (“WVCGH?”). Classic is a wholly owned subsidiary of VCGH andhed and operated an adult entertainment cabaretr
as “Schiek’s Palace Royaleldcated at 115 South 4th Street, Minneapolis, Msmt@ The parties amended the Asset Pur
Agreement on April 14, 2011 and on May 31, 2011liciwtamendments reduced the purchase price anddedehe closing date of 1
transaction. The Asset Purchase Agreement, asdedenlosed July 28, 2011, whereby RCI Minnesotpuiaed substantially all -
the assets associated or used in connection vatbghration of Schiek’Palace Royale for the purchase price of $2,875,00is clul
is currently operated as Downtown Cabaret.

In connection with the Asset Purchase AgreementMamnch 22, 2011, our wholly owned subsidiary, RGdldings, Inc. (RCI
Holdings”), entered into a Real Estate Purchase AgreementAtlittStreet Partnership LLLP, a Minnesota limiteabiiity limited
partnership (“4th Street”), which owned the reaperty where Schiek’Palace Royale is located. The parties amendeRehl Esta
Purchase Agreement on May 31, 2011 and on Jul@®6]l. The Real Estate Purchase Agreement, as acheddsed on July Z
2011, whereby RCI Holdings acquired the real priypehere Schiek’s Palace Royale is located forralpase price of $3,250,000.

At closing of the above transactions, VCGH, Class$iowy Lowrie (the Chief Executive Officer of VCGHnd Micheal Ocello (tf
Chief Operating Officer and President of VCGH) eaakered into a No@ompetition Agreement pursuant to which each agneddc
compete with RCI Minnesota, Schiek’s Palace Rogalany of their affiliates for a period of five ysan the seven county, twitity
metropolitan area of Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnasot

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and ligslat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 3,28(
Equipment and furnitur 52¢
Noncompete 30C
Goodwill 2,02%
Net asset $ 6,12¢

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Companyg’ consolidated results of operations since July22d4,1. Thi:
acquisition was made to further the Company’s ghoalijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quigkcontribute to the Comparg’
earnings per share. Proforma results of operatltangee not been provided, as the amounts were nemnel@ material to ti
consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal Year 2012 Acquisition
The New West

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Servicesa(flant County), Inc., a Texas Corporation (“RCIraat County”),entered int
an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membershiis With Fred McDonald (“Seller”jor the purchase of 100% of the member
units of 12291 CBW, LLC (“12291 CBW"). 12291 CBWvoed and operated an adult entertainment cabamtrkras The Nev
West” located at 12291 Camp Bowie West, Aledo, Texase Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membershifs didsed Octob
5, 2011, whereby RCI Tarrant County acquired thembership units of 12291 CBW for the purchase po€e$380,000. Th
Company now operates the BYOB club as “Temptations”

Silver City

On November 17, 2011, our wholly owned subsidiarR€l Dining Services (Stemmons), Inc. (“RCI Stenmsit), RCI Dining
Services (Inwood), Inc. (“RCI Inwood”) and RCI Ding Services (Stemmons 2), Inc. (“RCI Diningéntered into a Stock Purch
Agreement with Mr. Thanasi Mantas, Green Star, IfiGreen Star”), Fine Dining Club, Inc. (“Fine Dmg”) and Blue Ste
Entertainment Inc. (“Blue Star”). Green Star owns @perates an adult entertainment cabaret knowSilwer City Cabaret, locatec
at 7501 N. Stemmons Freeway, Dallas, Texas 7524@.[Bining has a concession to provide alcoholssated services to Green ¢
at the Silver City Cabaret. Blue Star holds a lgto operate an adult cabaret at 1449 Inwood Roalths, Texas 75247. Mr. Man
owns 100% of the stock of Green Star, Fine Dinind Blue Star.




Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Mr. Mawid sell all the stock of Green Star, Fine Digiand Blue Star to Ri
Stemmons, RCI Dining and RCI Inwood, respectivédy,the aggregate purchase price of $2,000,0068arfdrm of three promissc
notes. Each of the promissory notes will be payabker 11 years and have an adjustable interestofabe5%. The transaction w
close on the later of January 2, 2012 or five bessndays after the purchasers have obtained alregldicenses needed to operate
Silver City Cabaret and an adult cabaret to betémtat 1449 Inwood Road.

Adelphi Group Ltd. (“Adelphi”)owns the real properties where the Silver City Cabés located, and PNYX Limited Partners
(“PNYX") owns certain real properties at and adjacent t® 1d4ood Road. In transactions related to the Sfwichase Agreeme
Adelphi and PNYX each entered into a real estatetase agreement with our wholly owned subsidiR@] Holdings, Inc. (RCI
Holdings”), whereby (i) Adelphi agreed to sell the real projesrivhere the Silver City Cabaret is located to RiBldings for th
aggregate purchase price of $6,500,000, includ8@P®00 in cash and $6,200,000 in the form of gustable 5.5% promissory n
that is payable over 11 years, and (i) PNYX agreeskll certain real properties at and adjacedu#d Inwood Road for the aggrec
purchase price of $3,500,000, including $1,200,@00ash and $2,300,000 in the form of an adjust&t#&o promissory note thal
payable over 11 years. The real estate transadient® close contemporaneously with the Stockhase Agreement.

At closing of the above transactions, Mr. Mantall enter into a Nornompetition Agreement providing for him to not costg with
our subsidiaries by owning, participating or opiei@tan establishment featuring adult entertainmeititin Dallas County and ¢
contiguous counties.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES—INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT WE B SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet website operatiGng xxxPassword.com website features adult codimensed through Voice Media, i
We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a datingcattring to those in the swinging lifestyle. In 80@e purchased CouplesClick.ne
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireotd broaden our membership throughout the Uriiadies. As part of this transaction,
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operatgsan addition to our internet operations, to aeq@ouplesClick.net from ClickMatc
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouaindo RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactiee obtained an 85% interest in |
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasehof traffic from thirdsarty adult sites or Internet domain owners andptirehase of banr
advertisements or "key word" searches from Inteseatch engines. In addition, the bulk of our icaffow comes from search engines on w
we don't pay for preferential listings. There atenmerous adult entertainment sites on the Intehratdompete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES—INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SITE S

Our adult auction site features erotica and otliedtamaterials that are purchased in a &slf- method. We charge the seller a fee for
successful auction. Where previously we operated isdividual auctions sites, now we have combinéeésé into one main si
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagniof this site. The site contains new and useédltaoriented consumer initiat
auctions for items such as adult videos, appahsltgsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBids leasnapproximately 10,000 items for sa
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pamgbmasters an opportunity to create residual incérom web surfers through t
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing ausida in which the buyer origina
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenareerous auction sites on the Internet that afflerit products and erotica.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES — MEDIA GROUP

Our Media Group is the leading trade magazine sgrthe multibillion dollar adult nightclubs industry. It alsavas two industry trade shov
two other industry trade publications and more tR&nindustry websites. Founded in 1991, Exotimda is the only national busin
magazine serving the 3,800 adult nightclubs in Ndwnerica, which have annual revenues in exces2djillion, according to AVN Med
Network. ED Publications currently publishes then#ial VIP Guide of adult nightclubs, touring enteréas and industry vendors, aClub
Bulletin , a bimonthly news magazine for the owners andaipes of adult nightclubs. ED Publications alsoduaes the annu&entlemen
Club Owners Expg the only national convention for the adult nidghbcand feature entertainment industries, and sffee exclusiv&eD VIP
Club Cardhonored at more than 850 adult nightclubs.
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COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgbljicompetitive with respect to price, service dmchtion. All of our nightclubs compe
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, someafose nhames may have name recognition that etheatlof ours. While there may
restrictions on the location of a salled "sexually oriented business”, there are bawriers to entry into the adult cabaret entert@intmarke
The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret", “Tootsi€abaret”, "XTC Cabaret” and “Club Onyxre proprietary. We believe that
combination of our existing brand name recognitiod the distinctive entertainment environment Wathave created will allow us to comg
effectively in the industry and within the citiehare we operate. The sexually oriented busineassindis highly competitive with respeci
price, service and location, as well as the pradesdism of the entertainers. Although we beliehattwe are well positioned to comg
successfully, there can be no assurance that weevible to maintain our high level of name redtigm and prestige within the marketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and llawes affecting our business activities. In partizyin Texas the authority to issue a perrr
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TeXashblic Beverage Commission (“TABC"\yhich has the authority, in its discretion, to &
the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MiBesterage Permit and a Late Hour Permit at numeFenss locations. Previously subjec
annual renewal, the TABC recently changed to awahevery two years, provided we have complied withrules and regulations govern
the permits. Renewal of a permit is subject to gstwhich may be made by a law enforcement agendyy the public. In the event o
protest, the TABC may hold a hearing at which timeviews of interested parties are expressed TRBC has the authority after such hea
not to issue a renewal of the protested alcohdirelage permit. Rick's has never been the subfextpootest hearing against the renewi
Permits. Minnesota, North Carolina, Nevada, Pemasyd, Florida, and New York have similar laws thety limit the availability of a pern
to sell alcoholic beverages or that may providesigspension or revocation of a permit to sell ablichbeverages in certain circumstances.
our policy, prior to expanding into any new markettake steps to ensure compliance with all licenand regulatory requirements for the
of alcoholic beverages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in mangsitvhere we operate, the location of a toj
cabaret is subject to restriction by city ordinanEer example, topless nightclubs in Houston, Tex@as subject to "The Sexually Orien
Business Ordinance", which contains prohibitionstloa location of an adult cabaret (sdeedal Proceedings” herein). The prohibitions

generally with distance from schools, churches, atier sexually oriented businesses and contaimiatézns based on the percentag:
residences within the immediate vicinity of the salky oriented business. The granting of a Sexu@lignted Business Permit is not subje:
discretion; the Business Permit must be grantdtefproposed operation satisfies the requiremehtseoOrdinance. In all states where
operate, management believes we are in compliatitteapplicable city, county, state or other localvé governing the sale of alcohol

sexually oriented businesses.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba“Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx” and “XTC Catet” are established under common
law, based upon our substantial and continuousigese tradenames in interstate commerce sirleasttas early as 1987. We have
registered our service mark, “RICK'S AND STARS DE&SI', with the United States Patent and Trademafic@fWe have also obtained
service mark registrations from the Patent and 8maatk Office for the “RICK’S”, "RICK'S CABARET", “CUB ONYX”, “XTC CABARET”
and “EXOTIC DANCER” service marks. We also own tights to numerous tradenames associated with ediardivision. There can be no
assurance that the steps we have taken to prateseovice marks will be adequate to deter misggmpton.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2011, our subsidiaries hadoxpately 1,200 employees, of which approximateR0 Jare in management positic
including corporate and administrative and Interoperations and approximately 1,080 of which argaged in entertainment, food :
beverage service, including bartenders, waitressed, entertainers. None of our employees are repted by a union. We consider

employee relations to be good. Additionally, asSeptember 30, 2011, we had independent contraefmianships with approximately 3,C
entertainers, who are self-employed and condudhbss at our locations on a nerelusive basis as independent contractors. Oweirtairier
in Minneapolis, Minnesota act as commissioned eygse. We believe that the adult entertainment imgussandard of treating entertainer:
independent contractors provides us with safe higrlbmtection to preclude payroll tax assessmenpfar years. We have prepared plans
we believe will protect our profitability in the emt that the sexually oriented business industngdgiired in all states to convert entertai
who are now independent contractors into employees.

SHARE REPURCHASES

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors aizbd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of oommon stock. During the fiscal y
ended September 30, 2011, we purchased 283,38dsstiacommon stock in the open market at pricegingnfrom $6.45 to $8.96 and dur
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, 57,4&f@stof common stock in the open market at priaaging from $5.98 to $6.41. Under
Board's authority, we have $2,141,952 million remraj to purchase additional shares. During theafigear ending September 30, 200¢
shares were purchased under this program.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our common stock involves a higigree of risk. You should carefully consider theksidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our common stock. If any ofethents, contingencies, circumstances or conditd@sribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resolt operations could be seriously harmed. Thertgagdrice of our common stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Regulatogeldainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existing Nightclu
Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businesggislaged by local zoning, local and state lic
licensing, local ordinances and state and fedéra place and manner restrictions. The adult eaitertent provided by our nightclubs
elements of speech and expression and, therefojeysesome protection under the First Amendmenthe United States Constitutit
However, the protection is limited to the expressiand not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileraghtclubs are generally well establishe
their respective markets, there can be no assuthatéocal, state and/or federal licensing anceotiegulations will permit our nightclubs
remain in operation or profitable in the future.

BeginningJanuary 1, 2008, our Texas clubs became subjechtw state law requiring each club to collect pagd a $5 surcharge for evi
club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by the Texas Erthinment Association (“TEA”)an organization to which we are a member, allegfiregfes
amounts to be an unconstitutional tax. On March22®8, a State District Court Judge in Travis Qpumexas ruled that the new state
violates the First Amendment to the United Stateadfitution and is therefore invalid. The judgerder enjoined the State from collectin
assessing the tax. The State appealed the Gaulithg. In Texas, when cities or the State givtice of appeal, it supersedes and suspen
judgment, including the injunction. Therefore, jhdgment of the District Court cannot be enforoedil the appeals are completed. Giver
suspension of the judgment, the State has optedliect the tax pending the outcome of its appesltaken no affirmative action to enfo
that decision. On June 5, 2009, the Court of Afspéa the Third District (Austin) affirmed the Digct Court’s judgment that the Sexue
Oriented Business (“S.0.B.ee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Cantitn but on August 26, 2011, the Texas Supremert
reversed the judgment of the Court of Appealsngilihat the SOB Fee does not violate the First Alnment to the U.S. Constitution, ¢
remanded the case to the District Court to detezmihether the fee violates the Texas Constitution.

The TEA has appealed the Texas Supreme Court'sidledd the U.S. Supreme Court (regarding the doitishality of the fee under the Fi
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution). Additionalbyr claims regarding the Texas Constitution hasteyet been addressed by the courts.
do not plan to make any payments of these taxeke e case is pending in the courts. However, wlecantinue to accrue and expense
potential tax liability on our financial statement® any ultimate negative ruling will not have affect on our income statement and will ¢
affect our cash position. If the decision is ulttetg found in our favor, as we believe it will kben we will have a ongme gain of the enti
amount previously expensed.

We have paid the tax for the first five calendaamers under protest and expensed the tax in thermgmanying consolidated financ
statements, except for two locations in Dallas whitre taxes have not been paid, but we are accardgexpensing the liability. For
subsequent quarters, as a result of the Third Godecision, we accrued the fee, but did not payStiage. As of September 30, 2011, we |
approximately $6.8 million in accrued liabilitiesrfthis tax. We have paid more than $2 millioritte State of Texas since the inception o
tax. Our Texas clubs have filed a separate lavegyainst the State in which we raise additional lehgkes to the statute imposing the fe
tax and demand repayment of the taxes. Thegbare not yet addressed these additional clalfriee States appeal ultimately fails or \
are successful in the remaining litigation, ourreat amount paid under protest would be repaidpptied to future admission tax and of
Texas state tax liabilities.

Our Business has been, and may Continue to be,r8elyeAffected by Conditions in the U.S. Finandidhrkets and Economic Conditic

Generally

Our nightclubs are often acquired with a purchaseepbased on historical EBITDA. This results irtaa nightclubs carrying a substan
amount of intangible value, mostly allocated t@tises and goodwill. Generally accepted accountiimgiples require an annual impairm
review of these indefinite lived assets. If difficmarket and economic conditions continue overrtbgt year and/or we experience a dect
in revenue at one or more nightclubs, we could rirecwecline in fair value of one or more of ourhiigubs. This could result in futt
impairment charges of up to the total value ofititefinite lived intangible assets.
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We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespansion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéure requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash #ow cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securitiee,percentage ownership of our theisting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstiia
you that additional financing will be available taxms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyluia@ by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesuw business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclubtdftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Abilitip Operate Profitably or Acqu
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these agitgys may have greater financial and managenesources than we do. Additionally,
industry is subject to unpredictable competitiventts and competition for general entertainmentadallThere can be no assurance that wi
be able to remain profitable in this competitivdustry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramdl ®ar industry has been an extremely volatile $trgu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatrwbleonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainimelustry revenues increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnieshiistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecoisosensitivity are the trendy perso
preferences of the customers who frequent aduliregh We continuously monitor trends in our cugtantastes and entertainment prefere
so that, if necessary, we can make appropriategasamwhich will allow us to remain one of the premiadult cabarets. However,
significant decline in general corporate conditimmsuncertainties regarding future economic protpétat affect consumer spending c¢
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddlition, we have historically catered to a cliémtease from the upper end of the ma
Accordingly, further reductions in the amounts ofeztainment expenses allowed as deductions fraonie under the Internal Revenue C
of 1954, as amended, could adversely affect salesstomers dependent upon corporate expense dascoun

Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesiirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. States in whigloperate may have laws which may |
the availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beages or which may provide for suspension or retiogaf a permit to sell alcoholic bevera
in certain circumstances. The temporary or permiasigspension or revocations of any such permitddvioave a material adverse effect on
revenues, financial condition and results of openat In all states where we operate, managemdigvbe we are in compliance w
applicable city, county, state or other local layeserning the sale of alcohol.

Activities or Conduct at our Nightclubs may Causeta Lose Necessary Business Licenses, Expose Lmldity, or Result in Advers
Publicity, Which may Increase our Costs and Divanagemerns Attention from our Business

We are subject to risks associated with activitiesonduct at our nightclubs that are illegal alaie the terms of necessary business lice
Our nightclubs operate under licenses for sexualgnted businesses and some protection underitstedfnendment to the U.S. Constituti
While we believe that the activities at our nightzsd comply with the terms of such licenses, antittteaelement of our business that consti
an expression of free speech under the First Amentino the U.S. Constitution is protected, actgtand conduct at our nightclubs ma
found to violate the terms of such licenses or mgrotected under the U.S. Constitution. This prtideds limited to the expression and not
conduct of an entertainer. An issuing authority nsagpend or terminate a license for a nightclumdoto have violated the license ter
lllegal activities or conduct at any of our nightic may result in negative publicity or litigatidBuch consequences may increase our ci
doing business, divert managemsrdttention from our business and make an investmewur securities unattractive to current andepti
investors, thereby lowering our profitability andrestock price.

We have developed comprehensive policies aimedsatring that the operation of each nightclub isdumted in conformance with local, st
and federal laws. We have a “no tolerangslicy on illegal drug use in or around the fam@kt We continually monitor the actions
entertainers, waitresses and customers to ensateibper behavior standards are met. However, patities, no matter how well desigr
and enforced, can provide only reasonable, notlatescassurance that the policiedjectives are being achieved. Because of the émh
limitations in all control systems and policiesetth can be no assurance that our policies willgmedeliberate acts by persons attemptir
violate or circumvent them. Notwithstanding theefgoing limitations, management believes that odicigs are reasonably effective
achieving their purposes.
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Our Acquisitions may Result in Disruptions in ourdhess and Diversion of Managenismttention

We have made and may continue to make acquisitbrcomplementary nightclubs, restaurants or relateérations. Any acquisitions w
require the integration of the operations, prodactd personnel of the acquired businesses andainéng and motivation of these individui
Such acquisitions may disrupt our operations ancertimanagement’'s attention from dayelay operations, which could impair
relationships with current employees, customers padners. We may also incur debt or issue equityusties to pay for any futu
acquisitions. These issuances could be substandiflitive to our stockholders. In addition, ouofitability may suffer because of acquisition-
related costs or amortization, or impairment cdstsacquired goodwill and other intangible assHtsnanagement is unable to fully integt
acquired business, products or persons with egigiperations, we may not receive the benefits efatquisitions, and our revenues and ¢
trading price may decrease.

We Must Continue to Meet NASDAQ Global Market Conied Listing Requirements or We Risk Delisting

Our securities are currently listed for trading the NASDAQ Global Market. We must continue to $gtiSASDAQ’s continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaaiverse effect on our business. If our securitiesesier ddisted from NASDAQ, they me
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mawg bess liquid market. In such case, our sharehgla@dility to trade or obtain quotations
the market value of shares of our common stock evdnal severely limited because of lower trading e and transaction delays. Tt
factors could contribute to lower prices and larggreads in the bid and ask prices for our seesriffhere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the NASDAQ continuestitig requirements.

In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€dsts as a Result of Operating as a Public Compard/Our Management Will Be Requi
to Devote Substantial Time to New Compliance lhi@s

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammnting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxlewp{A2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Actds
well as new rules subsequently implemented by tR€,Shave imposed various new requirements on pwolnpanies, including requiri
changes in corporate governance practices. Our geament and other personnel will need to devotebatantial amount of time to these r
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agglitations will increase our legal and financiaingdiance costs and will make some activ
more timeeonsuming and costly. For example, we expect theserules and regulations to make it more diffi@ritd more expensive for us
obtain director and officer liability insurance,dawe may be required to incur substantial costedamtain the same or similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbané&3xley Act requires, among other things, that we nmzn effective internal controls for financial mting anc
disclosure controls and procedures. In particdammencing in fiscal 2008, we have been requirggetdorm system and process evalue
and testing on the effectiveness of our internaltrmds over financial reporting, as required by t8ec404 of the Sarbané3xley Act. Ther
beginning in fiscal 2010, our independent registepeblic accounting firm has reported on the effectess of our internal controls o
financial reporting, as required by Section 404hef Sarbane®xley Act. In the future, our testing, or the suipsent testing by our independ
registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficies in our internal controls over financial ogjng that are deemed to be mate
weaknesses. Our compliance with Section 404 wijlire that we incur substantial accounting expearsg expend significant managen
efforts. Moreover, if we are not able to complywihe requirements of Section 404 in a timely manoeif we or our independent registe
public accounting firm identifies deficiencies imrointernal controls over financial reporting tleae deemed to be material weaknesse:
market price of our stock could decline, and welddae subject to sanctions or investigations bySE€ or other regulatory authorities, wt
would require additional financial and managemeasburces.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adedqaapersonal injury and property damage to wiieghbusiness of the Company ma
subject. However, there can be no assurance tlegured liabilities in excess of the coverage pitedi by insurance, which liabilities may
imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusengilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common law thesof liability in other states where
operate or expand. For example, the Texas "Dranp'Sttatute provides a person injured by an intdeidgerson the right to recover dam:
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldihibeverages to such person if it was apparethecserver that the individual being s
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wasausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgrtelear danger to himself and others
employer is not liable for the actions of its enmy@le who overserves if (i) the employer requires its employeesittend a seller traini
program approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee hawtially attended such a training program; arijl thie employer has not directly
indirectly encouraged the employee to violate #n&. It is our policy to require that all serversad€ohol working at our clubs in Texas
certified as servers under a training program amatdy the TABC, which certification gives statyt@gmmunity to the sellers of alcohol frc
damage caused to third parties by those who hawsuosed alcoholic beverages at such establishmasugnt to the Texas Alcoha
Beverage Code. There can be no assurance, howkatyninsured liabilities may not arise in the keds in which we operate which co
have a material adverse effect on the Company.
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Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx”, and “XTC @aret” are established under
common law based upon our substantial and contsuse of these tradenames in interstate commarce at least as early as 1987. "RIC
AND STARS DESIGN" logo, "RICK'S CABARET", “CLUB ONX”, “XTC CABARET” and “EXOTIC DANCER” are registered throu
service mark registrations issued by the UnitedeStRatent and Trademark Office. We also ownitifes to numerous tradenames assoc
with our media division. There can be no assurahe¢ these steps we have taken to protect its GeMarks will be adequate to de
misappropriation of its protected intellectual pedy rights. Litigation may be necessary in thaifatto protect our rights from infringeme
which may be costly and time consuming. The losthefintellectual property rights owned or claim®dus could have a material adve
affect on our business.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspetai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in onmane series, to fix the number of shi
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigind preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock byBitard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of common stock.
example, such issuance could result in a clase@ifrities outstanding that would have preferenc#ls respect to voting rights and divide
and in liquidation over the common stock, and cdulgon conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to common stock.
Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock couftalirage potential takeover attempts and couldyd&igrevent a change in control of
Company through merger, tender offer, proxy comesitherwise by making such attempts more diffitolachieve or more costly. There
no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stoeke are no agreements or understandings foistiuance of Preferred Stock, and
Board of Directors has no present intention toasB8teferred Stock.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends on Common gkan the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any divideodsour common stock and we do not anticipate pagimg dividends in the foresees
future. We expect that future earnings, if any] i used for working capital and to finance grawth

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress CagkIPrice

The market price of our common stock could declisa result of sales of substantial amounts otoommon stock in the public market, or i
result of the perception that these sales couldrodn addition, these factors could make it moiféadilt for us to raise funds through futt
offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuatihe Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmiicantly. This price may be influenced by mdiagtors, including:

« our performance and prospects;

« the depth and liquidity of the market for our séioes;

- sales by selling shareholders of shares issueskoable in connection with certain convertible apte
« investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate;

« changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiemd by analyst:

« general financial and other market conditions;

» domestic economic conditior

Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexpe, extreme price and trading volume volatilifhese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities

Our Management Controls a Significant PercentageéuwfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Thegerbsgts May Conflict With Those
Our Shareholders

As of December 1, 2011, our Directors and executifieers and their respective affiliates colleeliy and beneficially owned approximat
15.3% of our outstanding common stock, includingwarrants exercisable within 60 days. This coneitn of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectiffiliates substantial influence over any mattehich require a shareholder vote, incluc
without limitation, the election of Directors, evédrtheir interests may conflict with those of otthareholders. It could also have the effe
delaying or preventing a change in control of dreotvise discouraging a potential acquirer fromrafténg to obtain control of us. This co
have a material adverse effect on the market mfiogur common stock or prevent our shareholdersifrealizing a premium over the tt
prevailing market prices for their shares of comratotk.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large partetining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ouedtdent and Chief Executive Officer. |
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive krygandéaur industry. While Mr. Langan has no pregeans to leave or retire in the n
future, his loss could have a negative effect on aperating, marketing and financial performancevéd are unable to find an adeqt
replacement with similar knowledge and experiendhim our industry. We maintain k-man life insurance with respect to Mr. Lanc



Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agredni@s described herein), there can be no assuthat®r. Langan will continue to
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hamegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.
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Cumulative Voting is Not Available to Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commartistmay elect all of our Directors. Managemerigrge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to muaititeir positions as such and thus control oflusiness and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilithé Have Rights to Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Dwextand officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongtd@amages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and lisgsilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bésrDirectors or officers unless, in si
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleayrhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdermanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Daexcand officers for breach of their d
of care, even though such an action, if successfigiht otherwise have benefited us and our stodérsl

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tantlé expenses in connection with |
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent peechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvyisimns meant to facilitate the indemnit
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenorgg other things: (i) specification of the methol determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independeninsel that will in some cases make such deternoinafii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinatiomsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlfi) establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisinghder the Securities Act may be permitted to oueadors, officers and controlling pers:
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have l@@bsised that in the opinion of the Securities ardhange Commission, such indemnifica
is against public policy as expressed in the SaesarAct and is therefore unenforceable.

Other Risk Factors May Adversely Affect Our Finald?erformance

Other risk factors that could cause our actualltega differ materially from those indicated inettiorwardiooking statements by affectir
among many things, pricing, consumer spending ams$wmer confidence, include, without limitationaolges in economic conditions
financial and credit markets, credit availabilitpcreased fuel costs and availability for our empks, customers and suppliers, he
epidemics or pandemics or the prospects of thesatey(such as reports on avian flu), consumer pégmes of food safety, changes
consumer tastes and behaviors, governmental mgnptdicies, changes in demographic trends, tefr@rits, energy shortages and rol
blackouts, and weather (including, major hurricaawed regional snow storms) and other acts of God.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located at 1095@tten Road, Houston, Texas 77066, and consists 000 square feet office/warehc
building. We purchased this property in Decembed42for $512,739, payable with $86,279 cash at stpsind $426,460 in a promissory r
carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. The mgriyment is $3,834. As of September 30, 2011b#iance of the mortgage was $287,
The last mortgage payment is due in 2019. We belidnat our offices are adequate for our presentisead that suitable space will
available to accommodate our future needs.

We own the real property for seven locations ofkRicCabaret (in Houston, Austin, San Antonio, Miapelis, Indianapolis and Fort Wo
(2)), three Club Onyx locations, (in Houston, Dslénd Philadelphia) and three locations of XTCA(rstin, Dallas and San Antonio). We ¢
own the property for a location in Minneapolis, mgigng as Downtown Cabaret. In Houston, we also owe property which is leased t
third party. We lease property for our XTC Southog@idton), XTC North (Houston), Rick’s Cabai¢w York, Club Onyx Charlotte, Cabs
North (Fort Worth), XTC Cabaret (Fort Worth), CastaEast (Fort Worth) and Toot’s Cabaret (Miami Gardens, Florida) locations.
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PROPERTIES WE OWN:

1.

10.

Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, laasaggregate 12,300 square feet of space. In Dexe2dB4, we paid off the ¢
mortgage and obtained a new one with an initizhdeg of $1.3 million and an interest rate of 10%ageum over a 10 year term. -
money received from this new note was used to fimahe acquisition of the New York club. As of Sapber 30, 2011, the balance
the mortgage was $1.1 million. During fiscal ye&12, we paid $12,256 in monthly principal and iegrpayments. The mont|
payment is calculated based on a 20 year amodizatihedule. The last mortgage payment is dueis..

The Rick's Cabaret, located on North Belt DriveHaouston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In Nogerab04, we obtained
mortgage using this property as collateral. Thagipal balance of the new mortgage was $1 millisith an annual interest rate
10% over a 10 year term. The money received from ribw note was used to finance the acquisitiothefNew York club. As ¢
September 30, 2011, the balance of the mortgage$88%,995. The monthly payment of principal anceiest is $10,056. T
monthly payment is calculated based on a 20 yeartization schedule. The last mortgage paymenuésid 2014

The Rick's Cabaret located in Minneapolis has 1Ggfuare feet of space. The balance, as of Septe30p2011, that we owe on -
mortgage is $1.0 million and the interest rate%s e pay $7,500 in monthly interest payments. lakemortgage payment is due
2013.

The property for our XTC Cabaret nightclub in Anstias 8,600 square feet of space, which sits oadr&s of land. In August 20t
we restructured the mortgage by extending the teri0 years. The balance of this mortgage as ofeGdper 30, 2011 is $131,C
with an interest rate of 11% and monthly principad interest payments of $3,445. We also have diti@uhl mortgage on tl
property which we obtained in November 2004. Thirgypal balance of the additional mortgage was $300, with an annual intert
rate of 11% over a 10 year term. In June and JOOb2we obtained additional funds in the amour$$230,000, which we combin
with the $900,000 mortgage, and in August 2005 estructured this additional mortgage. The monthiggipal and interest payme
is $15,034. As of September 30, 2011, the balahteecadditional mortgage was $571,992. The lagtaats for both mortgages
due in 2015

We own the property for our XTC Cabaret nightclabSan Antonio, which has 7,800 square feet of spacBlovember 2004, v
obtained a mortgage using this property as coliat@he principal balance of the new mortgage w0300, with an annual inter
rate of 10% over a 10 year term. The money recdinad this new note was used to finance the aciijiisand renovation of the N¢
York club. As of September 30, 2011, the balanceéhiaf mortgage was $499,402. The monthly princgradl interest payment
$5,694. The last mortgage payment is due in 2

We own an 8,000 square foot Houston propertichvis being prepared to open as a non sexwaibnted nightclub. In Novemt
2004, this property, together with property in Anstvas used as additional collateral to secure$8@),000 mortgage referencet
paragraph 4 abov

On April 5, 2006, our wholly owned subsidiary, REbldings, Inc. completed the acquisition of readperty located at 9009 Airpt
Blvd., Houston, Texas where we previously oper&tkd Onyx South and Divas Latinas. Pursuant tote¢heas of the agreement,
paid a total sales price of $1,300,000, which cximdi of $500,000 in cash and 160,000 shares ofestnicted common stock. T
property is currently leased by a tenant for $9,080month through November 20:

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Holdings;. lacquired 100% of the interest in the improvea property upon which @
Rick’'s-San Antonio is located. The total purchase pricetfi@ business and real property was $2.9 millidnder terms of tt
agreement, the Company paid the owners of theahabproperty $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory na
for the remaining balance. This note was paidrof2011.

On April 23, 2007, RCI Holdings, Inc., our whollyvaed subsidiary, acquired the real property locate@d101 Calmont, Fort Wor
Texas for a total purchase price of $2.5 millionichhconsisted of $100,000 in cash and $2.4 milpagable in a six year promiss
note to the sellers which will accrue interestra tate of 7.25% for the first two years, 8.25% Years three and four and 9.2
thereafter. The promissory note is secured by ad@éelrust and Security Agreement. Further, RCldiays, Inc. entered into
Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement withdellers to assume the lease agreement for dhenaperty. We current
operate this property as R’s Cabaret. As of September 30, 2011, the balantegfromissory note was $1.4 millic

As part of the acquisition of The End Zone in Pirdphia, Pennsylvania, we acquired 51% of the sl outstanding partners

interest of the partnership that owns the real @rypat 2908 S. Columbus Blvd., Philadelphia, Pglvasia. At closing, we paid
purchase price of $3.5 million in cash for the parship interests. This property is currently aped as Club Ony:
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11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

As part of the transaction to acquire Hotel Deveiept, Ltd. which operated the Executive Club inl@alRCI Holdings, Inc. acquir
the related real property located at 8550 N. Stensriereeway, Dallas, Texas from DPC Holdings, LLClexas limited liabilit
company. As consideration for the purchase of ¢ property, RCI Holdings, Inc. paid total consat®mn of $5.6 million, which w
paid (i) $4.3 million, payable $610,000 in cash &3 million through the issuance of a five yeampissory note and (ii) the issua
of 57,918 shares of our restricted common stodbetvalued at $23.30 per share ($1.4 million). Trerpssory note bears interest
varying rate at the greater of (i) two percent (2%dve the Prime Rate or (ii) seven and bak-percent (7.5%), and is guarantee
us and Eric Langan, our Chief Executive Officedividually. As of September 30, 2011, the balantthe promissory note was $.
million. This property is currently operated as&XTabaret

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Clubinl Dallas, we acquired the real property located.@857 Wire Way Place |
Northwest Highway), Dallas, Texas from Wire Way,Q@La Texas limited liability company. Pursuant tReal Estate Purchase i
Sale Agreement dated May 10, 2008, we paid totasideration of $6 million, which was paid $1.6 moifl in cash and $4.4 millic
through the issuance of a five (5) year promissuie. The promissory note bears interest at a ngrgate at the greater of (i) t
percent (2%) above the Prime Rate or (ii) sevenarghalf percent (7.5%), which is guaranteed by ustanéric Langan, our Chi
Executive Officer, individually. As of September,32011, the balance of the promissory note was #4lllon. This property i
currently operated as Club Ony

As part of the acquisition of Joy Club of Austin December 18, 2009, we acquired the real propedgtéd on IH 35 in Austin, Tex
from North IH-35 Investments, Inc. (“NIlI")In connection with the purchase we issued two pseorly notes to the sellers
assumed another bank note. The notes aggregatedriiion at the date of purchase. The notes li@arest at rates ranging fri
4.75% to 7.25% and are payable at an aggregatéf&l, including interest, per month. As of Sepier 30, 2011, the balance
the promissory notes was an aggregate of $1.8omilliThis property is currently operated as I's Cabaret

In April 2010, we purchased the land and buildingjick is occupied by one of our clubs in Austin, &exXformerly Ric’s and Clu
Onyx, now a 40%ewned club investment). We paid $2.5 million fbe tproperty, which was paid $300,000 in cash andgh th
issuance of a $2.2 million promissory note. Theermars interest at the prime rate plus two paintsis payable over 36 mont
installments (currently $19,774 per month). Thiabee of the note at September 30, 2011 was $2libmi We lease this property
the 40%-owned entity for $10,000 per mon

We purchased a new gentler's club adjacent to the south end of the D-Ft. Worth International Airport and the purchasete
underlying real property in January 2011. The Jdmgilding and contents were assigned an aggregdtee of $3.1 million in th
purchase. This property is currently operatediak’s Cabaret

As part of the acquisition of the Gold Club of IndyLC in April 2011, we acquired the real propentyIndianapolis, Indiana. /
closing, we paid a purchase price of $850,000 &hcdlhis property is currently operated as 's Cabaret

As part of the acquisition of the assets dfi€cs Palace Royale in Minneapolis, Minnesota in JUl12 we acquired the re
property. At closing, we paid a purchase price2®2$ million in cash. This property is currentlyevated as Downtown Cabar

PROPERTIES WE LEASE:

1.

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereXdi@ North is located. The lease term was for fiwans, beginning March 20(
and is currently on a mor-to-month lease. The monthly rent is now $9,£

We lease the property in New York City, New Kowhere our Ricls Cabaret NYC is located. We assumed the existiagel, whic
will terminate in April 2023. The monthly rent isicently $48,074. Under the term of the existingske, the base rent will increase
approximately 3% each ye:

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Caroliwagre our Club Onyx Charlotte is located. We exedian amended lease
February 2007, which will terminate in February 20The monthly rent is $18,500 until February 2048which time the rent w
escalate to $20,000 until February 20

We lease the property in South Houston, Texas, evhar XTC South is located. The lease term is formbnths, beginning May
2006, and terminates in December 2022. The momdny is $3,000 until December 2012, then $3,5000 dcember 2014 the
$4,000 until December 2019 and $4,500 for the ramgithree years of the lea:

We lease the property in Miami Gardens, FloridagmehTootsi’s Cabaret is located with monthly rent of $76,000der th

Assignment of Lease, the original lease term coetnthrough June 30, 2014, with two option periotigh give us the right to lee
the property through June 30, 20
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6. We acquired a club in Fort Worth, Texas on Septer8be2009. The property is leased from a thirdypfor $30,000 per month ur
2018. We also received an option to purchase treeafire property on which the club sits within 19 nienfor approximately $2
million. This property is currently operated asb@get North

7. We acquired another club in Fort Worth, Texas ameJi, 2010. The property is leased from a thindypfar $22,000 per month ur
2015. We also received an option to purchase thpepty on which the club sits within 120 months é&mproximately $4.5 milliol
escalating to $5.2 million by the end of the terfihis property is currently operated as XTC Cabi

8. We acquired another club in Fort Worth, Texas dg 16, 2010. We acquired the building in the past The land is leased froi
third party for $20,000 per month until 2015 withuf fiveyear options thereafter. We also received an ogtignurchase the land
any time after the twelfth anniversary of the lefsefair market value, but in no event less th&mfillion. This property is current
operated as Cabaret Ec

9. We acquired another club in Fort Worth, Texas oto®er 5, 2011. The property is leased from a thady for $10,000 per mor
until 2016.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Beginning January 1, 2008, our Texas clubs becamjed to a new state law requiring each club titecband pay a $5 surcharge for e\
club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by the Texas Erthinment Association (“TEA”)an organization to which we are a member, allegfiregfes
amounts to be an unconstitutional tax. On March22®8, a State District Court Judge in Travis Qgpumexas ruled that the new state
violates the First Amendment to the United Stateadfitution and is therefore invalid. The judgerder enjoined the State from collectin
assessing the tax. The State appealed the Gauling. In Texas, when cities or the State givéice of appeal, it supersedes and suspen
judgment, including the injunction. Therefore, fhdgment of the District Court cannot be enforced! the appeals are completed. Giver
suspension of the judgment, the State has optedliect the tax pending the outcome of its appesltaken no affirmative action to enfo
that decision. On June 5, 2009, the Court of Afspéa the Third District (Austin) affirmed the Digct Court’s judgment that the Sexue
Oriented Business (“S.0.B.ee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Cangtin but on August 26, 2011, the Texas Supremert
reversed the judgment of the Court of Appealsngitihat the SOB Fee does not violate the First Alnment to the U.S. Constitution, ¢
remanded the case to the District Court to detegmihether the fee violates the Texas Constitution.

The TEA has appealed the Texas Supreme Court'sidedo the U.S. Supreme Court (regarding the @oiisihality of the fee under the Fi
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution). Additionalbyr claims regarding the Texas Constitution hasteyet been addressed by the courts.
do not plan to make any payments of these taxeke e case is pending in the courts. However, wlecantinue to accrue and expense
potential tax liability on our financial statement® any ultimate negative ruling will not have affect on our income statement and will ¢
affect our balance sheet. If the decision is ultétyafound in our favor, as we believe it will teen we will have a ongme gain of the enti
amount previously expensed.

The Company has paid the tax for the first fiveendiar quarters under protest and expensed tha thg iaccompanying consolidated finar
statements, except for two locations in Dallas whbe taxes have not been paid, but the Compaagcisiing and expensing the liability.
the subsequent quarters, as a result of the Thatdt@ decision, the Company accrued the fee, but digpap the State. As of September
2011, the Company has approximately $6.8 millioadorued liabilities for this tax. The Company pagd more than $2 million to the Stats
Texas since the inception of the tax. Our Texabshave filed a separate lawsuit against the $tatdich we raise additional challenge:
the statute imposing the fee or tax and demanayrapnt of the taxes. The courts have not yet addcethese additional claims. If the State’
appeal ultimately fails or we are successful in aining litigation, the Compars/'current amount paid under protest would be repe
applied to future admission tax and other Texate $é liabilities.

In September 2011, the Company’s subsidiary, RGefainment Las Vegas, Inc. (“RCI Las Vegas”) anidkRs Cabaret International we
sued by the lessor of its club in Las Vegas foabheof contract and other issues relating to RGlVegaslease. RCI Las Vegas has no a:
and, therefore, is not able to pay the “deficiendgfyany is ultimately found in a court of law. Iféhplaintiff should attempt to claim that
“deficiency” is a liability of the parent company, the Compamidves it has the legal basis upon which to refbie claim as the pare
company is not liable for the debts of its subsid& Therefore, the Company does not believettis contingency will ultimately result ir
liability and, therefore, no accrual has been niadbe accompanying consolidated financial statesen
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The Companys club in Las Vegas has recently been audited byDipartment of Taxation of the State of Nevadasfles and oth
taxes. The audit period was from the date of apeim September 2008 through July 31, 2010. Assalt of the audit, the Departmen
Taxation contends that the Companyas Vegas subsidiary owes approximately $2.lionillincluding penalties and interest, for Las \&
Live Entertainment Taxes. The Company does notewlit is subject to the Live Entertainment Taxdais protesting the au
results. Accordingly, the Company has not accrthesl contingent liability in the accompanying coidalted financial statements. It
unknown at this time whether the resolution of tingertainty will have a material effect on the Qxamy’s operations.

In September 2011, we and our CEO were sued irri@isEourt in Travis County, Texas by a shareholfterdamages as a result of
plaintiff' s alleged inability to sell shares on the open mtackie to restrictive legends which the plaintifeges that the defendants failec
remove in a timely manner. No specific damageslseen alleged. We deny any liability in this matind, with our insurance company,
vigorously defending the allegations.
Item 4. Removed and Reserved

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global kéaunder the symbol "RICK". The following tabletséorth the quarterly high a
low of sales prices per share for the common stockhe last two fiscal years.

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011

First Quarte! $ 871 $ 6.8:
Second Quarte $ 114 $ 7.8:
Third Quarter $ 11.2¢  $ 7.61
Fourth Quarte $ 9.2t % 6.2C

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010

First Quarte! $ 9.0¢ $ 6.7¢
Second Quarte $ 16.08 $ 8.6(
Third Quartel $ 13.0¢ $ 7.61
Fourth Quarte $ 884 % 5.9¢

On December 1, 2011, the last sales price for ¢éimenwon stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Mavkas $7.79. On December 1, 2(
there were approximately 194 stockholders of recdmur common stock (excluding shares held byedtaglders in street name).

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our commocksi® American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 6281th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219.
DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend tp gash dividends on our common stock in the foralskeefuture. Our current policy is
retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds fqreoation and expansion of our business. The ddidaraf dividends, if any, will be subject
the discretion of the Board of Directors, which n@ynsider such factors as our results of operafioancial condition, capital needs ¢
acquisition strategy, among others.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors aizbd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of oommon stock. During the fiscal y
ended September 30, 2011, we purchased 283,38dsstiatommon stock in the open market at pricegingnfrom $6.45 to $8.96. During 1
fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, we purcHzsdd0 shares of common stock in the open mark@is ranging from $5.98 to $6.41.
During the three months ended September 30, 204 Blso purchased 33,000 shares of common stockdtrption holders at prices rang

from $7.04 to $8.53 per share.
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Following is a summary of our purchases by month:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Period: (a) (b) (©) (d)
Maximum
Total Number (or

Number of  Approximate
Shares (or  Dollar Value)

Units) of Shares (or
Purchased as  Units) that
Total Part of May Yet be
Number of Publicly Purchased
Shares (or Average Announced Under the
Units) Price Paid Plans or Plans or
Month Ending Purchasel per Share Programs Programs
Ju-11 23 % 8.3¢ 12 $ 2,91:
Aug-11 91 $ 7.52 8 $ 2,32(
Sep-11 38 $ 6.7¢ 27 $ 2,14
Total for the three months ended Sept 30, 2 152 % 7.4¢€ 11¢ ¢

Included in the shares purchased were 33,000 shaeesost of $262,680 purchased in connection adthobligations under the exercise of
options during the quarter.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The following table sets forth all equity compeisaiplans as of September 30, 2011

(in thousands, except per share data)

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
Number of issuance
securitiesto  Weighted-a under
be issued verage equity
upon exercise compensation
exercise of price of plans
outstanding  outstanding (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
and rights and rights column (a))
Plan category (@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérs| 52C $ 10.01
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechdtgers - % - -

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andimiety qualified personnel, we believe that oumfatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiatl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
equity ownership is an important factor in our éypilo attract and retain skilled personnel. Wedadopted stock option plans (the “Plarfst)
employees and directors. The purpose of the Ptatwsfurther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in
form of stock options to key employees and directeho contribute materially to our success andifadoifity. The grants recognize and rew
outstanding individual performances and contrimgi@and will give such persons a proprietary intereaus, thus enhancing their persc
interest in our continued success and progress.Plfwes also assist us and our subsidiaries inctitigpand retaining key employees
directors. The Plans are administered by the Bo&firectors. The Board of Directors has the exglipower to select the participants in
Plans, to establish the terms of the options gdatdeeach participant, provided that all optionanged shall be granted at an exercise
equal to at least 85% of the fair market valuehgf tcommon stock covered by the option on the gilate and to make all determinati

necessary or advisable under the Plans.
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In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Opti@m Pthe “1999 Plan™vith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusmler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Alment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentfich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholdapproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amed”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1.5 million. ThedPfn was terminated by law in July 2009. OurrBaz Directors approved the 2010 St
Option Plan (“the 2010 Plan®n September 30, 2010. The 2010 Plan was appioyele shareholders of the Company for adoptiotie
2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As of SeptarB8e2011, there are 520,000 stock options oudgtgn

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During the quarter ended September 30, 2011, welkated no transactions in reliance upon exemptimns registration under the Securit
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act").

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following chart compares they&ar cumulative total stock performance of our camratock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and a
group consisting of: B§'Restaurant Group, New Frontier Media, Ark Restatsr and Buffalo Wild Wings. The graph assumes $180 wa
invested at inception in our common stock and itheaf the indices and that all dividends were regted. The measurement points utilize
the graph consist of the last trading day as oft&@eper 30 each year, representing the last dayupffiscal year. The historical stc
performance presented below is not intended tonaangl not be indicative of future stock performance.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Among RCll, NASDAQ, and PEER GROUP INDEX
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth certain of the Comypa historical financial data. The selected histdrimansolidated financial data as
September 30, 2011 and 2010 and for the years e@dpttmber 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 have been defriom the Compang audite
consolidated financial statements and the relatgésnincluded elsewhere herein. The selected hiatoconsolidated financial data as
September 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and for thesyerated September 30, 2008 and 2007 have beeredldrom the Companyg’ audite:
financial statements for such years, which areimdtided in this Annual Report on Form KO-The selected historical consolidated finar
data set forth are not necessarily indicative ef sults of future operations and should be raagbnjunction with the discussion under
heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofRcial Condition and Results of Operatiorent the historical consolidated finan
statements and accompanying notes included heFaim.historical results are not necessarily indieatf the results to be expected in
future period.

(in thousands, except per share d

Year Ended September & 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Revenue $ 83,49. $ 74,06: $ 65,41t $ 57,39( 30,081
Income from continuing operatiol $ 10,25: $ 3,90t $ 7,94¢ $ 8,47: $ 2,957
Fully diluted income from continuing operations |

common shar $ 101 $ 03¢ $ 081 $ 09C $ 0.3t
Total asset $ 153,37 $ 148,37. $ 145,070 $ 137,06¢ $ 42,58¢
Total Rick's stockholders' equi $ 76,91 $ 69,93¢ $ 70,09: $ 63,00 $ 24,04
Long-term debt $ 35,55« $ 42,68¢ $ 37,81 $ 33,55 $ 14,38}
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Please read the following selected consolidatednfifal data in conjunction with “ManagementDiscussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operatiorexid our consolidated financial statements anddlaed notes appearing elsewhere in this Annuabf
on Form 10-K for a discussion of information thall enhance understanding of this data.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjiorcivith our audited consolidated financial statatseand the related notes to the finar
statements included in this Form 10-K.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemianthis Form 10K to make applicable and take advantage of thelsafigor provision of tt
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 fmy forward-looking statements made by us or emalf of us. Forwardsoking statemen
include statements concerning plans, objectiveslsgastrategies, future events or performance adénlying assumptions and other statem
which are other than statements of historical faCsrtain statements in this Form 10-K are forwlamking statements. Words such
"expects," "believes," "anticipates,” "may," andtimates" and similar expressions are intendedeatify forwardlooking statements. Su
statements are subject to risks and uncertaintias dould cause actual results to differ materiéilym those projected. Such risks

uncertainties are set forth below. Our expectatibeiefs and projections are expressed in godHd &aid we believe that they have a reasol
basis, including without limitation, our examinatiof historical operating trends, data containedun records and other data available 1
third parties. There can be no assurance that>qectations, beliefs or projections will result, &ehieved, or be accomplished. In additio
other factors and matters discussed elsewhereisnFbrm 10K, the following are important factors that in oview could cause mater
adverse affects on our financial condition and ltssof operations: the risks and uncertaintiesteeldo our future operational and finan
results, the risks and uncertainties relating to loternet operations, competitive factors, theingnof the openings of other clubs,

availability of acceptable financing to fund corate expansion efforts, our dependence on key peesothe ability to manage operations
the future operational strength of managementtaadaws governing the operation of adult ententgint businesses. We have no obligatic
update or revise these forward-looking statementsftect the occurrence of future events or cirstamces.

GENERAL INFORMATION
We operate in three businesses in the adult eirteréent industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubsisgrgrimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghteiubs offer live adu
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Thraur subsidiaries, we currently own and/or ogegatotal of twentyhree adu
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment, taesant and bar operations. Eight of our clubsraigeunder the name "Ric
Cabaret"; four operate under the name “Club Onyyiscale venues that welcome all customers but ezpecially to urbe
professionals, businessmen and professional ashlste operate under the name "XTC Cabaret"; onb dperates as “Tootsg’
Cabaret”, one operates as “Cabaret North” and peeates as “Downtown Cabaret”, one operates asd@akast’and one operat
as “Temptations”. Additionally, we own a 40% irgst in “The Mansion’hightclub in Austin, Texas. Our nightclubs areHouston
Austin, San Antonio, Dallas and Fort Worth, Tex@bkarlotte, North Carolina; Minneapolis, Minnesdtiew York, New York; Miarmr
Gardens, Florida; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania adéhhapolis, Indiana. No sexual contact is permiitteany of our location:

2. We have extensive Internet activiti

a) We currently own two adult Internet membership Wailes at www.CoupleTouch.com and www.xxxpassword.ctVe
acquire xxxpassword.com site content from wholese

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtyBigis.cThis site provides our customers with the oppoty to purchas
adult products and services in an auction formag. &8rn revenues by charging fees for each transactinducted on tl
automated site

3. In April 2008, we acquired a media division, indhgl the leading trade magazine serving the r-billion dollar adult nightcluk

industry. As part of the transaction we also aajpuiwo industry trade shows, two other industrgéraublications and more than
industry websites
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Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldicpfor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover cesrgnembership fees, indepen:
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Amslchines, valet parking and other products andicgss. Our Internet revenues
derived from subscriptions to adult content Intéwebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comroissiearned on the sale of products
services through Internet auction sites, and otfogivities. Media revenues include sale of adviegiscontent and revenues from an an
Expo convention. Our fiscal year end is SeptemBer 3

For several years, we have greatly reduced oureusbgromotional pricing for membership fees for adult entertainment web sites. 1
reduced our revenues from these web sites.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Managemens discussion and analysis of financial conditiod eesults of operations are based upon our finhetagements, which have bt
prepared in accordance with United States geneaaltgpted accounting principles (“GAAP'EAAP consists of a set of standards issue
the FASB and other authoritative bodies in the faffFASB Statements, Interpretations, FASB Staf§itkans, Emerging Issues Task Fc
consensuses and American Institute of Certified liPulccountants Statements of Position, among athdihe FASB recognized 1
complexity of its standardetting process and embarked on a revised prone8804 that culminated in the release on July D926f the
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC"The ASC does not change how Company accounts ddrahsactions or the nature of rel:
disclosures made. Rather, the ASC results in asmtmhow the Company references accounting stdsiddthin its reports. This change \
made effective by the FASB for periods ending omfter September 15, 2009. The Company has updetextnces to GAAP in this Anni
Report on Form 16 to reflect the guidance in the ASC. The preparadf these consolidated financial statementsiregwur management
make estimates and assumptions that affect thertegpb@mounts of assets, liabilities, revenues axpkrses, and related disclosure
contingent assets and liabilities. On a regulaid)ave evaluate these estimates, including investimpairment. These estimates are bas
managemeng historical industry experience and on various eottassumptions that are believed to be reasonabigeru thi
circumstances. Actual results may differ from thestimates.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub opemnat primarily comprised of credit card chargebjcl are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The magiaigh’'s accounts receivable is primarily comprised otnegbles for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts receajaither is comprised of employee advances and pttseellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termsedigheement and based upon managesentluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdswadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or noteswalke will not be collected.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, &mnpany merchandise. Inventories are carried alawer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Proxddior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 yeBrgniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals atigtments that extend the useful lives are cageidl Expenditures for normal maintens
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditeztén the accompanying consolidated statemeintaafme of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB ASC 350,ntangibles- Goodwill and Otheraddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB ASC :
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Bvare no longer amortized, but reviewed on an dnbasis for impairment. All of tf
Companys goodwill and intangible assets relate to the telgh segment, except for $567,000 related to tleelimmsegment. Definite liv:
intangible assets are amortized on a straightbiasis over their estimated lives. Fully amortizedets are writteaff against accumulat
amortization.
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Impairment of LoneLived Assets

The Company reviews property and equipment andhgilide assets with definite lives for impairment emever events or changes
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of @etasmay not be recoverable. Recoverability of tresseets is measured by comparison 1
carrying amounts to future undiscounted cash fltdvesassets are expected to generate. If propedyeguipment and intangible assets
definite lives are considered to be impaired, thpdirment to be recognized equals the amount bghthie carrying value of the asset exc
its fair value. Assets are grouped at the lowesell for which there are identifiable cash flowsngpipally at the club level, when asses:
impairment. Cash flows for our club assets aretifled at the individual club level. The Compasyannual evaluation was performed a
September 30, 2011, based on a projected discosasddflow method using a discount rate determlmedanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nho@ertain of our recent acquisitions, specificdllgs Vegas, Philadelphia and the orig
Rick’s Cabaret in Austin (now a 40%wned investment), have been underperforming, jpatly due to the recent general economic down
especially in Las Vegas, but also due to certagcifip operational issues, such as the change wfem in Philadelphia and the cab
marketing issues in Las Vegas. We have deterntimidhere is a net asset impairment at SepteBhe2010, relating to these three night:
operations. The Las Vegas club was closed duhiag¢ar ended September 30, 2011. See Notes spltated Financial Statements.

None of our other reporting units were at risk aififig step one of the impairment test (i.e. that falue was not substantially in exces
carrying value) in either year.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its asaettliabilities which qualify as financial instremts and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemerfterwthe fair value is different than the carryirgjue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiatug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since thesguments be.
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargseld for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 815-B@rivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Owguity . Under certai
circumstances that would require the Company tibestftese equity items in cash, and without regandrobability, FASB ASC 8130 woulc
require the classification of all or part of thenit as a liability and the adjustment of that resifeed amount to fair value at each reporting ¢
with such adjustments reflected in the Compargonsolidated statements of income. The firdringent to meet the requirements of F/
ASC 81540 for derivative accounting occurred in the quaeteded June 30, 2009 when the Company renegotiaeguhyback terms of cert.
put options and agreed to pledge as collaterattiminn holders a second lien on certain property.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other vmsand services at the pointsai
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgrgthbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyiderot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteauetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emined estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertisintent are recognized when the issue is publisinedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo atioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes ggicevenues and an equal expense in accordanceFAEB ASC 605-45Revenu
Recognitior— Principal Agent ConsiderationsTotal sales and liquor taxes aggregated $6.0amjl$5.6 million and 4.5 million for the ye:
ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respgctive

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyngnsed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing ezyges are expensed as incurred and are includempérating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of income.
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Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with FASB ASC 74@come Taxes. Deferred tax assets
liabilities are recognized for the future tax capsences attributable to differences between trenfial statement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebaBeferred tax assets and liabilities are medsusig enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodifferences are expected to be recovered orseflihe effect on deferred tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recogniz@dhcome in the period that includes the enactnuatié. In addition, a valuation allowanc
established to reduce any deferred tax asset fahwhis determined that it is more likely thantribat some portion of the deferred tax &
will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presorda minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being re@ef in the financial statements. FASB ASC 74® g@sovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penaléesounting in interim periods, disclosure andhgiton. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consadéinancial statements.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues resttiactemmon shares as partial consideration for aitipuis of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderuchsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrsls or, if management elects not to do so, théehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhise shares in accordance with the guidance lisbiat by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities From Equityas a reclassification of the value of the sharesmfpermanent to temporary equity. As the st
become due, the Company transfers the value dflthees back to permanent equity, less any amoihtgahe holder. Also sederivative
Financial Instruments” above.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per shareciordance with FASB ASC 26&arnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per shBasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniam@dmputed by dividing income availabls
common stockholders by the weighted average nurmbebommon shares outstanding for the period. Diluearnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shardlie earnings of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of sharésnthg arise from outstanding dilutive common stogitions and warrants (the numbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock methaaiitl from outstanding convertible debentures (thrabrr of which is computed using
“if converted method”). Diluted EPS considers thaemtial dilution that could occur if the Compasydutstanding common stock optic
warrants and convertible debentures were conventidcommon stock that then shared in the Compaegrnings (loss) (as adjusted
interest expense, that would no longer occur ifdéleentures were converted).

Stock Options

The Company has adopted the fair value recognfiiomisions of FASB ASC 718 ompensation—Stock Compensation

The compensation cost recognized for the years cerf8eptember 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $8,2545,22® and $96,17
respectively. There were 25,000, 20,000 and 3@0$@ck options exercises for the years ended Bdyate 30, 2011, 2010 and 20
respectively.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011, wlechasolidated total revenues of $83.5 million, pared to consolidated total revenue
$74.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2010s was an increase of $9.4 million or 12.7%eTihcrease in total revenues
primarily due to revenues generated in our new<kdnuired in 2011 ($1.6 million in 2011), a fullay of revenues from clubs purchase
2010 (increase of $4.5 million) and increases ireneies from certain of our existing clubs, espgcfabm our New York location. Revent
from nightclub operations for same-location sameepeincreased by 4.9%.

Our operating margin (income (loss) from operatiphss impairment of assets, divided by total rexen)uwas 22.5% for the year en
September 30, 2011 compared to 20.2% for the pear.

26




Our income (loss) from operations for our Interbasinesses (excluding corporate overhead) was8&8pfor the year ended Septembel
2011 compared with $76,067 for the year ended &dpee 30, 2010. Our income from operations for aghitlub operations for the same-
location-same-period increased by 18.3%.

Our net income (loss) was $7.8 million for the élsgear ended September 30, 2011 compared to ${Bi0n) for the previous year. T
increase in our net income was primarily a restithe impairment of nightclub assets in 2010, alaiidp a growth in the operations.

Following is a comparison of the Compasiyncome statement for the years ended Septemb@03@ and 2010 with percentages compar
total revenue:

2011 % 2010 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 32,57¢ 39.(% $ 28,53 38.5%
Sales of food and merchand 7,40 8.9% 6,327 8.5%
Service Revenue 38,17¢ 45.7% 34,17¢ 46.1%
Internet Revenue 47C 0.6% 562 0.8&%
Media 1,24¢ 1.5% 1,44( 1.2%
Other 3,61¢ 4.2% 3,02: 4.1%

Total Revenue 83,49: 100.(% 74,06 100.(%
Cost of Goods Sol 10,42% 12.5% 9,13¢ 12.2%
Salaries & Wage 18,32: 21.% 16,30¢ 22.(%
Stoclk-based Compensatic 8 0.C% 40E 0.5%
Taxes and permil 12,54: 15.(% 11,45: 15.5%
Charge card fee 1,361 1.6% 1,22¢ 1.7%
Rent 2,98¢ 3.6% 2,73 3. 7%
Legal & professiona 2,28¢ 2. 1% 3,00z 4.1%
Advertising and marketin 3,471 4.2% 3,167 4.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,904 4.71% 3,22¢ 4.4%
Insurance 1,157 1.4% 98t 1.2%
Utilities 1,60¢ 1.9% 1,507 2.C%
Impairment of asse! - 0.C% 3,574 4.8%
Other 6,624 7.9% 5,94¢ 8.C%
Total operating expens: 64,69’ 77.5% 62,67 84.€%

Income from operation 18,79« 22.5% 11,39 15.2%
Interest incomu 11¢ 0.1% 19 0.C%
Interest expens (3,930 -4.7% (4,027 -5.4%
Interest expens- loan origination cost (359 -0.4% (450) -0.€%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatirstiument: 12¢ 0.2% 31 0.C%
Gain on settlement of de 90:< 1.1% - 0.C%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets and other - 0.C% ©) 0.C%
Income from continuing operations before incomess $ 15,65¢ 18.8% $ 6,90¢ 9.2%

Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned,ovigiames and other vending and certain promotios ¢earged to our entertainers.
Company recognizes revenue from other revenuesemites at the point-of-sale upon receipt of cakh¢k, or credit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-@coholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/bindil
media postage and internet traffic purchases aremaster payouts. Our cost of goods sold for tigdtoiub operations for the year en
September 30, 2011 was 12.4% of our total revefroes club operations compared to 12.3% for the yeated September 30, 2010. Co¢
goods sold for same-location-sameriod decreased to 12.1% for the year ended SépteB, 2011 compared to 12.2% for the year €
September 30, 2010. We continued our efforts tdezehreductions in cost of goods sold of the clplerations through improved invent
management. We are continuing a program to impmaegins from liquor and food sales and food sereifficiency. Our cost of sales fr¢
our Internet operations for the year ended Septede2011 was 2.0% compared to 2.3% of relatedmees for the year ended Septembe
2010.
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The increase in payroll and related costs, stagetBalaries & Wagesabove, was primarily due to the addition of the retwbs in 2010 ar
2011. Payroll for same-location-sameriod of club continuing operations increased 28.8 million for the year ended September 30, !
from $12.6 million for the previous year. Managemeurrently believes that its labor and managerstait levels are appropriate.

The decrease in stodkased compensation in 2011 results from the issuahd65,000 options at September 30, 2010 to eyppand Boa
of Directors. These options were exercisable iniatety, resulting in the related cost being recagdientirely during the 2010 fiscal year.

Taxes and permits consists principally of payrakes, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxes\sigeand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. The increase in 2011 reguitiscipally from the new clubs acquired. Patroreta amounted to $2.9 million and ¢
million for the years ended September 30, 201128, respectively.

Rent expense increased principally due to new semstvo new clubs in Fort Worth

Legal and professional expenses decreased prihcihaé to a decrease in the costs related to tiiganvolving claims under the Fair Lat
Standards Act. We incurred approximately $100&08 $88,000 in legal fees related to new acquisstio 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization increased approxily&&79,000 from the year ended September 30, 201®to the new clubs purchased.
Utilities increased due to new clubs and the hedtdrought in Texas in 2011.
The decrease in interest expense was attributabltetcontinued decrease in debt as we amortiziedms. Also included in interest expens
2010 is the write off of the unamortized portion adrtain loan origination costs relating to oureeched convertible debt, amounting
$274,425. As of September 30, 2011, the balantengfterm debt was $35.6 million compared to $48illion a year earlier.
Gain on settlement of debt in 2011 represents #ire fpom settlement of certain cross-litigationwhe former sellers of the Las Vegas club.
See “Derivative Financial Instrument” above forarhation on the Company’s derivative financial ingtent at September 30, 2011.
Following is our adjusted EBITDA for the years edd&eptember 30:

(in thousands, except per share data)

2011 2010 2009
Adjusted EBITDA $ 23,637 $ 17,91t $ 17,89(

In the table above, we have included a financitleshent measure that was not derived in accordaitbeGAAP. We use adjusted EBITL
(earnings before interest expense, income taxgsedation, amortization and impairment chargesa amnGAAP performance measure.
calculating adjusted EBITDA, we exclude our largesturring noreash charge, depreciation, amortization and impaitncharges. Adjust
EBITDA provides a core operational performance measent that compares results without the needjtestfor Federal, state and local te
which have considerable variation between doméstisdictions. Also, we exclude interest cost ur @alculation of adjusted EBITDA. T
results are, therefore, without consideration néficing alternatives of capital employed. We ugaested EBITDA as one guideline to as:
our unleveraged performance return on our investsnekdjusted EBITDA is also the target benchmark dar acquisitions of nightclut
Reconciliations from net earnings from continuing@tions to adjusted EDITDA are provided belowtfa years ended September 30:

2011 2010 2009
Income from continuing operatiol $ 10,25 $ 3,90t $ 7,94¢
Net income from noncontrolling interes (211) (260) (294)
Income taxe:! 5,40: 2,99¢ 4,01:
Interest expens 4,28¢ 4,47: 3,41
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,90« 3,22¢ 2,80¢
Impairment of asse! - 3,57¢ -
Adjusted EBITDA $ 23,637 $ 17,91t $ 17,89(
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Our adjusted EBITDA does not include interest exgerincome taxes, depreciation, amortization arghirment charges. Because we |
borrowed money in order to finance our operatiomgrest expense is a necessary element of ous eost our ability to generate reven
Because we use capital assets, depreciation, a@osti and impairment charges are also necessameals of our costs. Also, the paymet
income taxes is a necessary element of our opasmtibherefore, any measures that exclude theseertenmave material limitations.

compensate for these limitations, we believe thas iappropriate to consider both net earningssjlaetermined under GAAP, as well
adjusted EBITDA, to evaluate our performance. Ala@, separately analyze any significant fluctuatiomsnterest expense, depreciat
amortization, impairment charges and income taxes.

Discontinued Operations

In March 2011, we made the decision to sell ows Vagas location and, in April 2011, sharply redlite operations in order to elimin
losses as we sought a buyer for the property. Blleve that we have done everything possible toenthls location viable since its acquisit
in 2008 and now believed it was in our shareholdieest interests not to continue these efforts. dibb was shuttered and the landlord 1
over the property in June 2011. Therefore, thib ¢ recognized as a discontinued operation irattt®mpanying financial statements anc
recognized a loss on the closure of $2.0 milliodistontinued operations.

In August 2011, we sold 60% of the membership é@gtrin the entity that previously operated our RiclCabaret in Austi
Texas. Accordingly, we have deconsolidated thesislidry as of August 31, 2011 and have carried st an equitymethoc
investment. Accordingly, the club is recognizedaasliscontinued operation in the accompanying firenstatements for periods prior
August 31, 2011.

The Company sold one of its nightclubs, Encountean Antonio, on March 1, 2009 for $40,000, indihg $5,000 in cash and a $35,000
payable monthly for one year. The Company recaghian impairment of $221,563 for this club durihg fuarter ended December
2008. The actual loss at date of sale was $226,175

We closed our Divas Latinas club in Houston du@ggptember 2009. This club is also recognizeddoatitinued operations.

Following is summarized information regarding thdseontinued operations:

Revenues of discontinued operations amounted ®rfiflion and $8.9 for the years ended SeptembeP301 and 2010, respectively.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemesitsct the following as discontinued operationoasnd for the period ended Septen
30, 2011 and 2010:

(in thousands Year Ended September @

2011 2010 2009
Loss from discontinued operatio $ (10 $ 919 $ (2,719
Loss on sale of discontinued operatis (2,270 (16,939 (1,049
Income tax- discontinued operatior 1,182 6,24¢ 1,313
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of $ (2199 $ (11,609 $ (2,449

Major classes of assets and liabilities includedss®ets and liabilities of discontinued operatiassf:
September 3(

2011 2010
Current assets, including deferred tax as $ 33 % 1,09t
Property and equipme 76 2,88¢
Other asset 3 867
Current liabilities (144) (27¢)
Long-term liabilities (33) (310)
Net assets (liabilities $ (65) 4,267
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, wlechasolidated total revenues of $74.1 million, pared to consolidated total revenue
$65.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2008s was an increase of $8.6 million or 13.2%e Tihcrease in total revenues
primarily due to revenues generated in our newschi increases in revenues from certain of owtiagi clubs, especially from our New Y1
location. Revenues from nightclub operations famedocation sameeriod increased by 10.2% and for Internet buseeskecreased
12.3%.

Our operating margin (income from operations phapairment divided by total revenues) was 20.2%tlier year ended September 30, 2
compared to 23.0% for the prior year.

Our income from continuing operations before incamees for the year ended September 30, 2010 was§ilion compared to $12.0 millic
for the year ended September 30, 2009. The decreaseprimarily due to the same factors discussethénprevious paragraph and
impairment of our Philadelphia club in the amouft$3.6 million. Our income from operations forrolnternet businesses (exclud
corporate overhead) was $76,067 for the year eSaptember 30, 2010 compared with $162,071 for &ze& gnded September 30, 2009.
income from operations for our nightclub operatiforsthe same-location-same-period increased b¥4.5

Our net loss was ($8.0) million for the fiscal yesded September 30, 2010 compared to $5.2 mittiothe previous year. The decrease ir
net income was primarily a result of the impairmefthree clubs in 2010.

Following is a comparison of the Compasyhcome statement for the years ended Septemb@020 and 2009 with percentages compar
total revenue:

(in thousands) 2010 % 2009 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 28,53 38.5% $ 23,64 36.1%
Sales of food and merchand 6,32 8.5% 5,61¢ 8.€%
Service Revenue 34,17¢ 46.1% 31,78¢ 48.€%
Internet Revenue 562 0.8% 641 1.C%
Media 1,44( 1.9% 1,404 2.1%
Other 3,02: 4.1% 2,32¢ 3.6%
Total Revenue 74,06 100.(% 65,41°* 100.(%
Costof Goods Solc 9,13¢ 12.2% 7,88¢ 12.1%
Salaries & Wage 16,30¢ 22.(% 14,79¢ 22.€%
Stock-based Compensatic 40¢ 0.5% 96 0.1%
Taxes and permil 11,45: 15.5% 8,351 12.&%
Charge card fee 1,22¢ 1.7% 1,30 2.C%
Rent 2,730 3.7% 2,16¢ 3.2%
Legal & professiona 3,00z 4.1% 2,84¢ 4.4%
Advertising and marketin 3,16 4.2% 2,58¢ 4.%
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,22t 4.4% 2,80¢ 4.2%
Insurance 98¢ 1.3% 894 1.4%
Utilities 1,507 2.0% 1,39( 2.1%
Impairment of asse! 3,57¢ 4.8% - 0.C%
Other 5,94¢ 8.C% 5,25¢ 8.C%
Total operating expens 62,67: 84.€% 50,38( 77.(%
Income from operation 11,39: 15.4% 15,03t 23.(%
Interest incomt 19 0.C% 16 0.C%
Interest expens (4,027 -5.4% (3,352 -5.1%
Interest expens- loan origination cost (450) -0.6% (65) -0.1%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: (32) 0.C% 14& 0.2%
- - 0.C%

Gain (loss) on sale of assets and other ©) 0.C% 182 0.2%
Income from continuing operations before incomess $ 6,90: 9.3% $ 11,96 18.2%

Taxes and permits consists principally of payrakes, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxesis@seand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. Patron taxes amounted to $8iion and $1.8 million for the years ended Sepber 30, 2010 and 20(
respectively. The percentage of taxes to revehassncreased due to the new clubs we have addée iDallasFort Worth area in 2010 a
2011.
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Rent expense increased principally due to significeew leases in new clubs acquired in 2010.

Legal and professional expenses increased pritgigak to the addition of new clubs and costs egldb litigation involving claims under t
Fair Labor Standards Act.

The increase in the percentage of advertising aautketing to total revenue is principally due torgeses in our overall marketing campaic
attempt to increase volume of customer trafficltdogations.

Depreciation and amortization increased due taéve clubs purchased during the two fiscal years.

Impairment expense represents the 2010 impairnfemtrcclub in Philadelphia.

The increase in interest expense was attributabéit obtaining new debt during the year endede®eper 30, 2010 and 2009 to finance
purchase of the new clubs and related real estsgenf September 30, 2010, the balance of ltargy debt was $42.7 million compared to $.
million a year earlier, but a substantial portidribee new debt was entered into during the quameled September 30, 2010.

See “Derivative Financial Instrument” above forarhation on the Company’s derivative financial fostent at September 30, 2010.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2011, we had working capité82d million compared to working capital of $9.1llion as of September 30, 2010. ~
decrease is principally due to the acquisitionsmegle during 2011, all with cash. Because of thgelarolume of cash we handle, string
cash controls have been implemented. At Septe@®eP011, our cash and cash equivalents were $Blidmcompared to $18.6 million

September 30, 2010.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @01 dvas $3.5 million compared to $2.9 million fbetyear ended September 30, 2010.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 224<1$419,000 compared to $367,000 for the yearceBdptember 30, 2010.

The following table presents a summary of our dashkis from operating, investing, and financing sittes:

Years ended September .

2011 2010 2009
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 18,88. $ 17,34( $ 8,967
Net cash used in investing activiti (16,340 (12,899 (3,790
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (11,442 1,757 2,20z
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ (890) $ 6,20C $ 7,37¢

The increase in cash provided by operating aatiwitias primarily due to the increase in cash flfras the operations in 2011 (net loss |
noncash impairment and depreciation) and from tiigayment of Texas Patron Taxes. The increasesim esed in investing activities rele
primarily to acquisitions of businesses. The caskd in financing activities in 2011 relates toghase of treasury stock and put opt
without any proceeds of long-term debt.

We require capital principally for the acquisitiof new clubs, renovation of older clubs and invesita in technology. We may also uti
capital to repurchase our common stock as partio§bare repurchase program.

Debt Financing:

On August 6, 2009, we completed the sale of aneagde of $7.2 million in 10% Convertible Debentu(dse “Debentures”}o certail
accredited investors (the “Holders"The Debentures bear interest at the rate of 10%meaum and mature on August 4, 2012. The Debeg
were payable with one initial payment of interestyodue February 4, 2010, and, thereafter in tamakquarterly principal payments, p
accrued interest thereon. At the option of theddrd, the Debentures could be converted into studrde Companys common stock at $8.
per share. The Debentures were redeemable byamny dime if the closing price of its common stdok 20 consecutive trading days is at |
$11.50 per share. The Debentures provide thavent®f default would occur if: we should fail taypany principal or interest when due;
should fail to convert any Debenture when requined; should fail to observe or perform any covenanagreement contained within

Debenture; there are cross defaults to other irdiletss in excess of $1,000,000; there is a re@atgom, liquidation, voluntary or involunte
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or other bapiay default; or a final unsatisfied judgment wolvered by insurance aggregating
excess of $1 million occurs against us and is taytesl, bonded or discharged within seventy-fivesday
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In connection with the sale of the Debentures, 18e ssued an aggregate of 164,569 warrants (therfakts”) to the Holders, on a prate
basis. We issued each Holder a number of Wareaqal to 20% of the number of shares of commorkstdo which each Holdes Debentur
is convertible. The Warrants have an exerciseepoic$8.75 and expire on August 5, 2012. The Whsrgrovide that we had the right
require exercise of the Warrants if the closing@of our common stock for 20 consecutive tradiagsdvas at least $12.25.

On April 16, 2010, the Company sent a Notice of é&egtion to all of the Holders, thereby exercisitgright to redeem all of the 2C
Debentures, including the entire outstanding ppatamount of all the 2009 Debentures and any adchut unpaid interest thereon. U
receipt of such Notice of Redemption, all of theldéos exercised their right to convert the printgr@ount plus all accrued but unpaid inte
thereon of the 2009 Debentures at the conversiae pf $8.75 per share in lieu of receiving a cpahiment (pursuant to the terms of the -
Debentures), effective as of May 3, 2010. Accagtlinon May 4, 2010, the Company issued an aggeeghB42,972 shares of its comn
stock to these Holders, in conversion of an agdesgé $7.2 million of outstanding principal and aggregate of $176,000 of outstanc
interest on such 2009 Debentures. As a resuhlisfdonversion, the Company made no cash paymertsetHolders in connection with 1
Notice of Redemption. Concurrent with the retiremnef the debt, the Company was required to wrifeas interest expense, the unamort
portion of its related loan origination costs, amiing to $274,425.

On June 25, 2010, the Company completed the sa@ aiggregate of approximately $9.2 million in 1@¥nvertible Debentures (th01(
Debentures”) to certain accredited investors (tHelers”). The 2010 Debentures bear interest at the rate @f A€ annum and mature
June 25, 2013. The 2010 Debentures are payaltbeond initial payment of interest only due Decem®@&r2010, and, thereafter in ten et
quarterly principal payments, plus accrued intetiesteon. At the option of the Holders, the priatiamount of the 2010 Debentures anc
accrued but unpaid interest thereon may be cortvérte shares of the Compasycommon stock at $10.25 per share. The 2010 Detesrar
redeemable by the Company at any time if the ctppiice of its common stock for 20 consecutiveitrgdiays is at least $13.47 per share.

In connection with the sale of the 2010 Debentineline 2010, the Company also issued an aggrefa#9,513 warrants (the “Warrants)
the Holders, on a prata basis. The Company issued each Holder a nuaib&arrants equal to 20% of the number of shafesommot
stock into which each Holdex'2010 Debenture is convertible. The Warrants laawvexercise price of $10.25 and expire on Jun@@E3. Th
Warrants provide that the Company has the righetupiire exercise of the Warrants if the closing@iif the Compang’common stock for &
consecutive trading days is at least $14.35.

The fair value of the warrants were estimated t&4®4,571 in accordance with FASB ASC 8Eajr Value Measurements and Disclosures
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model using filllowing weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 68%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.18%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized esautht on the related debt and will be amortizeer ahe life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the 2010 DebenturédMarrants in June 2010 are intended to be uliteemake future acquisitions, and r
be utilized for working capital and general corgienaurposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $460,000, which was capitalized as lorigination cost and will |
amortized over the life of the debt, in connectiwith advising the Company regarding the June 2(dleé sf the 2010 Debentures
Warrants. The 2010 Debentures and Warrants wédeusder the exemption from registration providgd3ection 4(2) of the Securities Acl
1933 and the rules and regulations promulgatecetimeter, including Regulation D. All of the offemsad sales of the 2010 Debentures
Warrants were made exclusively to “accredited itors$ (as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regutaf) in offers and sales r
involving a public offering. The Holders purchaghd securities for their own account and not witiiew towards or for resale. There wa:
general solicitation or advertising conducted inroection with the sales of the securities.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debentures andaWta are intended to be utilized to make futuwrguésitions, and may be utilized
working capital and general corporate purposes.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primaniiythe form of operating leases and debt obligetiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate magdgrias well as future minimum rent payments. Fufaterest payments related to vari
interest rate debt were estimated using the inteags in effect at September 30, 2011.
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Payments Due by Peric

(in thousands) Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereaftel
Long-term debt $ 35,55 $ 549 $ 13,54. $ 2,41¢ $ 3,65¢ $ 1,30¢ $ 9,13¢
Interest payment 10,60¢ 3,17: 2,32( 1,65¢ 1,381 1,10¢ 967
Operating lease 14,22} 2,34¢ 2,29¢ 2,08¢ 1,291 1,05¢ 5,152

Put Options

As part of certain of our acquisition transactions, have entered into Lock-Up/Le&kit Agreements with the sellers pursuant to whichol
after a contractual period after the closing ddte,seller shall have the right, but not the oltiayg to have us purchase from seller a ce
number of our shares of common stock issued idréiresactions in an amount and at a rate of not h@e a contractual number of the sh
per month (the “Monthly Shares”) calculated at meiper share equal to a contractual value persfigialue of the Rick's Shares”At our
election during any given month, we may either tuy Monthly Shares or, if we elect not to buy therithly Shares from the seller, then
seller shall sell the Monthly Shares in the operrketa Any deficiency between the amount which te#es receives from the sale of
Monthly Shares and the value of the shares shabialigk by us within three business days of the datale of the Monthly Shares during 1
particular month. Our obligation to purchase thenkiity Shares from the Seller shall terminate araseet such time as the seller has rec
a contractual amount from the sale of the Rick’ar8h and any deficiency. Under the terms of thekildp/LeakOut Agreements, the sel
may not sell more than a contractual number ofshares per 30-day period, regardless of whethesaher “Puts’the shares to us or st
them in the open market or otherwise.

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiatdf terms of certain of our long term debt ansigmificant portion of outstanding
options. Before the renegotiation, the maximumigattion that could be owed if our stock were val@dzero was $13.9 million and v
recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temp&quity. After the renegotiation, the maximwailigation that could be owed if ¢
stock were valued at zero is $3.2 million at Seem30, 2011. If we are required to buy back ahyhese put options, the bupack
transaction will be purely a balance sheet trams@caffecting only Temporary Equity or Derivatilzeability and StockholderseEquity and wil
have no income statement effect. The only incotatement effect from these put options is the “mtarknarket”valuation quarterly of t
derivative liability as explained in Note B of Neteo Consolidated Financial Statements. Following schedule of the annual obligation (i
the renegotiation) we would have if our stock priemains in the future at the closing market paneSeptember 30, 2011 of $6.65 per shau
which there can be no assurance: (This includesi¢higative financial instruments recognized in oansolidated balance sheet at Septe
30, 2011.)

For the Year Ended September
(in thousands

2012 $ 2,192
2013 14€
Total $ 2,34(

Each $1.00 per share movement of our stock priseahaaggregate effect of $135,000 on the totagabitn.

We are not aware of any other event or trend ttaatldvpotentially affect liquidity. In the event $ue trend develops, we believe our worl
capital and capital expenditure requirements vélldolequately met by cash flows from operationgunopinion, working capital is not a ti
indicator of our financial status. Typically, busgses in our industry carry current liabilitieekcess of current assets because businesses
industry receive substantially immediate paymemtsiaes, with nominal receivables, while inventsrand other current liabilities norme
carry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyfenaoremain flexible with payment terms, providibgsinesses in our industry w
opportunities to adjust to short-term business dtwvns. We consider the primary indicators of ficiah status to be the lortgrm trend c
revenue growth, the mix of sales revenues, oveaalh flow, profitability from operations and theédé¢of long-term debt.

The following table presents a summary of suchciatdirs:

Increase Increase
2011 (Decrease 2010 (Decrease 2009

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 32,57t 14.2% $ 28,53: 20.7% $ 23,64
Sales of food and merchand 7,40z 17.(% 6,321 12.7% 5,61¢
Service Revenue 38,17¢ 11.7% 34,17¢ 7.5% 31,78¢
Internet Revenue 47C -16.4% 562 -12.2% 641
Media 1,24¢ -13.2% 1,44( 2.€% 1,40¢
Other 3,61¢ 19.7% 3,02¢ 29.%% 2,32¢

Total Revenues 83,49: 12.7% 74,06: 13.2% 65,41°
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 18,88: 8.7% $ 17,34( 93.4% $ 8,967
Adjusted EBITDA $ 23,631 31.% $ 17,91¢ 0.1% $ 17,89(
Long-term debt $  35,55¢ -16.7% $  42,68¢ 12.¢% $  37,81:

* See definition of adjusted EBITDA above under Resof Operations.
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We have not established lines of credit or finagaoither than the above mentioned notes payableoanexisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors aizbd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of oommon stock. During the fiscal y
ended September 30, 2011, we purchased 283,38dsshiacommon stock in the open market at priceginanfrom $6.45 to $8.96. During 1
fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, no shares marchased under this program. During the figealr ended September 30, 2010
purchased 57,450 shares of common stock in the waeket at prices ranging from $5.98 to $6.41. éirttie Board's authority, we have
million remaining to purchase additional shares.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impamhfinflation in our operations during the pastesal years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increassts through price increases and may continue sodblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasabfs. Historically, we have experienced reduaamues from April through Septem
with the strongest operating results occurring iy ctober through March. Our experience indic#tas there are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can carmito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new clubs after market analysis, ¢lddquire existing clubs in locations that
consistent with our growth and income targets ahitkvappear receptive to the upscale club formwahave developed, (c) to form jc
ventures or partnerships to reduce stgrtand operating costs, with us contributing eqinitghe form of our brand name and manage
expertise, (d) to develop new club concepts thatcansistent with our management and marketingsskihd/or (e) to acquire real estat
connection with club operations, although some lumay be in leased premises.

During fiscal 2008, we acquired a media divisiondaotal cost of $1.1 million. This acquisition sveunded primarily through issuance of
restricted common stock valued at $369,754, an®$00 in cash. This media operation had total regsrof approximately $1.2 million, $:
million and $1.4 million for fiscal years 2011, ZDand 2009, respectively and net losses of apprbeiyn $67,000, $156,000 and $242,000.

During fiscal 2008, we acquired five existing niglab operations and 49% of an existing nightclubragion for a total cost of $69.8 millic
including real property of $14.8 million. These aisifions were funded primarily through indebtedne§ $21 million, including real prope
debt of $8 million, issuance of our restricted commstock valued at $13 million, $701,711 in debgfeeness, and $35.4 million in ca
These nightclub operations (exclusive of the Lagageclub closed in 2011 and the Austin club in Whiee sold 60% in 2011) had tc
revenues of approximately $34.9 million, $41.6 ioiiland $40.7 million for fiscal years 2011, 20122009, respectively, and pretax inct
of approximately $11.0 million, $9.4 million and.g9million.

During fiscal 2009, we acquired one nightclub opierefor cash of approximately $2.4 million. Thiesing occurred on September 30, 2!
This acquisition was funded with cash of $2.3 milli This nightclub operation had total revenuesmbroximately $3.6 million and $:
million in 2011 and 2010, respectively and net imeo(loss) before taxes of approximately $295,000 and $(13,000) f@t12and 201!
respectively.
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During fiscal 2010, we acquired three existing mifjib operations for a total cost of approximat®®:2 million, including real property
approximately $4.6 million. These acquisitions wdwmded primarily with cash of approximately $5.9llion, real property debt 1
approximately $2.5 million, and a selletommon stock which we owned, valued at approxmat795,000. These nightclub operations
total revenues of approximately $7.3 million andS$rhillion and net income before taxes of approxehe$609,000 and $432,000 for fis
years 2011 and 2010, respective

During fiscal 2011, we acquired three existing mdfiib operations and opened another for a total aogpproximately $11.3 million, includii
real property of approximately $6.4 million. Theaequisitions were funded with cash. These nigbtaiperations had total revenues
approximately $1.6 million for fiscal year 2011 damet loss before taxes of approximately $(620,000)

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquirg nghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitmet fit our business model as we t
done in the past. The acquisition of additionabslwill require us to obtain additional debt owiasce of our common stock, or both. There
be no assurance that we will be able to obtaintmadil financing on reasonable terms in the futifret all, should the need arise. An inab
to obtain such additional financing could have dwesise effect on our growth strategy.

In our Internet division, we plan to focus on higlargin Internet activities that leverage our marigskills while requiring a low level of start-
up cost and ongoing operating costs and refinetane our Internet sites for better positioning ngamic search rankings amongst the
search providers. We will restructure affiliate grams to provide higher incentives to our currdfiliaes to better promote our Internet si
while actively seeking new affiliates to send ti@fb our Internet sites.

In addition to their strong cash flow, the acquisitof the Media Division has enabled us to creew marketing synergies with major indu:
product suppliers and new national advertising ojymities. It also provides us with additional disiication of our revenue and inco
streams while remaining within our core competency.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

The only items in our financial statements applieaio this section are put options which are regmbiin our balance sheet as derive
liabilities and temporary equity. The disclosueguired by this section is contained in “Put Opgibabove.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item begins on &383g.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. snidsidiaries (the “Company”gs o
September 30, 2011 and 2010, and the related ¢dasal statements of operations, changes in pemhateackholderséquity, and cash flov
for each of the three years in the period endedeaper 30, 2011. These consolidated financial states are the responsibility of
Company’s management. Our responsibility is toresp an opinion on these consolidated financi&stants based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBigUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the consalifiaincial statements are free of mat
misstatement. Our audits of the consolidated fir@nstatements included examining, on a test basigslence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesjeagsessing the accounting principles used andisant estimates made by management
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@ra We believe that our audits provide a reabtmbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all mafer@spects, the financial position of
Company, as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, ancksits of their operations and their cash flomrsefach of the three years in the pe
ended September 30, 2011, in conformity with actiogrprinciples generally accepted in the Unitedt&t of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the Compary’
internal control over financial reporting as of &spber 30, 2011, based on criteria establishelhtgrnal Control—ntegrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizataminthe Treadway Commission, and our report datedebnber 14, 2011, expressec
unqualified opinion.

/sl WHITLEY PENN LLP

Dallas, Texas

December 14, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited Rick’s Cabaret International, b subsidiaries’ (the “Companyifternal control over financial reporting as of &apbe
30, 2011 based on criteria establishe¢hiernal Control—Integrated Framewoi&sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe
Treadway Commission. The Compasyhanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and fts
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comtvet financial reporting included in the accompagyManagemens Report on Intern.
Control Over Financial ReportingOur responsibility is to express an opinion oa @ompanys internal control over financial reporting ba
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadslof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8a&@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtasonable assurance about whether effectiven@iteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corar@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aatl&ing the design and operating effectivenedsatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestaée believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of consolidated fomr@nstatements for external purposes in accordavite generally accepted account
principles. A company internal control over financial reporting inclsgdhose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéomaintenance
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately faimty reflect the transactions and dispositionstloé assets of the company; (2) pro
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeelcessary to permit preparation of consolidfuteshcial statements in accordance 1
generally accepted accounting principles, and teatipts and expenditures of the company are beiage only in accordance w
authorizations of management and directors of trepany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance liegapdevention or timely detection
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef tbmpany’s assets that could have a materialtadfethe consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fic&l reporting as of September 30, 2!
based on criteria establishedliternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadriie Treadwa
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolida
balance sheets of the Company as of Septembei03@,dhd 2010, and the related consolidated statsméoperations, changes in perma
stockholdersequity and cash flows for each of the three yaathe period ended September 30, 2011, and ourtrdated December 14, 20
expressed an unqualified opinion on those congeliiinancial statements.

/s/ WHITLEY PENN LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 14, 2011
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30
(in thousands, except per share date 2011 2010

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel 9,69¢ $ 18,59¢
Accounts receivable

Trade, ne 77¢ 662

Other, ne 1,161 204
Marketable securitie 51t -
Inventories 1,17¢ 1,08
Deferred tax asst 5,19t 1,50¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,02t 862
Assets of discontinued operatic 112 4,851
Total current asse 19,65¢ 27,76¢
Property and equipment, r 65,89: 56,78t
Other asset:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles, n 65,64 61,76
Definite lived intangibles, ne 1,091 1,13¢
Other 1,09: 92(C
Total other asse! 67,82¢ 63,82(
Total asset 153,37 $ 148,37:
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl 1,21t $ 69€
Accrued liabilities 2,76¢ 4,301
Texas patron tax liabilit 6,83( 3,95¢
Current portion of derivative liabilitie 1,20¢ 1,27¢
Current portion of lon-term deb! 5,49¢ 7,88:
Liabilities of discontinued operatiol 177 58¢
Total current liabilities 17,69: 18,69¢
Deferred tax liability 23,03: 15,28¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 78t 71¢
Long-term debt 30,06( 34,80:
Derivative liabilities at fair value, less curregrdrtion - 1,24:
Total liabilities 71,56¢ 70,75:
Commitments and contingenci
Temporary equit- Common stock, subject to put rights 66 and 198eshaespectivel 1,58¢ 4,36¢
PERMANENT STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000 shares authorimstk issued and outstandi - -
Common stock, $.01 par, 20,000 shares authoriz604%nd 9,766 shares issued and outstan

respectively 96 98
Additional paic-in capital 61,44¢ 62,32t
Accumulated other comprehensive inco 1C -
Retained earnings 15,36 7,51k
Total Rick's permanent stockhold’ equity 76,91: 69,93¢
Noncontrolling interest 3,30¢ 3,314
Total permanent stockholders’ equity 80,22: 73,25
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 153,37° $ 148,37:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended September 30

(in thousands, except per share date 2011 2010 2009

Revenues

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 32,57 $ 28,53 $ 23,64:

Sales of food and merchand 7,40 6,32 5,61¢

Service revenue 38,17¢ 34,17¢ 31,78¢

Internet revenue 47C 562 641

Media revenue 1,24¢ 1,44( 1,40¢

Other 3,61¢ 3,02¢ 2,32¢

Total revenue 83,49 74,06 65,41¢

Operating expense

Cost of goods sol 10,42: 9,13¢ 7,88¢

Salaries and wage 18,32: 16,30¢ 14,79¢

Stoclk-based compensatic 8 40% 96

Other general and administrati\

Taxes and permil 12,54 11,45: 8,351

Charge card fee 1,361 1,22¢ 1,30C

Rent 2,98¢ 2,73i 2,16¢

Legal and profession 2,28¢ 3,00z 2,84¢

Advertising and marketin 3,471 3,16 2,58¢

Depreciation and amortizatic 3,90¢ 3,22¢ 2,80¢

Insurance 1,157 98¢t 894

Utilities 1,60¢ 1,507 1,39(

Impairment of asse! - 3,574 -

Other 6,624 5,94¢ 5,25¢

Total operating expenses 64,691 62,67: 50,38(

Income from operation 18,79« 11,39: 15,03t

Other income (expense

Interest incom 11¢ 19 16

Interest expens (3,930 (4,029 (3,359

Interest expens- loan origination cost (359 (450 (65)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatirstiument: 12¢ (31) 14&

Gain on settlement of de 903 - -

Gain (loss) on sale of property and other - (3) 182

Income from continuing operations before incomes& 15,65¢ 6,90:% 11,96:

Income taxes 5,40: 2,99¢ 4,01:

Income from continuing operatiol 10,25: 3,90¢ 7,94¢

Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxesa (2,195 (11,609 (2,446

Net income (loss 8,057 (7,699 5,50z

Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingerasts (211 (260) (294)

Net income (loss) attributable to R’s Cabaret International, Inc. $ 7,84 $ (7,95¢) $ 5,20¢

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable t&’s shareholder:

Income from continuing operatiol $ 101 $ 03t % 0.8¢
Loss from discontinued operations (0.22) (1.20) (0.26)
Net income (loss $ 0.7¢ $ (0.82) $ 0.5¢€

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributableitk’s shareholder:

Income from continuing operatiol $ 101 $ 03t $ 0.81
Loss from discontinued operatio (0.22) (1.20) (0.26)
Net income (loss $ 0.7¢ $ (0.82) $ 0.5

Weighted average number of common shares outsigr

Basic 9,93( 9,697 9,26¢

Diluted 9,93: 9,697 9,42¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisgsents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at October 1, 20!
Stock options exercise
Change in temporary equi
Issuance of warran
Purchase of treasury sha
Cancelled treasury shar
Stock-based compensatic
Record derivative liability
Payments to noncontrolling
interests

Change in available-for-
sale securitie

Net income

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 2C
Stock options exercise
Change in temporary equi
Common stock issued for de

and interes
Issuance of warran
Purchase of treasury sha
Cancelled treasury shar
Stoclk-based compensatic
Payments to noncontrolling
interests

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2(
Stock options exercise
Change in temporary equi
Common stock issued for de

and interes
Settlement of lawsu
Purchase of treasury sha
Cancelled treasury shar
Stock-based compensatic
Payments to noncontrolling
interests
Change in available-for-sale
securities
Net income

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 201:

Years Ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Common Stock

(in thousands)

Treasury Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Number Paid-In Comprehensive  Retained Number Noncontrolling  Stockholders’
of Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss)  Earnings of Shares Amount Interests Equity
9,68¢ 97 $ 5394t $ (13) $ 10,26¢ 90¢ $ (1,299 $ 332t % 66,32¢
30C 3 74t - - - - - 74€
- - 547 - - - - - 547
- - 53¢ - - - - - 53¢
. - - = = 304 (1,486) - (1,486
(1,109) 11 (2,769 - - (1,219 2,78( - -
- - 96 - - - - - 96
- - 1,42¢ - - - - - 1,42¢
- - - - - - - (300) (300)
- - - 13 - - - - 13
- - - - 5,20¢ - - 294 5,50z
- - - - - - - - 5,51¢F
8,88( 89 54,53( - 15,47 - - 3,31¢ 73,41:
20 - 56 - - - - - 56
29 - 1,04% - - - - - 1,04
89t 9 7,454 - - - - - 7,46°
- - 43E - - - - - 43t
- - - - - 19€ (1,599 - (1,599
(58) - (1,599 - - (19¢) 1,59¢ - -
- - 405 - - - - 408
- - - - - - - (26%) 26E)
- - - - (7,95¢) - - 26C (7,698
9,76¢€ 98 62,32¢ - 7,51¢ - - 3,31« 73,25
25 - 18¢ - - - - - 18¢
- - 51€& - - - - - 51€&
26 - 27C - - - - - 27C
70 1 1,39¢ - - - - - 1,40C
- - - - - 41F (3,267 - (3,267
(28%) (3) (3,269 - - (415) 3,261 - -
- - 8 - - - - 8
- - - - - - - (21€) (21€)
- - - 10 - - - - 10
- - - - 7,84¢ - - 211 8,057
8,067
9,60¢ 96 $ 6144 $ 10 $ 1536 - 3 - $ 3,30¢ $ 80,22:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended September 3(C

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss $ 8,057 $ (7,69¢) $ 5,50z
Loss from discontinued operations 2,19t 11,60: 2,44¢
Income (loss) from continuing operatic 10,25: 3,90¢ 7,94¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @meshcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,90¢ 3,22t 2,80¢
Deferred taxe 3,77¢ 427 85%
(Gain) loss on sale of property and ot - 3 (182)
Gain on settlement of de (909) - -
Impairment of asse! - 3,57¢ -
Amortization of note discout 14t 142 3C
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatimstiument: (12¢) 31 (14%)
Write-off of prepaid loan origination cos - 274 -
Beneficial conversiol - 23 23
Deferred rent: 65 78 104
Stock compensation exper 8 40¢ 96
Other - - 13
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Accounts receivabl (2,075 (25€) 13¢
Inventories (92) (5) 48(
Prepaid expenses and other as (30€) (159 (510
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,144 5,78:¢ (1,142)
Cash provided by operating activities of continuamgrations 17,79( 17,44¢ 10,51:
Cash provided by (used in) operating activitiesistontinued operations 1,091 (10€) (1,545
Net cash provided by operating activit 18,88: 17,34( 8,96

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of prope - - 72¢
Acquisition of marketable securiti (505) (2,009 -
Additions to property and equipme (11,539 (5,927 (1,649
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu (4,28]) (5,85)) (2,397
Payments from notes receival - - 25
Cash used in investing activities of continuing ragiens (16,319 (12,787 (3,287)
Cash used in investing activities of discontinupdrations (21) (115) (50%)
Net cash used in investing activiti (16,340 (12,899 (3,790
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from stock options exerci: 18¢ 56 748
Proceeds from lor-term debt 75C 8,74( 7,20(
Purchase of put options and payments on derivaisteument (2,049 (2,697) (1,149
Payments on lor-term debi (6,85%) (2,47¢%) (2,80¢)
Purchase of treasury sto (3,26%) (1,599 (1,48¢)
Distribution to minority interests (21€) (26E) (300)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activitiesohtinuing operations (11,447) 1,75 2,20z
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASI (8,907 6,20( 7,37¢
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOL 18,59¢ 12,39¢ 5,02(
CASH AT END OF PERIOD $ 9,69¢ $ 18,59¢ $ 12,39¢
CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR

Interest $ 4,05 $ 3192 $ 3,21¢
Income taxe! $ 2,617 $ 1,001 $ 2,83:¢

Non-cash transactions:

42




During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Coynparchased and retired 415,384 common treasamesh The cost of these shares
$3.3 million.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Cayripaued 26,320 shares of common stock for dedregating $269,780.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Coynpansferred 70,000 shares aggregating $1.4 amilfrom temporary equity
permanent equity in connection with the settlencérertain cross-litigation.

During the year ended September 30, 2010, the Caoynpetired certain debt and accrued interest agdireg $7.5 million in exchange 1
895,255 shares of the Company’s common stock.

In June 2010, the Company issued detachable wariantonjunction with debt to acquire 179,513 comnshares of the Company. ~
warrants were valued at $434,571 and this amouwrlassified as a discount on the related debt thighoffset to additional pai capital an
amortized over the life of the debt.

During the year ended September 30, 2010, the Coymatired 197,950 shares of treasury stock asaaggregating $1.6 million.

During the year ended September 30, 2010, the Caoynipaurred debt amounting to approximately $4.#iom in connection with acquirir
businesses and real estate.

In June 2009, the Company retired 1.2 million sharfetreasury stock at a cost of $2.8 million bgharge to additional paid-in capital.
In April 2009, the Company acquired 15,218 of hares subject to put options with notes payabkita; $350,000.

In April 2009, the Company transferred $5.2 milliom temporary equity and recorded the fair vatdighe resulting derivative financ
instrument of $3.8 million. The difference wasagnized in additional paid-in capital.

In March 2009, the Company sold 100% of the comistock of Texas S&I which owned and operated theoEnters nightclub for $40,0(
including a note for $35,000.

In August 2009, the Company issued $7.2 milliorcamvertible debentures and issued common stockawirito the creditors. The warre
were valued at $539,178 and the unamortized poigioacognized as a discount on the related dabieimccompanying balance sheet.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.

43




RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

A. Nature of Business

Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. (the “Companig’a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. Thhoitgysubsidiaries, the Company curre
owns and operates nightclubs that offer live adntertainment, restaurant, and bar operations.eThigdtclubs are located in Houston, Aut
San Antonio, Dallas and Fort Worth, Texas, as waslMinneapolis, Minnesota, Philadelphia, Pennsy&jaGharlotte, North Carolina, N¢
York, New York, Miami Gardens, Florida, and Indiaoés, Indiana. The Company also owns and opessesral adult entertainment Intel
websites and a media division. The Company'’s cateonffices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conféymith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptions ffhat eertain reported amounts in the financialtesteents and accompanying na
Estimates and assumptions are based on historiparience, forecasted future events and variousraBsumptions that we believe tc
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatesssougnations may vary under different assumptionsoaditions. We evaluate our estimi
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadt@unting policies below are critical in the payal of our financial condition and resi
of operations.

Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidateahdial statements have been prepared using theahdmsis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted & thnited States of America.

Changes in Accounting

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted an ametndmASC 810Consolidationwhich requires certain changes to the presentafiau!
financial statements. This amendment requires timagany to classify earnings attributable to nonaiimg interests (previously referred tc
“minority interests”)as part of consolidated net income (loss) and ttude the accumulated amount of noncontrollingreges as part
shareholders’ equity. The net earnings amounts ave Ipreviously reported are now presented as "Algtirgs attributable to Rick’Cabare
International, Inc.". Similarly, in our presentati®mf shareholders’ equity, we distinguish betweepity amounts attributable to Rick’
shareholders and amounts attributable to the ndraiting interests — previously classified as mitpimterest outside of shareholdeesjuity
In addition to these financial reporting changbss guidance provides for significant changes icoanting related to noncontrolling intere
specifically, increases and decreases in our cllingdfinancial interests in consolidated subsiiarwill be reported in equity similar
treasury stock transactions. If a change in owrgreha consolidated subsidiary results in lossofitrol and deconsolidation, any retai
ownership interests are remeasured with the gaiossrreported in net earnings.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. St intercompany accounts
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptionsfibetteertain reported amounts in the financiatesteents and accompanying notes. Ac
results could differ from these estimates and apsioms.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity of three months or less when pasgd to be cash equivalents. The

Company maintains deposits in several financidltinfons, which may at times exceed amounts caveseinsurance provided by the U.S.
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").e @ompany has not experienced any losses relagdaants in excess of FDIC limits.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies- continued
Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub opemnat primarily comprised of credit card chargebjcl are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The magiaigh’'s accounts receivable is primarily comprised otnegbles for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts receajatther is comprised of employee advances and ottseellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termsedigheement and based upon managesentluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdswadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaloke will not be collected.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, &wnpany merchandise. Inventories are carried atoer of cost (on a first-in, firsbut
(“FIFO") basis), or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Provddior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 yeBrgniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals atigtments that extend the useful lives are cageidl Expenditures for normal maintens
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditettén the accompanying consolidated statemenpefations of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets and Impairment of Lag-Lived Assets

FASB ASC 350/ntangibles - Goodwill and Othersddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB ASC :
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite bvare no longer amortized, but reviewed on an drivasas for impairment, or sooner if ther
an indication of impairment. The Company reviewsparty and equipment and intangible assets witmideflives for impairment wheney
events or changes in circumstances indicate thgiogramount of an asset may not be recoverableoRegability of these assets is meas
by comparison of its carrying amounts to future isodunted cash flows the assets are expected &raen If property and equipment i
intangible assets with definite lives are considete be impaired, the impairment to be recognizgaaés the amount by which the carry
value of the asset exceeds its fair value. Asamtsgrouped at the lowest level for which there idemtifiable cash flows when asses:
impairment, principally at the club level. Cashvik for our club assets are identified at the irdlial club level. The Compars/annue
evaluation for goodwill and indefinitéved intangible assets was performed as of Septer@B, 2011, based on a projected discounted
flow method using a discount rate determined byagament to be commensurate with the risk inheretité current business model. Cel
of the Company’s recent acquisitions, specificilas Vegas, Philadelphia and the original RiclCabaret in Austin (now a 40% investn
operated as “The Mansionhave been underperforming, principally due to #eent general economic downturn, especially in\tegas, bt
also due to certain specific operational issueshsas the change of concept in Philadelphia andctie fare marketing issues in |
Vegas. The value of these assets was determitigng a net asset value approach since thesbschre not currently producing c.
flows. As of September 30, 2010, the Company reizegl $20.5 million as a net asset impairment @sehproperties. All of the Company’
goodwill and intangible assets relate to the nigiltsegment, except for $567,000 related to theiaitpn of the media division. Definite liv
intangible assets are amortized on a straightiiasis over their estimated lives. Fully amortizedess are writteoff against accumulat
amortization.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its asaettliabilities which qualify as financial instremts and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemertierwthe fair value is different than the carryimgjue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actsopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiadug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since tliesguments be.
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargdeld for trading purposes.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies- continued
Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 8D&rivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Oquity. Under certain circumstant
that would require the Company to settle thesetedtéms in cash, and without regard to probahilBASB ASC 815 would require t
classification of all or part of the item as a llap and the adjustment of that reclassified antawnfair value at each reporting date, with ¢
adjustments reflected in the Compaggonsolidated statements of operations. Theifisstument to meet the requirements of FASB AS6E
for derivative accounting occurred in the quartededd June 30, 2009 when the Company renegotiagegatyback terms of certain put opti
and agreed to pledge as collateral to certain heladesecond lien on certain property.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities whdmetsecurities became derivatives were estimatbd $8.8 million in accordance with FASB
ASC 820,Fair Value Measurementausing a Black-Scholes option-pricing model ugimg following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 73%
Expected life 3.42 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.34%

The related put options were recognized in tempaogquity in the amount of $5.2 million at the tittey were issued. The difference betw
that amount and the value of the derivative of $8ilion, amounting to $1.4 million, was included additional paidn capital. The fair valt
of the derivative liabilities as of September 3012 were estimated to be $1.2 million in accordanit FASB ASC 820, using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigtged average assumptions:

Volatility 3%
Expected life 1.00 yea
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.12%

The gain (loss) for the years ended September@®0L,2010 and 2009 recognized in earnings amount§d28,944, $(31,314) and $145,:
respectively.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income (losagdordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 2R@porting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incam# gains (losses) on available-8ate marketable securities and is presented i
consolidated statements of changes in permanerktsitiers’ equity.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other tmgeand services at the pointsafie
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from myprahbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdgem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received fthenthird party hosting company or from the cresitd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyiderot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteavetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emined estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertisingent are recognized when the issue is publisimedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo atioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Potiies — continued
Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes asidevenues and an equal expense in accordanceFABIB ASC 605,Revenu
Recognitior. Total sales and liquor taxes aggregated $6.0omjl$5.6 million and $4.5 million for the yearsded September 30, 2011, 2
and 2009, respectively.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primariljngosed of costs related to public advertisemenid giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing ezyges are expensed as incurred and are includempérating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with FASB ASC 74@come Taxes Deferred tax assets ¢
liabilities are recognized for the future tax camsences attributable to differences between thanfiral statement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebaBeferred tax assets and liabilities are medsusang enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodifferences are expected to be recovered oreseflihe effect on deferred tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognim@dncome in the period that includes the enactnuizté. In addition, a valuation allowanc
established to reduce any deferred tax asset fahwhis determined that it is more likely thantribat some portion of the deferred tax &
will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presorda minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being re@ay in the financial statements. FASB ASC 74® @sovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penaldesounting in interim periods, disclosure andhgiton. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consadéinancial statements.

Equity Method of Accounting for Investments

Investments in companies in which the company h2@% to 50% interest are carried at cost, adjustethe Company's proportionatbare ¢
their undistributed earnings or losses. The 40%stment in one company is recorded in other assetss a nominal amount.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company has issued icéstr common shares as partial consideration fquiations of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderushsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrels or, if management elects not to do so, thegehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wtiiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhise shares in accordance with the guidance lisbiat by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equitas a reclassification of the value of the sharesfpermanent to temporary equity. As the shareerhe
due, the Company transfers the value of the shrrrelsto permanent equity. Also see “Derivativedhitial Instruments” above.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Picies — continued
Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per shareciordance with FASB ASC 26&arnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per shHaasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniamdmputed by dividing income availabl
common stockholders by the weighted average numbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Diutarnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shamethe earnings of the Company. Potential commockssbares consist of shares that may
from outstanding dilutive common stock options avafrants (the number of which is computed using“treasury stock method’and fron
outstanding convertible debentures (the number lithvis computed using the “if converted method)luted earnings per share (“ERS”
considers the potential dilution that could ocduhe Companys outstanding common stock options, warrants andertible debentures we
converted into common stock that then shared irCii@panys earnings (loss) (as adjusted for interest expeéhaewould no longer occur
the debentures were converted).

Net earnings (loss) applicable to common stockthadveighted average number of shares used for badidiluted earnings (loss) per sh
computations are summarized in the table thatviallo
(in thousands, except per share d FOR THE YEAR ENDELC
SEPTEMBER 30
2011 2010 2009
Basic earnings per shal

Income from continuing operations attributable tok® shareholder $ 10,04. $ 3,64t % 7,65¢
Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxes (2,195 (11,609 (2,446
Net income attributable to Rick's shareholc $ 7,84¢ % (7,95¢) $ 5,20¢
Average number of common shares outstanding 9,93( 9,69 9,26¢
Basic earnings (loss) per sha
Income from continuing operations attributable tok® shareholder $ 1.01 $ 0.3t $ 0.8¢
Discontinued operatior $ (0.22) $ (1.20) $ (0.26)
Net income (loss) attributable to Rick's sharehid $ 0.7¢ $ (0.82) $ 0.5¢
Diluted earnings per shat
Income from continuing operations attributable tok® shareholder $ 10,04. $ 3,64t $ 7,65¢
Adjustment to net earnings from assumed convergialebentures (1 - - -
Adjusted income from continuing operatic 10,04: 3,64t 7,65¢
Discontinued operations (2,195 (11,609 (2,446
Adjusted net income (loss) attributable to Rickiareholder: $ 7,84¢ $ (7,95¢) $ 5,20¢
Average number of common shares outstanc
Common shares outstandi 9,93( 9,69 9,26¢
Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercitgarrants and options (. 2 - 162
Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversibidebentures (: - - -
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 9,93 9,691 9,42¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per sha
Income from continuing operations attributable tok® shareholders $ 1.01 $ 0.3t $ 0.81
Discontinued operations $ (0.22) $ (1.20) $ (0.26)
Net income (loss) attributable to Rick's sharehi $ 0.7¢ $ (0.82) $ 0.5¢

*EPS may not foot due to rounding.
Additional shares for options, warrants and delrestamounting to 1,533 for the year ended Septe8the2011 were not considered since
they would be antidilutive.

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive cdilersecurities that would not occur if they wassumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options were @dered for the EPS computation.

(3) Convertible debentures (principal and accrirgdrest) outstanding at September 30, 2011, 20102909 totaling $7,210, $9,565 i
$7,892, respectively, were convertible into comnsbock at a price of $10.25 and $10.00 in 2011, 238 &nd $12.00 per share in 2
and $8.75 and $12.00 in 2009. No debentures wkrttvd in the three years.
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B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
Stock Options

At September 30, 2011, the Company has stock aptiastanding, which are described more fully irteNlo The Company accounts for
stock options under the recognition and measuremantipals of fair value set forth in FASB ASC Top718 Compensation -Stocl
Compensation The compensation cost recognized for the yede& September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $84255,229 and $96,11
respectively. There were 25,000, 20,000 and 300&00k option exercises for the years ended Semer8b, 2011, 2010 and 20
respectively.

Fair Value Accounting

In December 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (B3@), Fair Value MeasurementsSFAS No. 157 clarifies the definition of fair val
describes methods used to appropriately measure/die, and expands fair value disclosure requér@s) but does not change exis
guidance as to whether or not an instrument idezhat fair value. For financial assets and ligiedi, SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal ye
beginning after November 15, 2007, which requifegl Company to adopt these provisions in fiscal 26@® nonfinancial assets and liabilit
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years begimgnafter November 15, 2008, which required the Camga adopt these provisions in fis
2010.

SFAS No. 157 establishes a thtes-fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes thepurts used in the valuation methodologies in meaguiail
value:

Level 1- Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (wretdf) for identical assets or liabilities in aetimarkets
Level 2—- Include other inputs that are directly or indirgaibservable in the marketplac
Level 3— Unobservable inputs which are supported by littl@a@market activity

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entitynaximize the use of observable inputs and minintieeuse of unobservable inputs w
measuring fair value.

The Company'’s derivative liabilities have been nueag principally utilizing Level 2 inputs.
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement NoR1Blsiness Combination§SFAS 141"), and Statement No. 168pn-controlling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Stateme, an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 160’ASC 805). SFAS 141R modifies the accour
and disclosure requirements for business combimai@md broadens the scope of the previous stamalamply to all transactions in which ¢
entity obtains control over another business. SA&S establishes new accounting and reporting stedadar noneontrolling interests |
subsidiaries. The Company was required to applyptbgisions of the new standards in the first qeraof fiscal 2010. Early adoption was
permitted for these new standards. The adoptiahede standards did not have a material impach@m¢companying consolidated finan
statements.

In January 2010, new guidance was issued regandipgoving disclosures about fair value measuremdris standard amends the disclo
guidance with respect to fair value measurementsb@ith interim and annual reporting periods. Speallfy, this standard requires n
disclosures for significant transfers of assetdiabilities between Level 1 and Level 2 in the faalue hierarchy; separate disclosures
purchases, sales, issuance and settlements of Befal value items on a gross rather than netisbasmd more robust disclosure of
valuation techniques and inputs used to measurellZ2wand Level 3 assets and liabilities. Excepttfar detailed disclosures of change
Level 3 items, which were effective as of Octobg?d11, the remaining new disclosure requirememi®wffective as of October 1, 2010.

In September 2011 new guidance was issued regatidéngoodwill impairment testing for reporting wifThis guidance gives the entity
option to perform a qualitative assessment andruéte that it is more likely than not that the fa@lue of a reporting unit is less thar
carrying amount. This guidance is effective forenm and annual periods beginning after Decembe2@5%1. The Company will early ad
this guidance beginning with our Form 10-Q for tfuarter ending December 31, 2011.

In June 2011 new guidance was issued regardindisic®sure of the components of comprehensive icdrhis guidance gives the entity
option to present the total of comprehensive incaime components of net income, and the comporedrdather comprehensive income eil
in a single continuous statementooimprehensive income or in two separate but cotisecstatements. In either option, an entity isuiezp tc
present each component of net income along witl twt income, eactomponent of other comprehensive income along witbtal for othe
comprehensive income, and a total amount for cohgmsive income. This guidance eliminates the optiiopresent the components of o
comprehensive income as part of the statementarfgds in stockholdergquity. This guidance does not change the itermstliat be reporte
in other comprehensive income or when an item b&otomprehensive income must be reclassified togneeme. This guidance is effect
for interim and annual periods beginning after Deler 15, 2011 and is required to be adopted regatiyely. The Company will adopt tl
guidance beginning with our Form 10-Q for the gelaending March 31, 2012.



C. Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform to the current year presentation, pagityin relation to discontinued operations.
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D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in thousands, except per share d September 3(
2011 2010
Buildings and lanc $ 48,007 $ 39,15¢
Leasehold improvemen 16,39¢ 15,207
Furniture 3,93¢ 2,95¢
Equipment 14,35: 11,96(
Total property and equipme 82,69: 69,27¢
Less accumulated depreciati 16,80( 12,49
Property and equipment, r $ 65,89: $ 56,78¢

E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thiofahg:

(in thousands

September 3(
2011 2010
Indefinite useful lives
Goodwill $ 23,55( % 21,02:
Licenses 42,09: 40,74(
Amortization
Period
Definite useful lives
Discounted lease 18 & 6 years 46 64
Unamortized non-compete agreements 5 years 1,04 1,07t
Total goodwill and intangible assets $ 66,73 $ 62,90(
(in thousands 2011 2010
Licenses Goodwill Licenses Goodwill
Beginning balanc $ 40,740 $ 21,02. $ 41,05¢ $ 20,32(
Intangibles acquire 1,15C 2,731 3,45¢ 701
Impairment - - (3,579 -
Other 202 (202) (203) -
Ending balance $ 42.09. $ 23,65( $ 40,74C $ 21,02!

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization atebeiper 30, 2011 for each of the years ir
five-year period ending September 30, 2015 andetfear is (in thousands): 2012 - $438, 2013 - $2084 - $162, 2015 - $122, 2016 71$
and thereafter - $22.
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E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets— continued

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets sish of sexually oriented business licenses or gilbdvhich were obtained as part of -
acquisitions. These licenses are the result ofrepordinances, thus are valid indefinitely, subjectiling annual renewal applications, wh
are done at minimal costs to the Company. As das¥sfare expected to continue indefinitely, in ademce with FASB ASC 350ntangibles -
Goodwill and Other, the licenses are determined to have indefinieguldives. The discounted cash flow method of imeoapproach was us
in calculating the value of these licenses in dr®ss combination. Impairment of intangible assets $3,574,000 as of September 30, Z
representing the impairment of the Philadelphidclu

F. Long-term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of:

September 3(
(in thousands 2011 2010

Notes payable at-11%, mature August 201 * % 1,70: $ 1,83¢
Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014 ancddaf015 * 2,46( 2,54¢
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012, colliderhby assets of RCI Entertainment Nc¢

Carolina, Inc 61 114
Note payable at 7.5%, matured August 2 * - 82¢
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2 * 28¢ 312
Note payable at 7.25%, matures May 2! * 1,432 1,67¢
Notes payable at 14%, mature November 30, 201{&teadlized by stocks of Miami Garde

Square One, Inc. and Stellar Management, 9,50¢ 10,00(
Note payable at 6.15%, matures February 2028, tecdlized by an aircra 1,40¢ 1,45¢
Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime5%y7(7.5% at September 30, 2011), mati

April 2013 * 3,34t 3,43¢
Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime%$7(7.5% at September 30, 2011), mat

June 201! * 4,01¢ 4,12¢
Convertible note payable at 10%, matured Octob&0. * - 125
Note payable at 8¢ - 2,42
4% notes payable converted from put opti - 10t
Note payable at 7%, matures April 2C * 2,07¢ 2,16¢
Note payable at 6.3%, matures June 2030, collaerthby an aircrai 502 51k
Notes payable at 4.75-7.25%, mature December 2014 and September * 1,81¢ 2,21:
10% convertible debentur: 6,18¢ 8,80¢
Convertible note payable from a related party &1fhatures August 1, 2014 75C -
Total debi 35,55¢ 42,68¢
Less current portio 5,494 7,88:
Total lon¢-term debt $ 30,06( $ 34,80

* Collateralized by real estate
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

Following is a summary of loi-term debt at September &
(in thousands

2011 2010
Secured by real este $ 17,13t $ 19,27
Secured by stock in subsidie 9,50¢ 10,00(
Other 8,91( 13,41«

$ 3555 $  42,68¢

On October 12, 2007, the Company borrowed $1 milfiom an investment company under terms of a 16ftertible debenture. Interest o
is payable quarterly until the principal plus a@titinterest is due in nine equal quarterly paymbatinning in October 2008. The deben
was subject to optional redemption at any timere@&6 days from the date of issuance at 100% ofptirecipal face amount plus accrt
interest. The debenture plus any outstanding cdibleiinterest was convertible by the holder intares of the Compang’common stock
any time prior to the maturity date at the convargirice of $12 per share. The note was paid wfihd the year ended September 30, 2011.

On April 29, 2009, the Company entered into a miodifon to two secured promissory notes wherebydhe date for the $5 million
principal due and payable by the Company under @atd was extended by two years from November 2018ovember 2012. All oth
terms and conditions of the promissory notes renthé same. The Company paid a total of $150,00@6h¢o holders of the notes
consideration for their agreement to extend theesdor two years through November 2012. The $18D0aid will be amortized as
adjustment of interest expense over the remairfagf the notes. The Company accounted for fi@iegaction in accordance with FASB A
470,Debt.

On September 30, 2010, the two secured promisssgsmwere modified again. Under the modified tetinespromissory notes become 10
amortized facilities that provides for equal mogthhyments and will be fully paid on September 3WR0, rather than a balloon payment
the entire amount that would have been due on Nbeer80, 2012. Interest on the modified note resainl4 percent. The Company |
each holder $50,000 as consideration for enteritgythe extension. The $100,000 paid will be aiped as an adjustment of interest exp
over the remaining life of the notes. The Compaogounted for this transaction in accordance wRBB ASC 470 Debt.

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Clubiril Dallas, the Company acquired the Real PropedinfWire Way, LLC, a Texas limits
liability company (“Wire Way”). Pursuant to a Rdadtate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “ReakeEsteeement”dated May 10, 2008, t
Company paid total consideration of $6 million, eiwas paid $1.6 million in cash and $4.4 millibmough the issuance of a five (5) y
promissory note (the “Promissory NoteThe Promissory Note bears interest at a varying aathe greater of (i) two percent (2%) above
Prime Rate or (ii) seven and one-half percent (J,5%ich is guaranteed by the Company and by Eaiggan, the Compary'Chief Executiv
Officer, individually.

On August 6, 2009, the Company completed the dad@ aggregate of $7.2 million in 10% Convertiblet2ntures (the “2009 Debenturesy)
certain accredited investors (the “HoldersQn April 16, 2010, the Company sent a Notice of &wption to all of the Holders, there
exercising its right to redeem all of the 2009 Dehbees, including the entire outstanding princigadount of all the 2009 Debentures and
accrued but unpaid interest thereon. Upon readiptich Notice of Redemption, all of the Holderereised their right to convert the princi
amount plus all accrued but unpaid interest therddhe 2009 Debentures at the conversion pric80f5 per share in lieu of receiving a ¢
payment (pursuant to the terms of the 2009 Debes}ueffective as of May 3, 2010. Accordingly, ay 4, 2010, the Company issuec
aggregate of 842,972 shares of its common stotkete Holders, in conversion of an aggregate & Billion of outstanding principal and
aggregate of $176,000 of outstanding interest ah 009 Debentures. As a result of this converdtoen Company made no cash paymer
the Holders in connection with the Notice of Redémp Concurrent with the retirement of the debg Company was required to write off
interest expense, the unamortized portion of iested loan origination costs, amounting to $274,425

In connection with the sale of the 2009 Debentutfes,Company also issued an aggregate of 164,56@rdeble warrants (the “Warrantg)
the Holders, on a pro-rata basis. The Companyedsach Holder a number of Warrants equal 20% of the number of shares of comi
stock into which each Holdex’Debenture is convertible. The Warrants havexancese price of $8.75 and expire on August 5, 20T
Warrants provide that the Company has the righétpire exercise of the Warrants if the closing@nf the Compang’ common stock for :
consecutive trading days is at least $12.25.
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

The $8.75 conversion price for the 2009 Convertibébentures was in excess of the market pricetatafassuance of $8.09. The benefi
conversion was calculated by comparing the “effectionversion pricedf the debenture to the actual stock price at teshction date. T
“effective conversion priceivas calculated by dividing the fair value of thétleafter deducting the fair value of the debt distt due to th
issuance of warrants with the debt in the amour$ic®9,178, by the convertible shares. The regulii8.09 was equal to the stock price a
transaction date; therefore, there was no benktioiaversion feature.

The fair value of the warrants issued in the tratisa were estimated to be $539,178 at the datganit using a Black-Scholes optipricing
model using the following weighted average assuongti

Volatility 90%
Expected live: 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate: 1.62%

The fair value of the warrants has been recogna=ed discount to the debt and was being amortigedtarest expense over the life of
debt. Upon conversion, the unamortized portiothefdiscount amounting to $404,383 was chargedddaianal paid-in capital.

In connection with the acquisition of Joy Club afigtin (now Ricks Cabaret) in December 2009 (Note N), the Compasyraed and entet
into certain notes payable aggregating $2.5 millidhese notes bear interest at rates ranging &@%26 to 7.25% and are payable in mor
installments aggregating $42,461, including inter@he notes mature in December 2014 and Septe2@dér.

In April 2010, the Company acquired the real esfatethe club in Austin, Texas formerly known asiRe Cabaret, now operated abht
Mansion”. In connection with the purchase, the Company execatnote to the seller amounting to $2.2 millibhe note is collateralized
the real estate and is payable in monthly instaibsi¢hrough April 2013 of $19,774, including pripal and interest at the prime rate plus 4
with a minimum rate of 7%.

In June 2010, the Company borrowed $518,192 fréem@er. The funds were used to purchase an airditaft debt bears interest at 6.30% '
monthly principal and interest payments of $3,888ibning July 2010. The note matures in June 2030.

On June 25, 2010, the Company completed the sa@ aiggregate of approximately $9.2 million in 1@¥nvertible Debentures (th01(
Debentures”) to certain accredited investors (2@10 Holders”). The 2010 Debentures bear interest at the rate %f @€ annum and matt
on June 25, 2013. The 2010 Debentures are payathieone initial payment of interest only due Dedsm 26, 2010, and, thereafter in
equal quarterly principal payments, plus accruegrast thereon. At the option of the 2010 Holdehg principal amount of the 20
Debentures and the accrued but unpaid interestdhenay be converted into shares of the Comarynmon stock at $10.25 per share.
2010 Debentures are redeemable by the Company dinam if the closing price of its common stock 0 consecutive trading days is at |
$13.47 per share. Considering the cost of thecised warrants and issue costs explained belogv effective interest rate on the 2
Debentures is 13.1%.

In connection with the sale of the 2010 Debentineline 2010, the Company also issued an aggrefa#9,513 warrants (the “Warrantst)
the 2010 Holders, on a prata basis. The Company issued each Holder a nuofibéarrants equal to 20% of the number of shafesmmol
stock into which each Holdex'2010 Debenture is convertible. The Warrants laavexercise price of $10.25 and expire on Jun@@E3. Th
Warrants provide that the Company has the righetupiire exercise of the Warrants if the closing@iif the Compang’common stock for &
consecutive trading days is at least $14.35.

The conversion price for the 2010 Convertible Debeys was determined by negotiation with the coedit The $10.25 conversion price wa
excess of the market price at date of issuanc®3f3$ The beneficial conversion was calculateddiyparing the “effective conversion price”
of the debenture to the actual stock price atrdmestiction date. The “effective conversion pris&’s calculated by dividing the fair value of
debt, after deducting the fair value of the delsicdunt due to the issuance of warrants with the delthe amount of $462,724, by
convertible shares. The resulting $9.74 was allowetock price at the transaction date; theretbere was no beneficial conversion feature.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t&$484,571 in accordance with FASB ASC 8Eajr Value Measurementsusing a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigtged average assumptions:
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

Volatility 68%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.18%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and will be amortizeer ahe life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the 2010 DebenturédMarrants in June 2010 are intended to be ulilteemake future acquisitions, and r
be utilized for working capital and general corgienaurposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $460,000, which was capitalized as lorigination cost and will |
amortized over the life of the debt, in connectiwith advising the Company regarding the June 2(dleé sf the 2010 Debentures
Warrants. The proceeds from the sale of the Debestand Warrants are intended to be utilized t&enfature acquisitions, and may
utilized for working capital and general corporpteposes.

In August 2011, the Company borrowed $750,000 femmemployee. The note bears interest at the fai®% per annum and matures
August 1, 2014. The note is payable with oneahjiayment of interest only due January 1, 2014, "rereafter in ten interestily quarterl
payments. The principal is payable on August 1.420At the option of the holder, the principal ambof the note and the accrued but un
interest thereon may be converted into shareseof0bmpanys common stock at $10.00 per share. The notedeereable by the Compe
after six months at any time if the closing pri¢ét® common stock for 20 consecutive trading dayet least $13.00 per share.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of fillowing: (in thousands)

2012 $ 5,494
2013 13,54:
2014 2,41¢
2015 3,65¢
2016 1,30¢
Thereaftel 9,13¢
Total maturities of long-term debt, net of debtcdisnt $ 35,55«

G. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes on continuing operet consisted of the following for the years en8egitember 30:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009
Current $ 1,627 $ 2,57¢ $ 3,16(
Deferred 3,77¢ 422 853
Total income tax expen: $ 540: $ 2,99¢ $ 4,01%

Income tax expense on continuing operations diffen the “expectedincome tax expense computed by applying the Uerfd statutor
rate of 34% to earnings before income taxes foy#as ended September 30 as a result of the fiolipw

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009
Computed expected tax expel $ 532 $ 2347 $ 4,067
State income taxe 14C 10t 15z
Stock option disqualifying dispositions and otherrpanen
differences (60) 54€ (207)
Total income tax expen: $ 540: $ 2,99¢ $ 4,01

54




RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

G. Income Taxes- continued
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€teemporary differences between the carrying amewftassets and liabilities for financ

reporting purposes and the amounts used for incaxepurposes. The significant components of then@anys deferred tax assets
liabilities at September 30 were as follows:

(in thousands 2011 2010
Deferred tax assets (liabilities
Definite and indefinite lived intangible $ (14,379 $ (8,83¢)
Property and equipme (8,660) (6,729
Patron tay 2,241 1,23¢
Net operating loss carryforward and ot 2,954 54¢
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (17,839 $ (13,789
The net deferred taxes are recorded in the balksimeets as follows:
(in thousands 2011 2010
Current assel $ 519t $ 1,50¢
Long-term liabilities (23,039 (15,289
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (17,839 $ (13,789

Included in the Compang’deferred tax liabilities at September 30, 2014pigroximately $14.4 million representing the té#ee of indefinite
lived intangible assets from club acquisitions whi@re not deductible for tax purposes. These oEfetax liabilities will remain in tr
Company’s balance sheet until the related clubsaid

The Company may recognize the tax benefit from tagetax positions only if it is at least moredlk than not that the tax position will
sustained on examination by the taxing authoritiesed on the technical merits of the position. Ehxebenefits recognized in the finan
statements from such a position should be measiased on the largest benefit that has a greateffiftya percent likelihood of being realiz
upon settlement with the taxing authorities. Weoggtze accrued interest related to unrecognizedbtnefits as a component of inte
expense. We recognize penalties related to unréoedytax benefits as a component of miscellanencgnie (expense) in accordance
regulatory requirements.

The Company recognizes interest accrued relateshitecognized tax benefits in interest expense amdlpes in operating expenses. Du
the years ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2@ ompany recognized no interest and penaltiesifoecognized tax benefits. 1
Company or one of its subsidiaries files incomeretyarns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and vas states. The last three years remain
to tax examination.

For tax purposes, the Company has recognized &dodax purposes of approximately $13.5 milliom fbe year ended September 30, -

upon the closing of the Las Vegas club. The lodisrasult in a loss for tax purposes for the yeimpproximately $2.3 million. This loss v
be carried forward to the subsequent year for tapgses.
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H. Put Options and Temporary Equity

As part of certain of the Company’s acquisitiomgactions, we have entered into Lock-Up/L&ak- Agreements with the sellers pursuail
which, on or after a contractual period after thesing date, the seller shall have the right, lttthe obligation, to have the Company purc
from seller a certain number of our shares of comistock issued in the transactions in an amountaardrate of not more than a contrac
number of the shares per month (the “Monthly ShHareslculated at a price per share equal to a eshial value per share(&lue of thi
Rick’s Shares”) At our election during any given month, we may eitbuy the Monthly Shares or, if we elect not tg tlue Monthly Share
from the seller, then the seller shall sell the khbnShares in the open market. Any deficiency lestmthe amount which the seller rece
from the sale of the Monthly Shares and the valuthe shares shall be paid by us within three (Bifess days of the date of sale of
Monthly Shares during that particular month. Ouliggdiion to purchase the Monthly Shares from théeBehall terminate and cease at ¢
time as the seller has received a contractual atrfoam the sale of the Rick’s Shares and any deficy. Under the terms of the Lock-Up/Leak-
Out Agreements, the seller may not sell more thaardractual number of our shares per 30-day pereghrdless of whether the seller “Puts”
the shares to us or sells them in the open marlaherwise.

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiatdf terms of certain of our long term debt ansigmificant portion of outstanding
options. Before the renegotiation, the maximumigattion that could be owed if our stock were val@dzero was $13.9 million and v
recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temp&quity. After the renegotiation, the maximutligation that could be owed if c
stock were valued at zero was $3.2 million at Septr 30, 2011. If we are required to buy back ehyhese put options, the bipack
transaction will be purely a balance sheet tramsacaffecting only Temporary Equity or Derivatiz@bility and StockholdersEquity and wil
have no income statement effect. The only incotatement effect from these put options is the “mtarknarket”valuation quarterly of t
derivative liability as explained in Note B of Netto Consolidated Financial Statements.

Following is a schedule of the annual obligatiofiefathe renegotiation) we would have if our stqoice remains in the future at the clos
market price on September 30, 2011 of $6.65 peaeslo which there can be no assurance: (This deduthe derivative financial instrume
recognized in our consolidated balance sheet ae8dyer 30, 2011.)

For the Year Ended September 30: (in thousa

2012 $ 2,192
2013 14¢€
Total $ 2,34(

Each $1.00 per share movement of our stock priseahaaggregate effect of $135,000 on the totagabitn.
I. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftilam (the “1995 Plan”jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an)
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Bland in 2010, the ComparsyBoard of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Opfitam (th:
“2010 Plan”) (collectively, “the Plans”)The 2010 Plan was approved by the shareholderseoCompany at the 2011 Annual Meetin
Shareholders. The options granted under the Playsba either incentive stock options or rpralified options. The Plans are administere
the Board of Directors or by a compensation congaittf the Board of Directors. The Board of Direstbas the exclusive power to se
individuals to receive grants, to establish thengepf the options granted to each participant, ipexV/that all options granted shall be grantt
an exercise price equal to at least 85% of therfirket value of the common stock covered by th&pmn the grant date and to make
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla
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I. Stock Options- continued

Following is a summary of options activity:
Weighted
Average  Aggregate
Weighted Remaining Intrinsic
Average Contractue Value at

Exercise Term Septembe
(in thousands, except exercise prices and contahtims) Options Price (Years) 30, 2011
Outstanding at October 1, 20 42C % 3.8¢
Granted 60 8.7¢
Forfeited (60) 8.2
Exercised (300) 2.4¢
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 12C 7.58
Granted 46F 10.2¢
Forfeited -
Exercised (20) 2.8C
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 56E 9.94
Granted 35 7.1t
Forfeited (55 8.57
Exercisec (25) 7.5E
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 52C $ 10.01 1.06 $ -
Exercisable at September 30, 2011 485 $ 10.21 1.0C $ -

As of September 30, 2011, the range of exercigepifior outstanding options was $7.15 - $10.25.

In July 2009, the Company issued 10,000 stock optto each Director who is a member of the CommAydit Committee, 5,000 options
the Companys other Directors and 10,000 options to an employhese options (60,000 in total) became exerasahlJuly 22, 2010, hac
strike price of $8.75 per share and expired in 20¥1.

The fair value of options issued for the year enfledtember 30, 2009 were estimated to be $17611#@ aate of grant using a Bla8chole
option-pricing model using the following weightedeaage assumptions:

Volatility 9%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.47%

In September 2010, the Company issued 465,000 siotodns under the 2010 Plan to Directors and cedmployees. These options bec
exercisable immediately, have a strike price of.$8(Qper share and expire in September 2012. Tihedhue of options issued for the y
ended September 30, 2011 were estimated to be 4258t the date of grant using a Black-Scholesoogiricing model using the followir
weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 47%
Expected life 1.0 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.27%

In August 2011, the Company issued 35,000 stociooptunder the 2010 Plan to Directors and certaipleyees. These options becc
exercisable in August 2012, have a strike pric1L5 per share and expire in August 2013. Threvidue of options issued for the year er
September 30, 2011 were estimated to be $49,521k atate of grant using a Black-Scholes oppaiing model using the following weight
average assumptions:

Volatility 50%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.1<%
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I. Stock Options- continued

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed far s estimating the fair value of traded optiondiich have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additi@ption valuation models require the input oftlygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because changeshi subjective input assumptions can materialfiecafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do nogéssarily provide a reliable single measure of féie value of its employee sta
options. The expected life of awards granted igts the period of time that they are expectdaetoutstanding. The Company determ
the initial expected life based on a simplified heet in accordance with ASC 718 (also formerly SA® N10,Shared-Based Paymentgiving
consideration to the contractual terms, vestingedules and pre-vesting and pussting forfeitures. The Company has utilized shaplified
method in accordance with ASC 718 for the follownegsons. Earlier in the Company’s existence,doii@rm options (generally year lives
were issued to employees, Directors and outsidarsnore recent years, option terms have genetmiyome shorter (3-year lives) ar
options were issued principally to management am@didrs. Then in 2010, short-term optionsyéar lives) were issued to Directc
management and a substantial number of employ@es.to the changes in the terms of the option grand the type of persons receiving
options, we believe that the historical exercistadaay no longer provide a reasonable basis upachvtb estimate expected term. Therel
the Company believes that the use of the simplifiethod for determining the expected term of then@any’s options has been appropriate.

During the years ended September 30, 2011, 201@@0@, the Company recorded $8,254, $405,229 a6d $9 of stocksased compensatic
respectively. Unamortized stock compensation expansounted to $41,267 at September 30, 2011.

J.  Commitments and Contingencie
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and faciliteler operating leases, of which rent expenseawpsoximately $3.0 million, $2.7 millic
and $2.2 million for the years ended SeptembefB01, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Rent expenstanéoCompanys operating leases, wh
generally have escalating rentals over the terntheflease, is recorded using the stralgte-method over the initial lease term whereb
equal amount of rent expense is attributed to @a&ctod during the term of the lease, regardlesshan actual payments are made. Gene
this results in rent expense in excess of cash pasrduring the early years of a lease and rergresgpless than cash payments in the
years. The difference between rent expense recedj@nd actual rental payments is recorded as tithg-term liabilities in the consolidat
balance sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $apéz 30, 2011 are as follows:

(in thousands)

2012 $ 2,34«
2013 2,29¢
2014 2,08¢
2015 1,291
2016 1,05¢
Thereafter 5,152

Total future minimum lease obligations $ 14,22

Legal Matters

Beginning January 1, 2008, the Companykxas clubs became subject to a new state laviriregjeach club to collect and pay a $5 surct
for every club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by thEexas Entertainment Association (“TEA'an organization to which the Company

member, alleging the fee amounts to be an uncatistial tax. On March 28, 2008, a State Distriou@ Judge in Travis County, Texas rt
that the new state law violates the First Amendnterthe United States Constitution and is therefovalid. The judges order enjoined ti
State from collecting or assessing the tax. TlseSappealed the Couwstruling. In Texas, when cities or the State gietice of appeal,
supersedes and suspends the judgment, includin@ijtivection. Therefore, the judgment of the DisttrCourt cannot be enforced until

appeals are completed. Given the suspension glitlggnent, the State has opted to collect the émdmg the outcome of its appeal but te
no affirmative action to enforce that decision. Jume 5, 2009, the Court of
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J.  Commitments and Contingencies- continued

Legal Matters - continued

Appeals for the Third District (Austin) affirmeddtDistrict Court’s judgment that the Sexually Otash Business (“S.0.B."ee violated tt
First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution but on Asig26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversefltiggnent of the Court of Appee
ruling that the SOB Fee does not violate the FArsendment to the U.S. Constitution, and remandec:#se to the District Court to detern
whether the fee violates the Texas Constitution.

The TEA has appealed the Texas Supreme Court'sidedo the U.S. Supreme Court (regarding the @oitisihality of the fee under the Fi
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution). Additionaltyr claims regarding the Texas Constitution hasteyet been addressed by the courts.
do not plan to make any payments of these taxeke e case is pending in the courts. However, wecantinue to accrue and expense
potential tax liability on our financial statemeng® any ultimate negative ruling will not have affect on our income statement and will ¢
affect our balance sheet. If the decision is ultetyafound in our favor, as we believe it will teen we will have a ontme gain of the entil
amount previously expensed.

The Company has paid the tax for the first fiveendlr quarters under protest and expensed the the iaccompanying consolidated finar
statements, except for two locations in Dallas witae taxes have not been paid, but the Compaagcisiing and expensing the liability.
the subsequent quarters, as a result of the ThordtsS decision, the Company accrued the fee, but digpap the State. As of September
2011, the Company has approximately $6.8 millioadorued liabilities for this tax. Patron tax empe amounted to $2.9 million, $2.8 mill
and $1.8 million for the years ended Septembef801, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Companyhasmore than $2 million to the St
of Texas since the inception of the tax. The Corgfmiiexas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit agties$tate in which we raise additic
challenges to the statute imposing the fee oraa# demand repayment of the taxes. The courts haveet addressed these additi
claims. If the State’s appeal ultimately failsvee are successful in the remaining litigation, @@mpanys current amount paid under pro
would be repaid or applied to future admissiongad other Texas state tax liabilities.

In September 2011, the Company’s subsidiary, RGeEinment Las Vegas, Inc. (“RCI Las Vegas”) aridkRs Cabaret International we
sued by the lessor of its club in Las Vegas foabheof contract and other issues relating to RGlVegaslease. RCI Las Vegas has no a:
and, therefore, is not able to pay the “deficiendgfyany is ultimately found in a court of law. Iféhplaintiff should attempt to claim that
“deficiency” is a liability of the parent company, the Compamjidves it has the legal basis upon which to rethie claim as the pare
company is not liable for the debts of its subsidi& Therefore, the Company does not believettis contingency will ultimately result ir
liability and, therefore, no accrual has been nmadbe accompanying financial statements.

In September 2011, the Company and its CEO wer isuBistrict Court in Travis County Texas by a sHelder for damages as a result o
plaintiff' s alleged inability to sell shares on the open mtackie to restrictive legends which the plaintifeges that the defendants failec
remove in a timely manner. No specific damage®Hhaeen alleged. The Company denies any liabilitthis matter and, with its insurai
company, is vigorously defending the allegations.

Tax Matters

The Companys subsidiary that operated the club in Las Vegasréeently been audited by the Department of Taraif the State of Neva
for sales and other taxes. The audit period was fthe date of opening in September 2008 through3Iy 2010. As a result of the audit,
Department of Taxation contends that the Compahgs Vegas subsidiary owes approximately $2.lianillincluding penalties and inter¢
for Las Vegas Live Entertainment Taxes. The Comgmdoes not believe it is subject to the Live Ertiennent Tax and is protesting the a
results. Accordingly, the Company has not accrthes contingent liability in the accompanying coidated financial statements. It
unknown at this time whether the resolution of timgertainty will have a material effect on the Qamy’s operations.
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K. Segment Information

The following information is presented in accordamith FASB ASC 280Segment Reportinghe Company is engaged in adult nightclubs,
adult entertainment websites (“Internet”) and aéuliertainment magazines and trade shows (“MedT&$. Company has identified such
segments based on management responsibility anththee of the Company’s products, services antscdlere are no major distinctions in
geographical areas served as all operations dheibnited States. The Company measures segméditt(foss) as income (loss) from
operations. Total assets are those assets codtlleach reportable segment.

The following table sets forth certain informatiabout each segment’s financial information foryhars ended September 30:

(in thousand: 2011 2010 2009
Business segment revenu
Nightclubs 81,77: 72,06 63,37(
Internet 47C 562 641
Media 1,24¢ 1,44( 1,404

$ 83490 $ 74,060 $ 6541

2011 201C 200¢
Business segment operating income (lc
Nightclubs 22,47 15,35! 17,83¢
Internet (86) 76 162
Media (67) (15€) (247)
General corporat (3,529 (3,880) (2,729

$ 1879+ $ 1139 $§ 15,03t

2011 201C 200¢
Business segment capital expenditu
Nightclubs 11,37¢ 4,45¢ 1,48
Internet 4 3 5
General corporat 151 1,464 15€

$ 1153 $ 592 $ 1,64¢

2011 201( 200¢
Business segment depreciation and amortiza
Nightclubs 3,341 2,782 2,02¢
Internet 4 8 14
Media 2C 20 20
General corporate 53¢ 41F 74€

$ 3,90¢ $ 3,22t § 2,80¢

2011 201(C 200¢
Business segment asse
Nightclubs 125,42¢ 112,15 104,39:
Internet 107 471 20t
Media 778 81¢ 903
Discontinued operatior 112 4,851 22,24:
General corporat 26,95¢ 30,07 17,33:

$ 153,37 $ 148,37. $ 145,07¢

General corporate expenses include corporate agldrealth insurance and social security taxesffarers, legal, accounting and informat
technology employees, corporate taxes and insuréegal and accounting fees, depreciation and atbggorate costs such as automobile
travel costs. Management considers these to balharable costs for segment purposes.
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L. Common Stock

During the year ended September 30, 2009, thewollp common stock transactions occurred:

Stock options totaling 300,000 shares were exatdigeemployees and directors for proceeds of $A%7,The Company acquired 303,
shares of common stock for the treasury at a ddkt.& million. These shares were subsequentiserkt

During the year ended September 30, 2010, thewollp common stock transactions occurred:

Stock options totaling 20,000 shares were exerdigegimployees and directors for proceeds of $56,000

The Company acquired 197,950 shares of common &odke treasury at a cost of $1.6 million. Thebares were subsequently retired.
The Company issued 895,255 shares for principabancled interest to redeem convertible debt anmogitd $7.5 million.

The Company transferred 29,000 shares from temp@auity to permanent equity as a result of theeshéeing sold by the holders into
open market.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, thewollp common stock transactions occurred:

Stock options totaling 25,000 shares were exerdigegimployees and directors for proceeds of $188B,75

The Company acquired 415,384 shares of common &odke treasury at a cost of $3.3 million. Thebares were subsequently retired.
During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Caynipaued 26,320 shares of common stock for dedreggting $269,780.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, the Coynpansferred 70,000 shares aggregating $1.4 amilfrom temporary equity
permanent equity in connection with the settlenoérertain cross-litigation.

M. Employee Retirement Plan
The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plantjich covers all of the Comparsytorporate employees. The Plan allows the corg
employees to contribute up to the maximum amoulowald by law, with the Company making a matchingitdbution of 3% of th
employees salary. Expenses related to matching contribstionthe Plan approximated $55,000, $47,000 ando$87for the years end
September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
N. Acquisitions
2009 Acquisition
On September 30, 2009, the Company’s subsidiary,E@rtainment (North FW), Inc. (the “Purchasepirchased 100% of the outstanc
common shares of Cabaret North, Inc., a Texas catipa (“CNI”). CNI owns and operates an adulteztdinment cabaret known a€dbare
North” (the “Club”), located at 5316 Superior Parkway, Fort Worth, Te@s06. The Company paid the sellers total aggeegansideratic
of $2.3 million (the “Purchase Price”). The Pursh&rice was payable as follows:

0] $140,000 directly to CNI to be used for the paynm#rdgutstanding liabilities

(i) $2 million to the Sellers; ar

(iii) $160,000 to be held in an escrow account to payiabiities or obligations of CNI which were inaed but unpaid as «
Closing and to be held in connection with the oote®f certain pending litigatiol

Also, at closing, each of the sellers entered anfive year Noncompetition Agreement, and CNI obtained a consemhfits landlord to tt

sale of the Shares of CNI by the sellers to thelmser and entered into an addendum to the leasenagnt byand between the CNI and
landlord of the premises where the Club is located.
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The Company incurred $85,228 in costs in connectiitin the acquisition.
The following information summarizes the allocatiohfair values assigned to the assets and ligsliat the acquisition date based ¢
preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments mayrecorded upon the completion of the valuatiod #re final determination of t
purchase price allocation.

(in thousands)

Net current asse $ 24
Property and equipme 20C
Non-compete agreeme 20C
SOB license 1,961
Net assets acquire $ 2,38t

The results of operations of this acquired entifil be included in the Company’consolidated results of operations beginning etd
2009. This acquisition was made to further the @amy's growth objective of acquiring nightclubs that Iwguickly contribute to th
Companys earnings per share. Proforma results of opemtimve not been provided, as the amounts were esmned material to t
consolidated financial statements.

2010 Acquisitions

Joy of Austin

On December 18, 2009, the Company’s wholly owndabisiiary, RCI Entertainment (3105 1-35), Inc. (“RElentered into and closed a St
Purchase Agreement (the “RCI Purchase Agreemerith) 8piridon Karamalegos (“Karamalegos”), the JdukCof Austin, Inc. (*JOY")anc
North IH-35 Investments, Inc. (“NIII")whereby RCI acquired 51% of the outstanding stock@Y and 49% of the outstanding stocl
NIIl. JOY is the owner and operator of the adudgfimclub business known “Joy of Austin” which leases and occupies the real propert
improvements located at 3105 South IH-35, RoundkRdexas 78664 (the “Property”NIll is the owner of the Property and leases
Property to JOY. Contemporaneously with entry itite RCI Purchase Agreement, RCI and Karamalegteyezhinto an Assignment &
Assumption Agreement (the “Assignment Agreementereby Karamalegos assigned to RCI his right tpuie the remaining 49% of t
outstanding stock of JOY and the remaining 51%hef dutstanding stock of NI, which right Karamadegobtained pursuant to a Purct
Agreement entered into between Karamalegos, Evasgdtolycrates (“Polycrates”), JOY and NIl (thePdlycrates Purcha
Agreement”). Pursuant to the RCI Purchase Agreement and thgwssint Agreement, RCI acquired and owns 100% obthstanding stoc
of JOY and 100% of the outstanding stock of NIil.

Pursuant to the terms of the RCI Purchase Agreeamathtthe Assignment Agreement, RCI paid aggregatsideration of $4.5 million, pl
assumption of a promissory note with First StatalB&aylor (the “Purchase Price'fpr the acquisition of JOY and NIIl. The Purchéd&eéce
was payable as follows:

0] $1.8 million by wire transfer to Karamalegt
(i) $880,000 by wire transfer to Polycrat

(iii) $530,000 evidenced by a five (5) yearwed promissory note to Karamalegos, bearing istexethe rate of 4.75% per
annum and payable in sixty (60) equal monthly isants of principal and interest of $9,941 (theatlimalegos Note”)The
Karamalegos Note is secured by a third lien in fasfdaramalegos against the Property and improvesnecated thereon
and a second lien on all of the shares of JOY alid

(iv) $1.3 million evidenced by a five (5) yesgcured promissory note to Polycrates, bearingastet the rate of 4.75% per
annum and payable in sixty (60) equal monthly iirsants of principal and interest of $24,759 (tiRolycrates Note”). The
Polycrates Note is individually guaranteed by Kaa#egos for the first thirty (30) months and is seduby a second lien in
favor of Polycrates against the Property and imenoents located thereon and a first lien on alhefghares of JOY and NI
and
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N. Acquisitions and Dispositions- continued
(V) The assumption of a Promissory Note dated Septetthe004, in the original principal amount of $8BID, executed b
NIl and payable to First State Be-Taylor, which Promissory Note had a current badaoic$652,489 as of the date of
acquisition, and is secured by the Property andorgiments located thereon. The note bears intateise rate of 7.25%,
payable in monthly installments of principal anteiest of $7,761. The interest rate is subjeeidjostment on September
2014 to the rate of prime plus 2.5%. The noteuis a@nd payable on or before September 10, -

Also pursuant to the agreements described aboveankaegos entered into a four (4) year N@wmpetition Agreement with RCI, a
Polycrates entered into a three (3) year Non-CoitretAgreement with RCI.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggslet the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Net current asse $ 44
Property and equipment and other as 2,95¢
Non-compete agreeme 20C
Goodwill 2,031
SOB license: 2,00¢
Deferred tax liability (2,037)
Net assets acquire $ 5,20:¢

The Company incurred approximately $43,000 in legsdts associated with the acquisition, which aduded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofi@perations.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offsethite deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net asset
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is nadwigible for income tax purposes. The resultspdrations of this entity are included in
Company’s consolidated results of operations seeember 18, 2009. This acquisition was made tihéuthe Companyg growth objectiv
of acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribeito the Compang’earnings per share. Proforma results of op&stiave not been provid
as the amounts were not deemed material to theoidated financial statements.

Fort Worth Gentlemeés Club

On June 1, 2010, the Company’s wholly owned suasidRCl Entertainment (3315 North Freeway FW), litise “Purchaser’tompleted th
acquisition of certain assets (the “Purchased ASsef Restaurant Associates, Inc., a Texas cotmorgthe “Seller”)pursuant to an Ass
Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) leet#eirchaser, Seller, Voldar, LLC, a Texas limitadility company (“Voldar”),Sherr
Mofid (“Mofid”), John Faltynski (“Faltynski”) and @mes Noryian (“Noryian”).The Purchase Agreement was executed and closednenl
2010. Seller owned and operated an adult ententaih cabaret known as “Fort Worth Gentleman’s Clftbe “Club”), located at 3315 Nor
Freeway, Fort Worth, Texas 76106 (the “Real Propprt

At closing, Purchaser paid Seller $2.2 million cagtwiretransfer for the Purchased Assets. Purchaseraltsved into two lease agreeme
a lease agreement for the Real Property with Volther “Voldar Lease”and a lease agreement for unimproved property edjdo the Re.
Property (the “Adjacent Property”) with Mofid (tfiMofid Lease”). Each lease agreement has a term of five yearsonihfive year option
extend at the discretion of Purchaser. Each lagseement also grants Purchaser an option to psedha respective properties from Vo
and Mofid. Purchaser may exercise the optionsutcl@ase any time after the twelfth month but betbeeexpiration of the lease agreem
(including their optional extensions). The optitm purchase the Real Property and the option tehase the Adjacent Property mus
exercised contemporaneously. The purchase price exercise of the option to purchase the Real Prpméll range from $4.2 million to $5
million during the fiveyear term. The purchase price upon exercise obptien to purchase the Adjacent Property will rafiggm $500,000 1
$575,000 during the five-year term.

Also pursuant to the agreements described abovéidod Voldar entered into a five-year Non-Comiieti Agreement with RCI.
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The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggsilet the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Net current asse $ 42
Property and equipment and other as 1,301
Non-compete agreeme 20C
Goodwill 61z
Net assets acquire $ 2,15¢

The Company incurred approximately $23,000 in legsdts associated with the acquisition, which aduded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofi@perations.

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Companyg’ consolidated results of operations since Ju2€10. This acquisition w
made to further the Company’s growth objective ofjudring nightclubs that will quickly contribute tthe Companys earnings pi
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed materibe consolidated financial statem:
Golden Productions JGC Fort Worth, LLC

On July 16, 2010, the Company’s wholly owned subsjdRCI Entertainment (Fort Worth), Inc. (“RCI Ediorth or Purchaser'§omplete:
the acquisition of certain assets (the “Purchasedess”)of Golden Productions JGC Fort Worth, LLC, a Tekasted liability compan'
(“Golden Productions”) and VCG Holding Corp., a @aldo corporation (“WCGH”) pursuant to an Assetdhaise Agreement (thé>tirchas
Agreement”)between Purchaser, Golden Productions and VCGH:. Pilichase Agreement was executed and closed ya@u2010. Golde
Productions owned and operated an adult entertaihcabaret known as “Jaguar’s Gold Club Fort Wore “Club”), located at 123z
Calloway Cemetery Road, Fort Worth, Texas, 76048 {Premises”).VCGH owned the improvements on the Premises, imtuthe buildin
and fixtures (the “Improvements”).

At closing, RCI Fort Worth paid aggregate consitlerato Golden Production and/or VCGH for the Pasdd Assets of (1) $1 million cash
wire-transfer and (2) 467,497 shares of common stodkQEH with a fair market value of $794,745, whichrevdneld by the Company. R
Fort Worth also entered into a ground lease agratfoethe land where the Premises is located Bitran S. Foster, the current owner of
land (the “Lease Agreement”YThe Lease Agreement has a term of five years vdatlr bptions to extend the lease for five yearsthe
discretion of RCI Fort Worth. The initial monthfgntal rate during its term is $20,000 per morithe Lease Agreement also grants RCI
Worth or its assigns an option to purchase the feord Mr. Foster, which option may be exercised &me after the 12th anniversary dat
the Lease Agreement and before the expirationet#ase Agreement (including its option term) ptiechase price of fair market value, bt
no event less than $3 million. As a result of pluechase, the Company recorded a bargain purclzseng the transaction of approxima
$214,000 which was offset by a loss on the VCGHeshaAlso at closing, RCI Fort Worth entered a Mmpetition Agreement with v
Foster. The term of the Non-Competition Agreenmerds on September 17, 2012.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggslet the acquisition date.

(in thousands)

Property and equipment and other as $ 1,95¢
Non-compete agreeme 50
Net assets acquire $ 2,00¢

The Company incurred approximately $22,000 in legsdts associated with the acquisition, which aduded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofi@perations.

The results of operations of this entity are inelddh the Compang’ consolidated results of operations since Jul2Q&0. This acquisition w

made to further the Company’s growth objective ofjudring nightclubs that will quickly contribute tthe Companys earnings pi
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed matettlaé consolidated financial statements.
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2011 Acquisitions and Openings

RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)

On January 3, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned isidrges, RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)¢clrf“RCI Dining”) and RCI Holding
Inc. (“RCI") completed the purchase of a new ganti@’s club adjacent to the south end of the DdftasA/orth International Airport and t
purchase of the underlying real property, for agragate price of $4,565,000. A Purchase AgreemedtBuild-toSuit Turnkey Constructic
Agreement had previously been entered into in Déezr8009, which agreement provided for the conibnof the new club and the purch
of the real property located at 15000 Airport FragHighway 183), Fort Worth, Texas.

The following information summarizes the allocatfrfair values assigned to the assets and lissilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 3,12¢
Equipment and sigr 28¢
SOB license 1,15(
Net asset $ 4,56¢

Gold Club of Indy, LLC

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Dinfagrvices (Indiana), Inc. (“RCI Indiana”) and RCbldings, Inc. (“RCI Holdings},
entered into a Third Amendment to Purchase Agreelftiea “Amended Purchase Agreement”) with the Goldb of Indy, LLC (“GCI”), the
Estate of Albert Pfeiffer, deceased, and Lori Péejfpersonal representative of the Estate of AlBéeiffer, deceased, and sole membe
GCI. GCI owned and operated an adult entertainmoaiparet known as “The Gold Cluldgcated at 3551 Lafayette Road, Indianapolis, Ime
46222. GCI also owned the real property where Gbkl Club is located. The Amended Purchase Agreetneansactions closed on April ;
2011, whereby (i) RCI Indiana acquired from Pfaifédl assets which are used for the business of Gale Club for $825,000 and (ii) R
Holdings acquired from GCI the real property whé&re Gold Club is located, including the improvensetitereon, for $850,000, for tc
aggregate consideration of $1,657,000, net of iceaiecrued property taxes.

Also at closing of the Amended Purchase Agreemleo, Pfeiffer entered into a No@ompetition Agreement with RCI Indiana, pursuar
which she agreed not to compete with The Gold @lithin Indianapolis, Indiana or any of the adjaceotnties for a period of five years.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and lissilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 75(
Equipment and furnitur 9C
Noncompete 10C
Goodwill 70¢
Net asset $ 1,64¢

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Companyg’ consolidated results of operations since AprilZ2L1. This acquisitic
was made to further the Company’s growth objectiVeacquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribeitto the Compang’ earnings p
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed matettlaé consolidated financial statements.
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010
N. Acquisitions and Dispositions- continued
2011 Acquisitions and Openings

SchieKs Palace Royale

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Services M#&th Street), Inc., a Minnesota corporation (“R@hnesota”),entered into an Ass
Purchase Agreement with Classic Affairs, Inc., aniMisota corporation (“Classic’and VCG Holding Corp., a Colorado corpora
(“WVCGH?"). Classic is a wholly owned subsidiary ¥CGH and owned and operated an adult entertaingsdrdaret known as “SchiekPalac
Royale,”located at 115 South 4th Street, Minneapolis, Mot The parties amended the Asset Purchaseagréen April 14, 2011 and

May 31, 2011, which amendments reduced the purghdee and extended the closing date of the trdisacThe Asset Purchase Agreem
as amended, closed July 28, 2011, whereby RCI Mitaeacquired substantially all of the assets &ssoltor used in connection with

operation of Schiek’s Palace Royale for the purelmage of $2,875,000.

In connection with the Asset Purchase Agreementiianch 22, 2011, our wholly owned subsidiary, RGildings, Inc. (“RCI Holdings),
entered into a Real Estate Purchase AgreementtlitBtreet Partnership LLLP, a Minnesota limitexbiiity limited partnership (“4th Streét”
which owned the real property where SchieRalace Royale is located. The parties amendeB¢al Estate Purchase Agreement on Ma
2011 and on July 26, 2011. The Real Estate Puechgseement, as amended, closed on July 28, 20drelvy RCI Holdings acquired the 1
property where Schiek’s Palace Royale is located fourchase price of $3,250,000.

At closing of the above transactions, VCGH, Clas3ioy Lowrie (the Chief Executive Officer of VCGH)nd Micheal Ocello (the Ch
Operating Officer and President of VCGH) each estténto a NonEompetition Agreement pursuant to which each agnegdo compete wi
RCI Minnesota, Schiek’s Palace Royale or any oirthffiliates for a period of five years in the sgvcounty, twineity metropolitan area
Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota.

The following information summarizes the allocatmfrfair values assigned to the assets and lisdslat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 3,28(
Equipment and furnitur 52¢€
Noncompete 30C
Goodwill 2,02%
Net asset $ 6,12¢

The results of operations of this entity are inelddh the Compang’ consolidated results of operations since July2@&1. This acquisition w
made to further the Company’s growth objective ofjudring nightclubs that will quickly contribute tthe Companys earnings pi
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed matettlaé consolidated financial statements.

The Company incurred approximately $100,000 inllegats associated with the 2011 acquisition, whaighincluded in legal and professic
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofi@perations.

O. Discontinued Operations

The accompanying consolidated financial statemesitsct the following as discontinued operationsoésind for the years ended Septer
30, 2011 and 2010.

The Company closed its Divas Latinas club in Homstolate September 2009. The Company owns thielibgilocation and the location
currently leased to a tenant. There was no gaiossron the closing of the club.

In March 2011, we made the decision to sell our Yagas location and, in April 2011, sharply redud@sdoperations in order to elimin;
losses as we sought a buyer for the property. cliitewas shuttered and the landlord took over tioperty in June 2011. Therefore, this «
is recognized as a discontinued operation in tlterapanying financial statements and has recograzieds on the closure of $2.0 millior
discontinued operations.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

O. Discontinued Operations- continued

In August 2011, we sold 60% of the membership é@strin the entity that previously operated our RiclCabaret in Austi
Texas. Accordingly, we have deconsolidated thesislidry and have carried it as an equitgthod investment. Accordingly, the clut
recognized as a discontinued operation in the apaoging financial statements.

Following is summarized information regarding th&cdntinued operations:

Revenues of discontinued operations amounted ®riZlion, $8.9 million and $10.8 million for theeprs ended September 30, 2011, 201(
2009, respectively.

(in thousands Year Ended September
2011 2010 2009
Loss from discontinued operatio $ (1,107 $ 919 $ (2,719
Loss on sale of discontinued operatis (2,270 (16,939 (1,049
Income tax - discontinued operations 1,182 6,24¢ 1,317
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of $ (2,199 $ (11,609 $ (2,446
Major classes of assets and liabilities includedssets and liabilities of discontinued operatiassf:
September 3(
2011 2010
Current assets, including deferred tax as $ 33 % 1,09t
Property and equipme 76 2,88¢
Other asset 3 867
Current liabilities (144 (27¢)
Long-term liabilities (33) (310)
Net assets (liabilities $ (65) $ 4,26:

Loss on sale of discontinued operations above sepis actual loss or impairment of the Las VegasAarstin clubs Impairment of the
Philadelphia club is included in continuing opesas in the year ended September 30, 2010.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

P. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year 201:
Quarters Ende

Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C

Revenue! $ 19,66¢ $ 21,58( $ 20,79 $ 21,45:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 2,34¢ % 3,288 % 253 $ 2,08¢
Net income $ 2,07¢ $ 2,92 % 88t $ 1,95¢
Basic income per shar

Income from continuing operatio $ 02: $ 03 $ 02t $ 0.21

Net income $ 021 $ 02¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.2C
Diluted income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 02: % 03: % 02t % 0.21

Net income $ 021 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.2C
Basic weighted average shares outstan 10,04: 9,931 9,92¢ 9,81t
Diluted weighted average shares outstan: 10,04¢ 10,77: 9,941 9,817

Fiscal Year 201!
Quarters Ende

Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C

Revenue! $ 16,84. $ 20,06¢ $ 18,02: $ 19,13:
Income (loss) from continuinoperations $ 1,19¢ $ 2,95¢ % 1,12: $ (1,370
Net income (loss $ 78z % 2,94 % 857 $ (12,549
Basic income (loss) per sha

Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 01z $ 031 $ 011 $ (0.19)

Net income (loss $ 0.0¢ $ 031 % 0.0¢ $ (1.24)
Diluted income (loss) per shal

Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 01z $ 031 % 011 $ (0.19)

Net income (loss $ 0.0¢ $ 031 $ 0.0¢ $ (1.24)
Basic weighted average shares outstan 9,37( 9,31« 9,90¢ 10,15
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 9,38t 9,48¢ 9,95¢ 10,15:

Fiscal Year 200!
Quarters Ende
Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3(

Revenue! $ 15,53. $ 16,60f $ 16,61¢ $ 16,65¢
Income from continuing operatiol $ 143¢ $ 2,13 % 2,14 % 2,231
Net income $ 791 $ 83¢ $ 1,788 $ 1,79:
Basic income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 0.1t $ 02z $ 02: $ 0.2

Net income $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 01¢ $ 0.1¢
Diluted income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 0.1t % 02z $ 02: % 0.2:<

Net income $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
Basic weighted average shares outstan 9,36¢ 9,31« 9,18¢ 9,19¢
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 9,60( 9,48¢ 9,41( 9,21:

The operating results for the quarter ended SepteB®, 2010 were materially affected by the impaintrexpense, amounting to approxime
$20.5 million.

68




RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

Q. Gain on Settlement of Debr

In April 2011, the Company settled certain crbsgation with the former sellers of the Las Vegesb. As a result of the settlement,
Company paid the sellers approximately $1.6 millioncash as full settlement of its obligation undedebt instrument with a remain
principal and interest balance at the time of $2iion. The Company has recorded a gain of appnately $900,000 in the year en
September 30, 2011 as a result of the settlemeaddition, the Company and the sellers agreedrnioa the Lock-up/Leakut Agreement ar
the Companys obligation to purchase from the sellers any efrémaining 70,000 shares which the sellers hdié fiesulted in the Compa
transferring $1.4 million from Temporary Equity Bermanent Equity in the year ended September 34,.20

R. Subsequent Event:

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Diningr8ces (Tarrant County), Inc., a Texas Corporafit®Cl Tarrant County”).entere
into an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Memgetdhits with Fred McDonald (“Sellerjor the purchase of 100% of the member
units of 12291 CBW, LLC (“12291 CBW”). 12291 CBWwvped and operated an adult entertainment cabatrkras “The New West”
located at 12291 Camp Bowie West, Aledo, Texase Algreement for Purchase and Sale of Membershipslhbsed October 5, 20:
whereby RCI Tarrant County acquired the membershits of 12291 CBW for the purchase price of $380,0The Company now operates
BYOB club as “Temptations”.

On November 17, 2011, the Companytholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Dining Servicese(@mons), Inc. ("RCI Stemmons"), RCI Din
Services (Inwood), Inc. ("RCI Inwood") and RCI Digi Services (Stemmons 2), Inc. ("RCI Dining"), eatkinto a Stock Purchase Agreen
with Mr. Thanasi Mantas, Green Star, Inc. ("Gre&ar'$, Fine Dining Club, Inc. ("Fine Dining"”) anddg Star Entertainment Inc. ("Blue Sta
Green Star owns and operates an adult entertaincadatet known as "Silver City Cabaret," located@%21 N. Stemmons Freeway, Dal
Texas 75247. Fine Dining has a concession to peoaldohol sales and services to Green Star atither £ity Cabaret. Blue Star hold:
license to operate an adult cabaret at 1449 InviRmatd, Dallas, Texas 75247. Mr. Mantas owns 100%h®ftock of Green Star, Fine Din
and Blue Star.

Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Mr. Manith sell all the stock of Green Star, Fine Digiand Blue Star to RCI Stemmons, |
Dining and RCI Inwood, respectively, for the aggregpurchase price of $2,000,000 in the form oéehpromissory notes. Each of
promissory notes will be payable over 11 yearstzane an adjustable interest rate of 5.5%. The actitn will close on the later of Januar
2012 or five business days after the Company htsraa all required licenses needed to operat&illwer City Cabaret and an adult cabar:
be located at 1449 Inwood Road.

Adelphi Group Ltd. ("Adelphi”) owns the real profies where the Silver City Cabaret is located, BANY X Limited Partnership ("PNYX'
owns certain real properties at and adjacent t® 1ddood Road. In transactions related to the Stgichase Agreement, Adelphi and PN
each entered into a real estate purchase agreerterihe Companys wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. ("REbldings"), whereb
(i) Adelphi agreed to sell the real properties vehtlre Silver City Cabaret is located to RCI Holdirfgr the aggregate purchase pric
$6,500,000, including $300,000 in cash and $6,ZDiA the form of an adjustable 5.5% promissoryertbat is payable over 11 years, anc
PNYX agreed to sell certain real properties at adghcent to 1449 Inwood Road for the aggregatehases price of $3,500,000, includ
$1,200,000 in cash and $2,300,000 in the form cddjostable 5.5% promissory note that is payabkr @l years. The real estate transac
are to close contemporaneously with the Stock Rwseti\greement.

At closing of the above transactions, Mr. Mantadl emter into a Nonzompetition Agreement providing for him to not coetg with ou

subsidiaries by owning, participating or operateng establishment featuring adult entertainment iwiallas County and all contiguc
counties.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountason Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
There have been no changes in or disagreementagdtuntants on accounting and financial disclasure
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchangg &s of the end of the period covered by #nsual Report on Form 10-Kpanagemel
evaluated, with the participation of our princigakecutive officer and principal financial officehe effectiveness of the design and operati
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedureglédined in Rule 13a5(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on their atigin of thes
disclosure controls and procedures, they have oded that our disclosure controls and procedure® wéective as of the date of s
evaluation.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taigiimg adequate internal control over financigbaing, as such term is defined
Exchange Act Rule 1345(f). Because of its inherent limitations, intdrrntrol over financial reporting may not prevemt detec
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibreffectiveness to future periods are subjectigk that controls may become inadeq
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfeompliance with the policies or procedures rdaeriorate. Management assesse
effectiveness of our internal control over finahecgporting as of September 30, 2011. In making #ssessment, management used the ¢
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizettiof the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) imnternal Control—ntegrated Framewol
”. Based on this assessment, we believe that, asptér8ber 30, 2011, our internal control over finahcéporting was effective based on tf
criteria. Our internal control over financial reppog as of September 30, 2011, has been auditetVbjley Penn LLP, an independ
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtreport which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporthg

During the three months ended September 30, 20ite thave been no changes in our internal contret tinancial reporting that ha
materially affected or are reasonably likely to enetly affect internal control over financial ragiag.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Our Directors are elected annually and hold officdil the next annual meeting of our stockholdersuatil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are appointed by the Board afebtors annually and serve at the discretion efBbard of Directors (subject to any exis

employment agreements). There is no family relatigm between or among any of our directors andwikexofficers. Our Board of Directc
consists of six persons. The following table setthfour Directors and executive officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langar 43 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presit
Phillip Marshall 62 Chief Financial Office

Travis Reesi 42 Director and Executive Vice Preside

Robert L. Watter: 60 Director

Steven Jenkin 54 Director

Luke Lirot 54 Director

Nour-Dean Anaka 54 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 andPresident since March 1999. He has been invalvelde adult entertainment busin
since 1989. From January 1997 through the predenhas held the position of President of XTC Cabdne. From November 1992 ur
January 1997, Mr. Langan was the President of BgtBieauties, Inc. Since 1989, Mr. Langan has esedcimanagerial control over more t
a dozen adult entertainment businesses. Througie thetivities, Mr. Langan has acquired the knowdedgd skills necessary to success
operate adult entertainment businesses.
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Phillip Marshall has served as our Chief Finan€ificer since May 2007. He was previously contnoti& Dorado Exploration, Inc., an oil a
gas exploration and production company, from Fealyr@g@07 to May 2007. He previously served as ChRiafncial Officer of CDT Systern
Inc., a publicly held water technology companynirduly 2003 to September 2006. In 1972, Mr. Matdheadan his public accounting car
with the international accounting firm, KMG Main Himan. After its merger with Peat Marwick, Mr. Maadl served as an audit partne
KPMG for several years. After leaving KPMG, Mr. Mhaell was partner in charge of the audit practicdagkson & Rhodes in Dallas fri
1992 to 2003, where he specialized in small puplield companies. Mr. Marshall is also a trustedJofted Mortgage Trust and Unit
Development Funding IV, publicly held real estatedstment trusts.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been aackr since inception. Mr. Watters was our Prestdand our Chief Executive Officer fr
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters loamed and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsmader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GalorBar & Grill, an adult club located
Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selectiegotiated the property purchase and oversawlgébiggn and permitting for the club t
became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. Mitafgapracticed law as a solicitor in London, Endland is qualified to practice law in N
York. Mr. Watters worked in the international tasogp of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Quw succeeded by Deloitte & Touc
from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in the privadetipe of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 to 1986¢en he became involved in our full-
time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbanSchool of Economics and Political Science, ¥rdity of London, in 1973 with
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 wiMaster of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law Skhaark University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Juf&. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle JenKinsssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Travis Reese became our Director and Executive Yimsident in 1999. From 199frough 1999, Mr. Reese had been a senior ne
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa Rew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsajastems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasigent with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc. li@ernet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continendétlines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was aftpivith Hang On, Inc., an airlii
company. Mr. Reese has an Associate’'s Degree ian&etical Science from Texas State Technical Celleg

Luke Lirot became a Director on July 31, 2007. Mrot received his law degree from the UniversifySan Francisco in 1986. After serving
an intern in the San Francisco Public Defenderfc®in 1986, Mr. Lirot returned to Florida andaslished a private law practice where he
continues to practice and specializes in adultreaitenent issues. He is a past President of thet Aimendment Lawyers’ Association and has
actively participated in numerous state and fedegdl matters.

Nour-Dean Anakar became a Director on September 14,.2Bt0 Anakar has over 20 years of experience inigepositions in th
development and management of betting and gampwissand entertainment, and hospitality and leisyperations in the United Sta
Europe, and Latin America. From 1988 until 200thk&l executive management and business develogpositions with Ladbrokes USA a
Ladbrokes South America. In 2001, Mr. Anakar bec#meemanaging partner of LCIN LLC and LCIN S.A.nJaiego and Buenos Aires ba
gaming companies, which were contracted by Grupde@oof Spain to oversee the development of all temlhinology gaming projects ¢
operations in Latin America. He received his BAManagement Science from Duke University and CHAdaspitality Management from t
Conrad Hilton College at the University of Houston.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee whose member&taven Jenkins, Nolean Anakar and Luke Lirot. Mr. Jenkins, Mr. Analet
Mr. Lirot are independent Directors. The primarygmse of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Camg[s financial reporting process
behalf of the Board of Directors. The Audit Commétmeets privately with our Chief Financial Offigard with our independent registe
public accounting firm and evaluates the respobgebe Chief Financial Officer both to the factegented and to the judgments made b
outside independent registered public accountimy. fOur Audit Committee has reviewed and discusaedaudited financial statements for
year ended September 30, 2011 with our manage@taven L. Jenkins serves as the Audit Comn’s Financial Expert.
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In May 2000, our Board adopted a Charter for thaif@Committee. A copy of the Audit Committee Charteas attached to our Prc
Statement as Exhibit “Afiled with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comioissn July 21, 2008. The Charter establishesrilependenc
of our Audit Committee and sets forth the scopéefAudit Committee's duties. The Purpose of thditGommittee is to conduct continu
oversight of our financial affairs. The Audit Conttaee conducts an ongoing review of our financipbrés and other financial information pi
to their being filed with the Securities and ExaparCommission, or otherwise provided to the pulilite Audit Committee also reviews
systems, methods and procedures of internal cenirolthe areas of: financial reporting, auditsaswey operations, corporate finar
managerial, financial and SEC accounting, compganith law, and ethical conduct. A majority of tmembers of the Audit Committee will
independent. The Audit Committee is objective, emdews and assesses the work of our independgisteeed public accounting firm and
internal audit department.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed theaemattequired by SAS 61 and our audited financitestents for the fiscal year en
September 30, 2011 with management and our indepémdgistered public accounting firm. The Auditn@uittee has received the writ
disclosures and the letter from our independenisteggd public accounting firm required by Indepemee Standards Board No. 1, and
Audit Committee has discussed with the independegistered public accounting firm the independeistered public accounting firr
independence. The Audit Committee recommendededtiard of Directors that the Company's auditedrfaial statements for the fiscal y
September 30, 2011 be included in our Annual Repofform 10-K for the fiscal year ended Septemie2811.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The Company has a Nominating Committee whose mesrdrer Steven Jenkins, NoDean Anakar and Luke Lirot. In July 2004, the B«
unanimously adopted a Charter with regard to thecess to be used for identifying and evaluating iness for director. The Char
establishes the independence of our Nominating Gteenand sets forth the scope of the Nominatingh@dtee's duties. A majority of t
members of the Nominating Committee will be indegent. A copy of the Nominating Committee’s Chaxtan be found on the Company’
website at www.ricks.com

COMPENSATION COMMITEE

The Company has a Compensation Committee whose everabe Steven Jenkins, NdDean Anakar and Luke Lirot. Decisions concer
executive officer compensation for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2011 were made by the Commen€ammittee. Eric S. Langan ¢
Travis Reese are the only directors of the Compamy are also officers of the Company. The primarmppse of the Compensation Commi
is to evaluate and review the compensation of dkexofficers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of418fjuires our directors and executive officersl parsons who own beneficially more t
ten percent of our common stock, to file report®whership and changes of ownership with the Stesirand Exchange Commission. Be
solely on the reports we have received and onewritepresentations from certain reporting persaespelieve that the directors, execu

officers, and greater than ten percent beneficiahars have complied with all applicable filing régments during the fiscal year en
September 30, 2011.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindfx@cutive and Senior Financial Officers, whichttmehed as Exhibit 14 to this Form 10-K.
ltem 11. Executive Compensation.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This compensation discussion and analysis descthmsnaterial elements of the Compangompensation programs as they relate tc
executive officers who are listed in the compemnsatiables appearing below. This compensation désonsand analysis focuses on
information contained in the following tables amdiated footnotes. The individuals who served asGbmpanys Chief Executive Officer al

Chief Financial Officer during fiscal 2011, as wa#l the other individuals included in the Summaoyn@ensation Table, are referred to a:
“named executive officers.”
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Overview of Compensation Committee Role and Re#jilities

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directaversees our compensation plans and policiegwsvand approves all decisit
concerning the named executive officecempensation, which may further be approved byBberd, and administers our stock option
equity plans, including reviewing and approvingcgtmption grants and equity awards under the pldihe Compensation Committee’
membership is determined by the Board and is coetpestirely of independent directors.

Management plays a role in the compensation-sefirogess. The most significant aspects of managemesle are to evaluate emplo
performance and recommend salary levels and eqaitypensation awards. Our Chief Executive Officeemfmakes recommendations to
Compensation Committee and the Board concerningoeosation for other executive officers. Our Chigé€&utive Officer is a member of
Board but does not participate in Board decisi@marding any aspect of his own compensation. Thepeosation Committee can ref
independent advisors or consultants.

Compensation Committee Process

The Compensation Committee reviews executive cosgi@m in connection with the evaluation and appl@f an employment agreement
increase in responsibilities or other factors. Wehpect to equity compensation awarded to othg@l®rees, the Compensation Committe
the Board grants stock options, often after reogiva recommendation from our Chief Executive Offidghe Compensation Committee ¢
evaluates proposals for incentive and performangoéyeawards, and other compensation.

Compensation Philosophy

The Compensation Committee emphasizes the impditdnbetween the Compars/performance, which ultimately affects stockholdaliue
and the compensation of its executives. Therefibre,primary goal of the Comparsyexecutive compensation policy is to try to alibe
interests of the executive officers with the inggseof the stockholders. In order to achieve thloalgthe Company attempts to, (i) o
compensation opportunities that attract and rezagcutives whose abilities and skills are crittwathe longterm success of the Company
reward them for their efforts in ensuring the swscef the Company, (ii) align the Company’s compéina programs with the Compasy’
long-term business strategies and objectives, gifigovide variable compensation opportunitiegttlare directly linked to the Company’
performance and stockholder value, including aritgcgiake in the Company. Our named executive efficcompensation utilizes two prime
components — base salary and long-term equity cosgi®n —to achieve these goals. Additionally, the ComptosaCommittee me
award discretionary bonuses to certain executivesed) on the individual’s contribution to the ackieent of the Company’ strategi
objectives.

Setting Executive Compensation

We fix executive base compensation at a level wievs=enables us to hire and retain individuala icompetitive environment and to rew
satisfactory individual performance and a satisfigctievel of contribution to our overall businessats. We also take into account
compensation that is paid by companies that weebelto be our competitors and by other companidls which we believe we genere
compete for executives.

In establishing compensation packages for execuifieers, numerous factors are considered, inagdhe particular executive'experienc:
expertise and performance, our compargverall performance and compensation packageksblesin the marketplace for similar positions
arriving at amounts for each component of compémsadbur Compensation Committee strives to strikeappropriate balance between |
compensation and incentive compensation. The Coggtien Committee also endeavors to properly allodmtween cash and noast
compensation and between annual and long-term cwsagien.

The Role of Shareholder Say-on-Pay Votes

At our annual meeting of shareholders held on Audés 2011, approximately 97.0% of the shareholdens voted on the “say-on-pay”
proposal approved the compensation of our namecduéixe officers, as disclosed in the proxy statetnéithough this advisory sharehol
vote on executive compensation is riwneding, the Compensation Committee will considee butcome of the vote when making fu
compensation decisions for named executive officers

Base Salan

The Company provides executive officers and otihgpleyees with base salary to compensate them faices rendered during the fiscal yt
Subject to the provisions contained in employmagreements with executive officers concerning badarg amounts, base salaries of
executive officers are established based upon cosapien data of comparable companies in our matketexecutives job responsibilitie
level of experience, individual performance andtdbntion to the business. We believe it is impottéor the Company to provide adeqt
fixed compensation to highly qualified executivasour competitive industry. In making base salaggisions, the Compensation Commi
uses its discretion and judgment based upon pdr&apavledge of industry practice but does not apgoly specific formula to determine
base salaries for the executive officers.
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Equity-Based Awards—Equity Compensation Plans

The Compensation Committee uses equity awards]lysoahe form of stock options, primarily to matite our named executive officers
realize benefits from longderm strategies that increase stockholder valug t@ampromote commitment and retention. Equity awarelst upo
the achievement of performance criteria that them@any believes are critical to its long-term susces

The Compensation Committee believes that stocloogtare an important form of logkm incentive compensation because they alig
executive officers interests with the interests of stockholders;esttie options have value only if our stock priteréases over time. From ti
to time, the Compensation Committee may consideugistances that warrant the grant of full valuetals such as restricted stock ul
Examples of these circumstances include, amongsthtiracting a new executive to the team; recggia promotion to the executive tei
retention; and rewarding outstanding long-term @bations.

Our equity grant practices require that stock opgtiand other equity compensation have prices datedrbased on at least the fair ma
value on the date of grant. The fair market vali®ur stock option awards has historically beesn RASDAQ closing price on the date
grant.

Retirement Savings Pl:

The Company maintains a retirement savings plath®tbenefit of our executives and employees. Quip® IRA Plan is intended to qual
as a defined contribution arrangement under therhat Revenue Code ( the “CodeParticipants may elect to defer a percentage df
eligible pretax earnings each year or contribufix@d amount per pay period up to the maximum débation permitted by the Code. ,
participants’ plan accounts are 100% vested dtraéls. All assets of our Simple IRA Plan are cutlseimvested, subject to participadirectec
elections, in a variety of mutual funds chosen frome to time by the Plan Administrator. Distritari of a participang vested intere
generally occurs upon termination of employmentluding by reason of retirement, death or disgbil¥ve make certain matchi
contributions to the Simple IRA Plan.

Perquisites and Other Personal Bene

The Company’s executive officers participate in @@mpany$ other benefit plans on the same terms as othplogees. These plans inclt
medical, dental, life and disability insurance. ddaltion benefits also are reimbursed and are iddally negotiated when they occur. °
Company reimburses each executive officer foreksonable business and other expenses incurréebimyih connection with the performa
of their duties and obligations under their emplepmagreements. The Company does not provide nawredutive officers with ar
significant perquisites or other personal benefitsept for an auto for each executive’s business us

The following table reflects all forms of comperisatfor services to us for the fiscal years endept@mber 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 of ce
executive officers.

Summary Compensation Table

Non-
Equity Nonqualified
Incentive Deferred
Name and Stock Option Plan Compensatio All other
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensatio Earnings compensatio Total
Position Year $) $) $) $) $) (%) (%) %)
@ (b) (© (d O] ® @ ()] ® @
Eric S. 2011 600,00( -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 11,49: 611,49:
Langan, 2010 600,00( -0- -0- 86,14¢(1) 0 -0- 11,51 697,65¢
President/CEC 2009 623,07" -0- -0- 2,44¢(1) 0 -0- 11,637 637,16(
Phillip 2011 204,61} 30,00((4) -0- -0- 0 -0- 3,261 237,87t
Marshall, CFC 2010 200,00( 10,00((4) -0- 11,11¢(2) 0 -0- 5,27¢ 226,39:
2009 189,42! 20,00((4) -0- 47,2742) 0 -0- 2,441 259,13
Travis Reese 2011 200,00( -0- -0- -0- -0- 0 5,76¢ 205,76¢
Executive Vice Presidel 2010 197,26( -0- -0- 13,895(3) -0- -0- 5,78¢ 216,94
2009 194,20:- -0- -0- 2,44¢€(3) -0- -0- 5,75z 202,40:
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1 Mr. Langan received 5,000 options to purchaseeshof our common stock at an exercise price gfb8s Director compensation in
August 2007. Mr. Langan received 5,000 optionsuicipase shares of our common stock at an exendseqf $8.75 in July 2009. Mr.
Langan also received 155,000 options to purchasestof our common stock at an exercise price 8f2Z8lon September 30, 2010. Th

are not amounts paid to or realized by the exeeutidssumptions used in the calculation of thesepmensation costs are included in Note

| to the Compan's audited financial statements included in thigaf-K.
2 Mr. Marshall received 20,000 options to purchsts&res of our common stock at an exercise pri@®di0 as a performance bonus in
August 2007. Mr. Marshall received 20,000 optiamptairchase shares of our common stock at an ergydie of $10.25 on September

30, 2010. These are not amounts paid to or rehbyehe executive. Assumptions used in the ¢aticun of these compensation costs are

included in Note | to the Compa’s audited financial statements included in thisa&f-K.

3 Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase sbéms common stock at an exercise price of $ag@irector compensation in Augt
2007. Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchhaees of our common stock at an exercise prid8af in July 2009. Mr. Reese also
received 25,000 options to purchase shares of@unmon stock at an exercise price of $10.25 on Sdpte 30, 2010. These are not
amounts paid to or realized by the executive. uAgstions used in the calculation of these compé@nsabsts are included in Note | to the
Compan’s audited financial statements included in thistaf-K.

4 Mr. Marshall received a bonus of $30,000 in 20110,800 in 2010 and $20,000 in 2009 for outstangeiormance

2010 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table sets forth information regamlithe 2010 annual option incentive programs anfbpeance-based awards. No nequity
incentive plan awards were made in 2011 for officer

Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity
Incentive Plan Award

Threshold Maximum

Grant Date #(1) Target #(1) #(1)
Eric Langar 9/30/201C 155,00( 155,00( 155,00(
Phillip Marshall 9/30/201C 20,00( 20,00( 20,00(
Travis Rees: 9/30/201C 25,00( 25,00( 25,00(

(1) The stock option awards described in this thare granted pursuant to the Compan3010 Stock Option Plan. In this case, the ni
executives were not required to reach any spep#iormance level to receive these awards. RatherCompensation Committee grar
these awards to reward overall outstanding perfooa®f the named executives during fiscal year 2010
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan
Plan Awards:
Awards:  Market ol
Equity Number Payout
Incentive of Value of
Plan Unearnec Unearne(
Number Awards: Number Market Shares, Shares,
of Number of of Share:  Value of Units or Units or
Number of Securities Securities or Units Shares o Other Other
Securities Underlying Underlying of Stock Units of Rights Rights
Underlying  Unexercised Unexercise Option that have Stock tha that have that have
Unexercise Options Unearned  Exercise Option not have not not not
Options (#) #) Options Price  Expiratior Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisabl (#) ($) Date (#) ($) ($) ($)
() (b) (c) (d) (e) (e) (9) (h) 0] (0)
Eric S. Langar 155,00( 0 0 10.25 9/30/201: 0 0 0 0
Phillip Marshall 20,00( 0 0 9.4C 8/24/201: 0 0 0 0
20,00( 0 0 10.25 9/30/201:
Travis Rees: 25,00( 0 0 10.25 9/30/201: 0 0 0 0
OPTION EXERCISES
One of the named executive officers exercised sbptions in 2011.
Option Awards
Number of
Shares
Acquired Value Realized
Name on Exercise on Exercise
Travis Rees: 5000 $ 14,41¢

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' fees,We pay the expenses of our directors in attendimard meetings. In August 2011,
issued 7,500 stock options to each Director whooisa member of management. These options becoareigable in August 2012, hav

strike price of $7.15 per share and expire in At@04.3.

Non-Equity  Nongqualified

Fees Earne Incentive Deferred
or Paidin  Stock Option Plan Compensatic  All Other
Cash Awards Awards Compensatic  Earnings Compensatic Total
Name ©)] (6] ©)] ©)] ©)] ©)] ©)]
(@) (b) (©) (d) (e) V) (9) (h)
Robert Watter: -0- -0- $ 1,76¢ -0- -0- -0- $ 1,76¢
Nourdean Anaka -0- -0- $ 1,76¢ -0- -0- -0- $ 1,76¢
Steve Jenkin -0- -0- $ 1,76¢ -0- -0- -0- $ 1,76¢
Luke Lirot -0- -0- $ 1,76¢ -0- -0- -0- $ 1,76¢




EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a two year employment agreement with Erita®gan. Mr. Langas’ Employment Agreement extends through April 1,2@thc
provides for an annual base salary of $600,000. IMngans Employment Agreement also provides for partiégquatn all benefit plar
maintained by us for salaried employees. Mr. Lahg&@mployment Agreement contains a confidentialityvision and an agreement by |
Langan not to compete with us upon the expirationi® Employment Agreement.

We also entered into a two year Employment Agre¢magth Phillip K. Marshall to serve as our Chiefnincial Officer. Mr. Marshal¢
Employment Agreement extends through May 30, 2@t®] provides for an annual base salary of $215,00@suant to Mr. Marsha#l’
Employment Agreement, Mr. Marshall is also eligitdeparticipate in all benefit plans maintainedusyfor salaried employees. Under the te
of his Employment Agreement, Mr. Marshall is bounda confidentiality provision and cannot compet¢hvus upon the expiration of |
Employment Agreement.

We also have a two-year employment agreement wiki3 Reese. Mr. ReeseEmployment Agreement extends through Februa2p12, an
provides for an annual base salary of $200,000. R&teses Employment Agreement also provides for partiégpatn all benefit plar
maintained by us for salaried employees. Mr. Ré&ebeund to a confidentiality provision and cancompete with us upon the expiration of
Employment Agreement.

We have not established long-term incentive plardefined benefit or actuarial plans.
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andimiety qualified personnel, we believe that oumfatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain qualifiegkgonnel. We pay wages and salaries that we badieveompetitive. We also believe that ec
ownership is an important factor in our ability dttract and retain skilled personnel. We have abgtock option plans (the “Plandgr
employees and directors. The purpose of the Ptatwsfurther the interests of the Company, our islidases and our stockholders by provic
incentives in the form of stock options to key eaygles and directors who contribute materially to success and profitability. The gre
recognize and reward outstanding individual perfamoes and contributions and will give such persarnsroprietary interest in us, tf
enhancing their personal interest in our continsiectess and progress. The Plans also assist usuasdbsidiaries in attracting and retair
key employees and directors. The Plans are admiadby the Board of Directors. The Board of Dioesthas the exclusive power to selec
participants in the Plans, to establish the terfrth@ options granted to each participant, provithed all options granted shall be granted :
exercise price equal to at least 85% of the fairketavalue of the common stock covered by the optia the grant date and to make
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Opti@m Pthe “1999 Plan™vith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusmler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Aiment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentifich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholdapproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amed”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1.5 million. ThedlPfn was terminated by law in July 2009. OurrBaz Directors approved the 2010 St
Option Plan on September 30, 2010. The 2010 P&mapproved by the shareholders of the Compargdioption at the 2011 Annual Meet
of Shareholders. As of September 30, 2011, thex®20,000 stock options outstanding.
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The following table sets forth all equity compeisatplans as of September 30, 2011:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
Number of issuance
securities to Weighted- under
be issued average equity
upon exercise compensatior
exercise of price of plans
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
and rights and rights column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrgl 52C $ 10.01 0

COMPENSATION POLICIES AND PRACTICES AS THEY RELATE TO RISK MANAGEMENT

We attempt to make our compensation programs disoery, balanced and focused on the long term. balieve goals and objectives of
compensation programs reflect a balanced mix ohtifadive and qualitative performance measuresvimdaexcessive weight on a sin
performance measure. Our approach to compensataiqes and policies applicable to employees amsutants is consistent with t
followed for its executives. Based on these faGtave believe that our compensation policies arattimes do not create risks that
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effeats.

Compensation Committee Report

We have reviewed and discussed with managemer@dhgensation Discussion and Analysis to be includetis Form 10K. Based on tt
reviews and discussions referred to above, we rewamd to the Board of Directors that the Compensdiiscussion and Analysis referrec

above be included in this report.

The foregoing has been furnished by the Compenms&amnmittee.

Steven L. Jenkins
Luke Lirot
Nour-Dean Anakar

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

The Compensation Committee is comprised of Megenskins, Lirot and Anakar. No interlocking relasbip exists between any membe
the Compensation Committee and any member of drgr adbmpany’s Board of Directors or compensatianroittee.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Mattet

The following table sets forth certain informatiahDecember 1, 2011, with respect to the benefwialership of shares of common ctocl
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficialbrenthan 5% of the outstanding shares of commarks{d) each of our directors, (iii) ea
of our executive officers and (iv) all of our exéea officers and directors as a group. Unless mits® indicated, each stockholder has
voting and investment power with respect to therehahown. As of December 1, 2011, there were @B0I7shares of common st
outstanding.

Number of Percent of
Name/Addres: shares Title of class Class (7

Eric S. Langan

10959 Cutten Road

Houston, Texas 770¢ 1,363,42/(1) Common stocl 13.81%
Phillip K. Marshall

10959 Cutten Road

Houston, Texas 770¢ 46,75%2) Common stocl 0.4&%
Robert L. Watter:

315 Bourbon Street

New Orleans, Louisiana 701. 32,50((3) Common stocl 0.3%%
Steven L. Jenkin

16815 Royal Crest Drive

Suite 160

Houston, Texas 770¢ 17,50((4) Common stocl 0.1&%
Travis Reese

10959 Cutten Road

Houston, Texas 770¢ 40,33((5) Common stocl 0.41%
Nour-dean Anakar

3978 Sorrento Valley Drive, #100

San Diego, California 9212 17,50((6) Common stocl 0.1&%
Luke Lirot

2240 Belleair Road, Suite 190

Clearwater, GL 3376 17,50((7) Common stocl 0.1&%
All of our Directors and Officers as a Group of ee\(7) person 1,535,51(8) Common stocl 15.3%%

E. S. Langan. L.F
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 770¢ 578,63. Common stocl 5.95%
(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investmentgr for 629,797 shares of common stock he owrectir. Mr. Langan has shared voting
and investment power for 578,632 shares that hesamdirectly through E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langsthe general partner of E. S.
Langan, L.P. This amount also includes optionsuieipase up to 155,000 shares of common stock tegtrasently exercisabl

(2) Includes 6,755 shares of common stock he ownsttliraed options to purchase up to 40,000 sharesmimon stock that ai
presently exercisabl

(3) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock he ownsttjirand options to purchase up to 17,500 sharesminon stock that a
presently exercisabl

(4) Includes options to purchase up to 17,500 sharesrafnon stock that are presently exercise

(5) Includes 15,330 shares of common stock he ownsttlirand options to purchase up to 25,000 sharesmimon stock that a
presently exercisabl

(6) Includes options to purchase up to 17,500 sharesrafnon stock that are presently exercise
(7) Includes options to purchase up to 17,500 sharesrafnon stock that are presently exercise

(8) These percentages exclude treasury shares inlthéaten of percentage of clas
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The Company is not aware of any arrangements thad cesult in a change in control of the Company.
The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of Reguta®eK is set forth in Item 5 herein.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains, and Director Independence.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thathusiness affairs will be conducted in all respdnt standards applicable to publicly t
corporations and that we will not enter into anjufe transactions and/or loans between us and ffigers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coeldltained from independent, third parties and @l approved by a majority of ¢
independent and disinterested directors. We ctiyrdmave three independent directors, Steven JsepkiourDean Anakar and Lul
Lirot. We know of no related transactions for ffears ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions

Currently, we rely on our Board of Directors toimwv related party transactions on an ongoing htasgevent conflicts of interest. Our Bo
of Directors reviews a transaction in light of giéiliations of the director, officer, or employe@d the affiliations of such perssnmmediat
family. Our Board of Directors will approve or figtia transaction if it determines that the tranigecis consistent with our best interests ant
best interests of our shareholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The following table sets forth the aggregate fesid pr accrued for professional services and tlggeggte fees paid or accrued for audittec

services and all other services rendered by Whilegn LLP for the audit of our annual financialtestaents for fiscal years 2011, 2010
2009.

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands
Audit fees $ 261 $ 26C $ 28¢
Audit-related fee! - - 23
Tax fees 67 65 61
All other fees - - -
Total $ 326 $ 328 3 375

The category of “Audit feesihcludes fees for our annual audit, quarterly rexgieand services rendered in connection with regoydilings
with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfortrietiad consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes enygle benefit plan audits, internal control reviewd accounting consultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.

All above audit services, audit-related services &@x services were papproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat the provisio

of such services by Whitley Penn LLP was compatiite the maintenance of that firmindependence in the conduct of its auditing fions

The Audit Committee’s outside auditor independepaiécy provides for pre-approval of all servicesfpemed by the outside auditors.
PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Exhibit 14 - Code of Ethics

Exhibit 21 - Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
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Exhibit 31.1 - Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. Corpavatrequired by Rule 13a-14(1) or Rule 15d
- 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adapted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2 - Certification of Chief Financial @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. Corparatrequired by Rule 13a-14(1) or Rule 15d -
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ayptetl pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Gxepf 2002.

Exhibit 32.1 - Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. Corpaatpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.

Exhibit 32.2 - Certification of Chief Financial @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. Corpawatpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionfl¢d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant hasedtthis report to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine December 14, 2011.

Rick's Cabaret International, Ir
/sl Eric S. Langal

By: Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal

By: Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aigt,report has been signed below by the followiegspns in the capacities anc
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Eric S. Langa
Eric S. Langar Director, Chief Executive Officer, and Presid December 14, 201

/s/ Travis Rees
Travis Rees:i Director and Executive Vice Preside December 14, 201

/s/ Robert L. Watter
Robert L. Watter: Director December 14, 201

/s/ Nou-Dean Anaka
Nour-Dean Anaka Director December 14, 201

/s/ Steven Jenkir
Steven Jenkin Director December 14, 201

/s/ Luke Lirot
Luke Lirot Director December 14, 201
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Exhibit 14
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior hancial Officers
I. Introduction and Purpose

This Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and i8efrinancial Officers (hereinafter referred toths “Code”)helps maintain Ricl
Cabaret International, Inc.’s (hereinafter refertedas the “Company”standards of business conduct and ensures comgliaith lega
requirements, specifically, but not limited to, e 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and $HEs promulgated thereunder.

In addition to securing compliance with legal requients, the purpose of the Code is to deter wrmingdand promote ethic
conduct, and full, fair, accurate, timely, and wstiendable disclosure of financial information Iive tperiodic reports of the Company.
matters covered in this Code are of the utmost itapee to the Company, our stockholders and ounbss partners, and are essential tc
ability to conduct our business in accordance withstated values.

Financial executives hold an important and elevatdel in corporate governance and are uniquely ldepand empowered to ens
that stockholders' interests are appropriatelyruadd, protected and preserved. Accordingly, trogeCprovides principles to which financ
executives are expected to adhere and advocais. Jddde embodies rules regarding individual andr pesponsibilities, as well
responsibilities to the company, the public anceoth
1. Application

This Code is applicable to the following persorerénafter referred to as the “Officers”):

1. The Compan’s principal executive officer:
2. The Compan’s principal financial officers
3. The Compan'’s principal accounting officer or controller; a
4. Persons performing similar functior
[11. Code of Ethics:

Each Officer shall adhere to and advocate thevatg principles and responsibilities governing gssfional and ethical conduct:

1. Act with honesty and integrity, avoiding actualagparent conflicts of interest in personal and gssional relationship




2. Provide information that is full, fair, acate, complete, objective, relevant, timely, andenstandable to the Company’s Board of
Directors, the Securities and Exchange CommissimnCompan’s stockholders, and the publ

3. Comply with applicable governmental laws, ruleg] aggulations

4. Actin good faith, responsibly, with due €acompetence and diligence, without misrepresgmtiaterial facts or allowing your
independent judgment to be subordina

5. Take all reasonable measures to proteatdhidentiality of non-public information about tl®mpany acquired in the course of your
work except when authorized or otherwise legallljgatbed to disclose such information and to notswseh confidential information

for personal advantag

6. Assure responsible use of and control over alltags®l resources employed or entrusted to
7. Promptly report to the Chairman of the Audit Comeet

a. any information you may have regarding any violatid this Code

b. any actual or apparent conflict of interest betwpersonal and/or professional relationships inv@vinanagement or ai
other employee with a role in financial reportingalosures or internal control

c. any information you might have concerning evideofa material violation of the securities or othass, rules or regulatior
applicable to the Company and its operatic

d. significant deficiencies in the design oergdion of internal controls that could adversdfeet the Company’s ability to
record, process, summarize or report financial;dat

e. any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanaggement or other employees who have a significéain the Company
financial reporting, disclosures or internal cofgr

IV. Reporting Procedure, Process and Accountability

As discussed above, Officers shall promptly repast violation of this Code to the Chairman of thentpany’s Audit Committee.




Reports of violations under this Code received bg Chairman of the Audit Committee shall be ingztiéd by the Auc
Committee. If the Audit Committee finds a violatiof this Code, it shall refer the matter to thit Bwoard of Directors.

In the event of a finding that a violation of tii®de has occurred, appropriate action shall benttiet is reasonably designed to d
wrongdoing and to promote accountability for adheeeto this Code, and may include written noticeghte individual involved of tt
determination that there has been a violation, wenby the Board, demotion or assignment of the individual involved, suspensiatnar
without pay or benefits, and up to and includirfgappropriate, termination of the individual's emphent. In determining what action
appropriate in a particular case, the Board of @as (or the independent directors of the Boarthasase may be) shall take into accoul
relevant information, including the nature and siyef the violation, whether the violation wassengle occurrence or repeated occurret
whether the violation appears to have been inteatior inadvertent, whether the individuals in disshad been advised prior to the viola
as to the proper course of action and whether ptheoindividual in question had committed otheslations in the past.

V. Anonymous Reporting

Any violation of this Code and any violation by t8@@mpany or its directors or officers of the setwesilaws, rules, or regulations,
other laws, rules, or regulations applicable toGlenpany may be reported to the Chairman of theitATmimmittee anonymously.

VI. No Retaliation

It is against the Company’s policy to retaliateaity way against an Officer for good faith reportafgiolations of this Code.
VII. Waiver and Amendment

The Company is committed to continuously reviewargl updating its policies and procedures. Theeefthis Code is subject
modification. Any amendment or waiver of any psion of this Code must be approved in writing by @ompanys Board of Directors al
promptly disclosed pursuant to applicable laws eaglilations.
VIIl.  Acknowledgment Of Receipt Of Code Of Ethics For Principal Executive And Senior Financial Officers

| have received and read the Company's Code ofc&thur Principal Executive and Senior Financial i€ffs (the “Code”).l

understand the standards and policies containgtkiCode and understand that there may be addifiotiaies or laws applicable to my job
agree to comply with the Code in all respects.




If I have questions concerning the meaning or apfibn of the Code, any Company policies, or tlgall@and regulatory requireme
applicable to my job, | know that | can consulttwthe Chairman of the Audit Committee, knowing thmat questions or reports will rem:
confidential to the fullest extent possible.

I understand that my agreement to comply with @osle does not constitute a contract of employment.

Officer Name

Signature

Date

Please sign and return this form to the Companiaii@an of the Audit Committee.




Exhibit 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name State of Organizatio
12291 CBW, LLC Texas
Adult Store Buyer Magazine LL Georgia
Bobby's Novelty, Inc Texas
Broadstreets Cabaret, Ir Texas
Cabaret North Parking, In Texas
Citation Land LLC Texas
ED Publications, Inc Texas
Global Marketing Agency, Inc Texas
HD Texas Management, LL Texas
Hotel Development Texas, Lt Texas
lllusions Dallas Private Club, LL! Texas
Joint Ventures, Inc Texas
Miami Gardens Square One, It Florida
New Spiros, LLC Texas
North IH 35 Investments, In Texas
Peregrine Enterprises, i New York
Playmates Gentlem’s Club LLC Texas
PNC Marketing, Inc Texas
RCI Billing, Inc. Texas
RCI Dating Services, In Texas
RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway), Ir Texas
Rci Dining Services Charloti North Caroling
RCI Debit Services, Inc Texas
RCI Dining Services DFW, In¢ Texas
RCI Dining Services Indiana, In Indiana
RCI Dining Services (Inwood), Ini Texas
RCI Dining Services MN (h Street), Inc Minnesots
RCI Dining Services (Round Rock), Ir Texas
RCI Dining Services (Stemmons), It Texas
RCI Dining Services (Stemmons 2), li Texas
RCI Dining Services (Superior Parkway), i Texas
RCI Dining Services (Tarrant County), Ir Texas
RCI (New) Entertainment Fort Worth, Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (310%-35), Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment (3315 N. Freeway FW), | Texas
RCI Entertainment (Austin), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Dallas), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Fort Worth), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), It Nevads
RCI Entertainment (Media Holdings), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Ir Minnesots
RCI Entertainment MN (300 South'd Street), Inc Minnesots
RCI Entertainment (New York), In New York
RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Ir North Caroling
RCI Entertainment (North Fort Worth), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (Northwest Highway), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (Philadelphia), Ir Philadelphie
RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (Texas), In Texas
RCI Holdings, Inc Texas
RCI Internet Holding, Inc Texas
RCI Internet Services, In Texas
RCI Leasing LLC Texas
RCI Management Services, Ir Texas
RCI Wireway, Inc. Texas
Spiros Partners Ltc Texas
SRD Vending Compan Texas
Stellar Management, In Florida
StorErotica Magazine, In Texas
Tantra Dance, Inc Texas
Tantra Parking, Inc Texas
Teeze International, In Delaware
Texas S&l, Inc Texas

TEZ Management, LL( Pennsylvanii



TEZ Real Estate L|

The End Zone, Inc

Top Shelf Entertainment LL
Trumps Inc.

TT Leasing, Inc

W.K.C., Inc.

XTC Cabaret, Inc

XTC Cabaret (Dallas), In

Pennsylvanii
Pennsylvanii
North Caroling
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer of RiskCabaret International, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdit&de a material fact necessan
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts.under which such statements were made, ntadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amndtf@ periods presented in this rep

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under n
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhbsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isg prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over finahcgporting, or caused such internal control direncial reporting to be designed
under my supervision, to provide reasonable asseresyarding the reliability of financial reportingd the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princjj

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period covgrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsdanternal control over financial reporting tlwacurred during th
registrant's most recent fiscal year that has naditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyadffect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer antlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's independent regestgublic accounting firm and the audit committééhe registrant's board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functiol

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatotves management or other employees who havendisant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt

Date: December 14, 2011 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal

Eric S. Langar
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Phillip K. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer arférincipal Accounting Officer of Rick’s Cabaret énhational, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdit&de a material fact necessan
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts.under which such statements were made, ntadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amndtf@ periods presented in this rep

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under n
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhbsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isg prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over finahcgporting, or caused such internal control direncial reporting to be designed
under my supervision, to provide reasonable asseresyarding the reliability of financial reportingd the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princjj

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period covgrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsdanternal control over financial reporting tlwacurred during th
registrant's most recent fiscal year that has naditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyadffect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer antlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's independent regestgublic accounting firm and the audit committééhe registrant's board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functiol

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatotves management or other employees who havendisant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt

Date: December 14, 2011 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshall

Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Offic




Exhibit 32.]

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick’s Cadtdnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormHK@er the year ended September
30, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"), i¢ Bt Langan, Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Se®135 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of
operations of the Compan

Date: December 14, 2011 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal

Eric S. Langar
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 32.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick’s Cadtdnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormHK@er the year ended September
30, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"), llliBiK. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer
and Principal Accounting Officer of the Companwitife, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350, as adoptedyant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of
operations of the Compan

Date: December 14, 20: By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshal

Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Offic




